

A History of the City of Scarborough:

An Annotated Bibliography



SCARBOROUGH PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD

Acknowledgements

This project was made possible by the generous financial support of the Federal Ministry of Employment and Immigration's Summer Canada Student Employment Program (1982) and the Federal Ministry of Employment and Immigration's Summer Canada Program Grant (1983). These programs gave four students the opportunity to acquire the research skills needed to compile this bibliography.

The researchers, Lori Hennigar, Marilyn Manserra, Vivian Snead and Sherri Somerville, deserve a special commendation for their efforts in obtaining the information for inclusion in the bibliography. Many hours were spent in various institutions in Metropolitan Toronto.

We wish to extend our gratitude to Mr. Richard Schofield, the Archivist of the City of Scarborough's Board of Education Archives and a long standing officer of the Scarborough Historical Society. His knowledge of the history of Scarborough and its sources was an indispensable contribution to this bibliography.

We also wish to thank staff, at the libraries, archives, and churches that were visited by the researchers, for their support and assistance.

Introduction

This bibliography was created for all who are interested in the past, present, and future of Scarborough. To our knowledge it is the most comprehensive list of sources compiled to date. Although every effort was made to locate materials relating to Scarborough, we cannot claim the list is absolutely complete.

The types of materials listed in the bibliography include monographs, periodicals, periodical articles, newsletters, newspapers, maps, atlases, dissertations, manuscripts, and unpublished materials. Each source is annotated to assist researchers in determining whether it is appropriate for their needs. Most entries include a location code to aid in research. Only one location is given for each source, although other collections may also own the material.

The researcher should be aware that some locations were identified as early as 1982 and changes in the institutions' holdings may have occurred since then. Librarians will be pleased to assist you in finding the items listed herein.

Location Codes

ACA	Anglican Church Archives
OTAT	Archives of Ontario
OTER	Ontario Institute for Studies in Education
OTSBA	Scarborough Board of Education Archives
OTRS	Richard Schofield Collection
OTSP	Scarborough Public Library
OTU	University of Toronto
PCA	Presbyterian Church Archives
UCA	United Church Archives

Addresses

Anglican Church of Canada, General Synod Archives, 600 Jarvis St., Toronto, Ont., M4Y 2J6 924-9129 Ext. 291

Archives of Ontario, 77 Grenville St., Toronto, Ont., M7A 2R9 965-4039

Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, Library, 252 Bloor St. W., Toronto, Ont., M5S 1V6 923-6641 Ext. 207

Scarborough Board of Education, A.B. Patterson Professional Library, 140 Borough Dr., Level 2, Scarborough, Ont., M1P 4N6 296-7515/6

Scarborough Archives & Historical Collection, (Richard Schofield Collection), 730 Scarborough Golf Club Rd., Scarborough, Ont., M1G 1H7 438-1960

Scarborough Public Library Cedarbrae District Library, 545 Markham Rd., Scarborough, Ont., M1H 2A1 396-8850

University of Toronto Archives, Thomas Fisher Library, 120 St. George St., Toronto, Ont., M5S 1A5 978-2277

Presbyterian Church Archives, 59 St. George St., Toronto, Ont., M5S 2E6 595-1277

United Church Archives, Victoria University, 73 Queen's Park Cres. E., Toronto, Ont., M5S 1K7 585-4563

How to Use the Bibliography

Arrangement

The bibliography is arranged alphabetically by author within each subject. If the source contains information on more than one topic, it is entered under the subject of major emphasis. The following information was included in each entry, whenever possible.

I SOURCE

(A) MONOGRAPHS

A full bibliographic citation, the author, title, publisher, publication place and publication date.

(B) MATERIALS OTHER THAN BOOKS

The citation may give the author, article title, journal title, date of publication, publisher, pagination.

(C) UNPUBLISHED AND PUBLISHED MANUSCRIPTS

The citation contains as much information as was available.

II ANNOTATION

An annotation providing a brief description of the entry is included.

III LOCATION

A location code where the material can be seen is included.

Abbreviations used

n.p. no publication place; no publisher given

n.d. no publication date given

n.a. no author information

Table of Contents

•	Page
General	1
Biography	1 11
Social History	25
Pioneer Life	27
Social Services	29
Sports and Recreation	31
Politics and Government	33
Community Histories	38
Religion	. 43
Anglican	45
Presbyterian	52
Roman Catholic	58
United	61
Education	
Primary and Secondary	68
Post Secondary	82
Architecture	85
Economic History	96
Agricultural	97
Industrial	98
Transportation and Communication	
Public Transportation	100
Roads	103
Medical & Health Services	107
Physical Geography	110

Table of Contents Cont'd

	Page
Military	117
Archaeology	118
Historic Sites	120
Cultural History	122
Literature	124
Libraries	127
Neighbouring Communities	138
Maps	
General	142
Aerial	149
Economic	151
Education	153
Landowners	154
Population	156
Religion	158
Street Index	159
Surveys	164
Tourism	165
Transportation	169
Indexes and Bibliography	174

General

1. Baily, Brian D. A History of the Toronto Waterfront from Etobicoke to Pickering. Prepared for the Waterfront Division of the Metropolitan Toronto and Region Conservation Authority, Toronto: n.p., 1973.

This booklet contains a brief history of the waterfront area from its beginning in 7000 B.C. up to the 1950's. There are a number of references to Scarborough including transportation, vegetation and shipbuilding (pages 10, 14-15, 21, 23, 27, 28, 33). The origin of the names of Highland Creek, the Rouge River and Duffin Creek are discussed on pages 45-46. On pages 52-53, it is recommended that a plaque be placed at Highland Creek and the Rouge River.

O.T.S.P.

2. Bonis, Robert Raynes. A History of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Public Library, 1965.

A complete overview of Scarborough's history from the township's birth to 1965. Bonis covers all aspects of Scarborough's past, supplying political, economical, social, religious, educational and biographical information.

O.T.S.P.

3. Bonis, Robert Raynes. A History of Scarborough. Revised and Enlarged. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Public Library, 1968.

A revised edition of Bonis' A History of Scarborough. A final chapter entitled "The Metropolitan Borough" is added. A number of pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

4. Bonis, Robert Raynes. An Abridged History of the Township of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Public Library, 1964.

This booklet covers the history of Scarborough beginning in 1656. The author refers to such topics as: Scarborough before the White Settlers; farms and homes of rural Scarborough; churches in the area; development from 1896-1962, schools of early Scarborough; and roads in old Scarborough.

5. Borough of Scarborough: A Municipal Handbook Published by The Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough, 1967.

This booklet provides general information on Scarborough, its history, services and government. It contains a number of colour pictures.

O.T.S.P.

6. Borough of Scarborough: A Municipal Handbook Published by the Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough, 1970.

This booklet provides general information on Scarborough, its history, services, government and its projected future. A number of photographs and a map illustrate the location of Scarborough's government offices.

O.T.S.P.

7. Boyle, David., ed. The Township of Scarboro 1796-1896. Toronto: William Briggs, 1986.

This book provides information on many aspects of life in Scarborough between the years 1796-1896. Subjects that are covered by the author are: geology, early settlements, domestic and farm life, transportation, government, churches, schools, libraries, professionals, leisure activities, post offices and military activities. Pictures and an index are included.

O.T.S.P.

8. Boyle, David and Carwen. "19 Century News". Markham Economist and Sun. 30 October 1942.

This history of Scarborough includes a list of relevant dates and events from 1787-1896, including the arrival of various settlers (Thomson, Cornell, Brown, Walton etc...) population, the building of the first brickhouse, the establishment of businesses, schools, and the founding of the militia.

O.M.A.

9. Brown, William. America: A Four Years Residence in the United States and Canada; Giving a Full and Fair Description of the Country, as it really is, with the Manners, Customs and Character of the Inhabitants; Anecdotes of Persons and Institutions, Prices of Land and Produce, State of Agriculture and Manufactures. Leeds: by the author, 1849.

An account of Brown's travels in North America. His stay in Scarborough is mentioned on pages 77 and 82. On pages 82-86, Scarborough's game fish and agriculture are discussed. On page 86, a Scarborough man John Tingle is mentioned.

O.T.U.

10. (Carroll, John.) "1848." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 2 (May 1978): page 9.

Description of Scarborough written by "the chronicler of early Methodism in the province, who was on his way to preach at a Missionary Meeting." Reprint from Christian Guardian 23 February 1848.

O.T.S.P.

11. Conant, Thomas. Upper Canada Sketches. Toronto: William Briggs, 1898.

This book explores life in Upper Canada during its initial settlement. Emphasis is placed on the Conant family who settled in the Oshawa area. Scarborough references include: Kingston Road (pp. 43-44), Scarborough Heights (pp. 49 and 155), and David Annis (a picture included) (p. 52).

O.T.M.C.L.

12. Doan, V.G. "The History of Scarborough". Scarborough, Ontario, 1960. (Typewritten).

This incomplete manuscript includes sections on early settlers, industry, recreation, agriculture, churches, schools, transportation, government, and libraries. Also included are a number of brief biographical sketches of pioneers of Scarborough.

O.T.R.S.

Farewell, J.E. County of Ontario: Short Notes as to the Early Settlement and Progress of the County and Brief Reference to the Pioneers and Some Ontario County Men Who Have Taken a Prominent Part in Provincial and Dominion Affairs. Whitby: Gazette-Chronicle Press, 1907; reprint ed., Belleville, Ontario: Mika Publishing, 1973.

This book provides a short history of various townships in the County of Ontario. Transportation along the Rouge River is mentioned on page 3. The Scarborough Bluffs and Rouge River are referred to under the heading "Geological Features" on page 9. There is a reference on page 11 to the French, Indian and English names for the Rouge River. The Annis family of Scarborough is mentioned on page 21.

O.T.S.P.

14. Firth, Edith G., ed. The Town of York: A Collection of Documents of Early Toronto. 2 Vols: Toronto: The Champlain Society for the Government of Ontario University of Toronto Press, 1962-1966.

This work includes the history of York with several brief references to Scarborough.

In Vol. One: Scarborough land, population, and military are mentioned. On page 214, there is an excerpt from Mrs. Simcoe's diary describing the Scarborough Bluffs.

In Vol. Two: On page 221, a Scarborough church is referred to by Rev. W. Boulton.

O.T.S.P.

15. Garvin, Amelia Beers (Warnock). Toronto: Romance of a Great City by Katherine Hale pseud. Toronto: Cassell, (1956).

A history of Toronto. There are a number of references to Scarborough. On pages 13, 15, and 17, the Rouge River is mentioned briefly. Pages 39 and 142, mention the Scarborough Bluffs. On page 167, there is a reference to the Golden Mile. The Toronto Hunt Club is discussed on page 183.

O.T.S.P.

16. Gilbank, R. "History of Scarborough". Scarborough, Ontario, 1963.

This incomplete manuscript includes a section on the Walten farm which was located at Victoria Park and Ellesmere. Also included are a description of pioneer lifestyles and a chronological history of Scarborough.

O.T.R.S.

17. Greenwald, Michelle. The Historical Complexities of Pickering-Markham-Scarborough-Uxbridge; Or a History of the Area To Be Developed Under the Auspices of the North Pickering Community Development Project with Digressions on Related Topics such As Pioneer Farming and Old Houses; the Whole Sometimes Known As the Settlement History Report. Toronto: North Pickering Project, 1973.

A short description of the northeast corner of Scarborough pages 58-60, provides information on settlement patterns and specific Scarborough families (i.e. Reesor, Sewell, Milne and Clarke.)

O.T.S.P.

18. Guillet, Edwin. Pioneer Life in the County of York. Toronto: Hess-Trade, 1946.

This work is a general history of York County. There are a number of references to Scarborough. The Rouge is mentioned on pages 53, 127, and 130. Early settlers such as the Thomsons, Reesors and Tingles are referred to on pages 56, 58 and 66. On pages 66, 69, 77 and 83, industry and agriculture are mentioned briefly. Pictures of Scarborough schools and a picture of Alexander Muir appear on page 87. Scarborough's library is briefly discussed on page 89. On pages 40 and 120, pictures from Boyle's works appear.

O.T.U.

19. Guillet, Edwin Clarence. Early Life in Upper Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1933.

The author has drawn from contemporary letters, diaries, newspapers and periodicals to write an interesting account of life in those early days. Topics relevant to Scarborough include Mrs. Simcoe's visit (p. 90), sports (pp. 363 and 364), politics (pp. 656 and 680), and transportation.

O.T.S.P.

20. Higginson, Thomas Boyd. Scarborough Fair, part II. Scarborough, Ontario: C.I. PRESS, 1979.

A brief history of Scarborough from 1796-1910 is included. The work mentions a pre-historic band of Indians in Scarborough in 7000 B.C. The author concentrates on the people living in the area, including Dr. R.D. Hamilton, Rev. J. George, John Muir, and Rev. Darling. There is a short discussion of sports on page 4.

21. History of Toronto and County of York, Ontario; Containing an Outline of the Dominion of Canada; A History of the City of Toronto and the County of York, with the Townships, Towns, Villages, Churches, Schools, General and Local statistics, Biographical Sketches, etc. 2 Vols: Toronto: C. Blackett Robinson, 1885.

These books examine the history of the County of York. There are a number of references to Scarborough. Pages 16 and 17, explore the population of the county in 1799 and the previous names for the Scarborough area. Pages 24 and 26, mention the inclusion of Scarborough into the County of York and the East Riding. On pages 56-62, there are a number of charts significant to the Scarborough area. On pages 69-71, there are references to education in Scarborough. In volume 2, on pages 269-282, there are various biographical sketches of Scarborough inhabitants. Pictures of John Heron and George Taylor appear on pages 271 and 277.

O.T.S.P.

22. Middleton, Jesse Edgar. Toronto's 100 Years. Toronto: The Centennial Committee, 1934.

This work is a history of Toronto from 1834-1934. On page 7, the author mentions that David Thomson of Scarborough laid the bricks for the parliament buildings. A quote from Thomson's diary is included. On page 118, there is a reference to curling in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

23. Mitchell, John. The Settlement of York County... (Toronto): Municipal Corporation of the County of York, (1952).

This work is a discussion of the settlement patterns in York County from 1852-1890. Several general Scarborough references that are included are, Scarborough settlements (p. 24), Kennedy farm (p. 48), Kingston Road (p. 57), the Rouge River and Highland Creek (p. 80), Danforth Road (p. 107), and on (p. 127), the general Scarborough area is discussed briefly.

24. Nacobert, Ms. "History of Scarborough". Scarborough Mail, 22 March - 27 September 1956.

A short history of Scarborough covering such topics as geology, Indians, early settlement and founding families. Included are the Thomson, Elliot, Cornell and Annis families.

25. Reaman, George Elmore. The Trail of the Black Walnut. Revised edition. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1965.

The book describes the settlement of the Pennsylvania Dutch in Upper Canada. Scarborough appears in an appendix on page 219, titled "Locations and Dates of First settlements in Upper Canada." On page 103, it is mentioned that Scarborough had 71 settlers in 1801.

O.T.S.P.

26. Robertson, John Ross., ed. Landmarks of Toronto; a collection of historical sketches of the Old Town of York from 1792 until 1833 and of Toronto from 1834 to 1914. 6 Vols: Toronto: by the editor, 1894; reprint ed., Belleville: Mika Publishing Company, 1976.

A large collection of sketches about the landmarks around Toronto. There are a number of Scarborough references:

Vol. One: On page 310, there is a list of the inhabitants in March 1805. Pages 427-428, contain a history of the mills on the Upper Don including the Helliwell's brewery.

Vol. Two: Pages 1035-1039, presents a sketch of the Helliwell family. Included is a picture of William Helliwell.

Vol. Three: Pages 18-21, discusses the improvements of the Rouge River and pages 115-117, describes the Scarborough Centennial gathering.

Vols. Four and Five were not available.

Vol. Size On page 113, the negotiations between the Toronto and Scarborough Electric Railway are mentioned. Pages 496-586, contain a biography of Alexander Muir. Scarborough's medicinal springs are mentioned on page 360.

Volumes 1,2,3 O.T.S.P.

27. Robinson, Percy J. Toronto During the French Regime: A History of the Toronto Region from Brule to Simcoe, 1615-1793. Toronto: The Ryerson Press, 1933: reprinted, Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1965.

The story of the "Toronto Carrying-place" and its role during the French regime. Scarborough references include: Information regarding the Indians that settled along and made use of the Rouge (pages 16, 17, 29, 53, 54, and 62), a brief reference to the French settlers on the Rouge River on page 91, a mention of the Scarborough Heights from Malartic's diary, and on page 187, are references to Simcoe's canoe trip to the area.

O.T.S.P.

28. Scarborough, Ontario. Township of Scarborough Clerk's Office, Correspondence, among Robert B.T. Kellough, C.A. Tripp and Mrs. Gilbank, 1957. (Typewritten).

Mr. Kellough wrote to Township Clerk Tripp because he was writing a history of the Greater-Toronto area and was encountering problems with Scarborough between 1793-1834. C.A. Tripp referred Mr. Kellough to the township librarian, Mrs. Gilbank, who mentioned it to members of the Historical society and a short general history of the township was sent (not included in correspondence). Mrs. Gilbank also comments on the scarcity of material on the History of Scarborough.

29. Schofield, Richard. "Scarborough's Heritage". Toronto Star, 27 November 1978 - 26 January 1981.

A collection of articles following the "Remember When..." series in the <u>Scarboro Mirror</u>. The author covers various topics such as education, transportation, religion, government, industry and social life. A number of pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

30. Schofield, Richard. "Remember When...", Scarboro Mirror, 26 March 1975 -16 March 1977.

This collection of newspaper articles on the history of Scarborough covers such topics as; religion, education, social life, pioneers, and transportation. A number of pictures are included.

31. Simcoe, Elizabeth Posthuma Gwillim. The Diary of Mrs. John Graves Simcoe; Wife of the First Lieutenant-Governor of the Province of Upper Canada, 1792-6. Notes and Biography by J. Ross Robertson, Toronto: William Briggs, 1911; reprint ed., Toronto: Coles Publishing Company, 1973.

This work is a record of the five years spent in Canada by Mrs. Simcoe (1791-1796). On page 208, she refers to John Simcoe's Scarborough lands. On page 210, there is reference made to a canoe trip to Scarborough Heights. On page 302, there is a reference to the Ashbridge family.

O.T.S.P.

32. Smith, William Henry. Smith's Canadian Gazetteer: Comprising Statistical and General Information Respecting all Parts of the Upper Province of Canada West. Toronto: Hand W. Rowsell, 1846; reprint ed., Toronto: Coles, 1970.

The book provides the names and the geographic description of the townships in Upper Canada. The reference to Scarborough on page 167, includes industrial and agricultural information, population (1842), ratable property, the average rent of the land, and a list of the ministers.

O.T.S.P.

33. Smith, W.H. Canada; Past, Present and Future, Being a Historical Geographical, Geological and Statistical Account of Canada West. Vol. 2: Toronto: Thomas Maclear, 1851; reprint ed., Belleville: Mika Publishing, 1974.

Vol. One: Contains a directory of York County. References to Scarborough can be found. The Scarborough post office and post-masters are also listed.

Vol. Two: Gives a general description of Scarborough including population, industry and agriculture.

O.T.S.P.

34. Smyth, D.W. A Short Topographical Description of His Majesty's Province of Upper Canada. New York: Johnson Reprint Corporation, 1969. reprint ed.,

On page 21, the "highlands" of Scarborough are mentioned. On page 137, Scarborough's location is given as well as the information that Scarborough is "noted for its Highbanks". On pages 22, and 113-114, the author briefly describes the River Nen which runs through Scarborough.

Toronto and Early Canada; A Catalogue of the Toronto and Early Canada Picture Collection in the Toronto Public Library. Toronto: Baxter Publishing Company in co-operation with the Toronto Public Library, 1964.

A list of Canadian Historical pictures from the book Land marks of Canada. There is a large section on Toronto. Scarborough pictures include: Halfway house on Kingston Road (p. 15), (picture #157), and the Scarborough Bluffs, the "Dutch Church" in 1899 (p. 37), (picture #703).

O.T.M.C.L.

36. Watt, Eva. "Sidelights of Scarboro". Scarborough Mail, 17 February 1949-50; April 1950.

This collection of newspaper articles deals with such topics as education, transportation, religion and recreation in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

37. Young, Janet. Letter to Mrs. Arthur Thomson, Scarboro Junction, Ontario, 10 May 1948. (handwritten).

This letter concerns itself with a picture of St. Andrew's Church with the old library and manse. The picture was drawn by Mrs. Ross for Janet Young's father Reverend D.B. MacDonald, in 1896. The picture was donated by Mrs. MacDonald to the board and members of Scarboro's library.

Biography

See Also numbers: 2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 13

38. Annis, Levi. Annis Annals, 1638-1931. (Toronto): n.p., 1931.

The genealogy of the Annis family - the story of the descendants of Charles and Elizabeth Annis (who settled in Scarborough in the eighteenth century). Includes photographs.

O.T.S.P.

39. Ashbridge, W.T. The Ashbridge Book. Toronto: Copp, Clark Co. Ltd., 1912.

A history of the Ashbridge family in America. There are numerous references to Sarah Ashbridge and to Jonathan Ashbridge who both received land grants in Scarborough Township. (pages 80, 91, 92, 93, 99, 100, 102, 103, and 104-112.)

O.T.M.C.

40. Booth, Ernest G. The Booths and Wrights of Scarborough, Ontario, Canada: The Smales and Kennedys of Ingersol and Woodstock Ontario: The Booths of Semans, Saskatchewan. Boca Raton, Florida: E.G. Booth, 1979.

Includes biographical summaries and genealogical charts of the Booth and Wright families. The Booths and Wrights settled in Scarborough during the mid-nineteenth century.

O.T.S.P.

41. Britnell, William E. County Marriage Registers of Ontario, Canada, 1858-1869. Vol. 6: York County. Toronto: Generation Press, 1980.

This genealogy concentrates on York County, although there are a few references to Scarborough families. On page 48, the Helliwells are mentioned. Other names referred to include: Kennedy (p. 107), McCowan (p. 120), Cornell (p. 124), Glendinning (p. 157), James (p. 217), and many more.

O.T.A.R.

42. Caswell, N.F. "Secretary's Annual Report." York Pioneer and Historical Society Annual Report. 1932: 2-9.

In his report, Caswell mentions the illness of Levi B. Annis and his inability to resume his position as president of the York Pioneer and Historical Society. Included is a description of the garden party given to the Committee of Management by President Annis and his wife on Saturday, June 18, 1932.

O.T.S.P.

43. Champion, Mrs. William. "Round the Years on an Ontario Farm, 1855". York Pioneer. 1967: 69-75

Mrs. Champion uses the Clark Diaries to develop a biographical sketch of William Clark, who acted as deputy reeve from 1854-1864, attended St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church in Bendale, and was involved in numerous community affairs. A great part of the article is devoted to Clark's farming activities.

O.T.S.P.

44. Commemorative Biographical Record of the County of York, Ontario. Containing Biographical Sketches of Prominent and Representative Citizens and Many of the Early Settled Families. Toronto: J.H. Beers and Co., 1907.

This book contains biographical sketches of a number of York residents. Scarborough persons include Robert Stobo (p. 291), John Ferguson (p. 565), and John Richardson (p. 605).

O.T.M.C.L.

45. Conant, Thomas. Life in Canada. Toronto: Briggs, 1903.

Some history of Canada with the emphasis on Ontario, from October 5, 1792, the date that the author's ancestor (Roger Conant) came to Canada. Scarborough references are as follows: Pages 23-24, reference to Abel Conant, who owned a large tract of land in Scarborough near the Danforth Road; Page 24, reference to Rhoda Conant, who married Levi Annis; Page 42, reference to Roger Conant (a dispatch bearer who lived in Darlington) and the story of how he hid his gold and silver with his brother-in-law, Levi Annis, who lived in Scarborough; Page 56, a reference to the visit that Levi Annis received from General Sheaffe; Page 77, Levi Annis - an account showing how difficult it was for a poor settler to obtain money.

46. Smythe, Conn. If you Can't Beat'Em in the Alley. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart Limited, 1981.

This book contains some of the memories of Conn Smythe while growing up in Scarborough. On pages 57-58, he reminisces about his boyhood lifestyle.

O.T.S.P.

47. Crozier, Ida Florence Wright, compiler. A Genealogy of Henry Cowan and His Descendants, 1959-1981. Hamilton, Ontario: by the author, 1981.

A genealogy of the Cowan family from 1784-1981. Henry Cowan came from Scotland and settled in Scarborough in 1831. Several letters and pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

48. The Elliot Family History: Volume Four 1773-1980. n.p.: n.p., 1980.

This work contains a genealogical chart of the Elliot family. In 1802, James Elliot married David Thomson's niece Janet. They were the first couple married in the Township of Scarboro. Three of their children also settled in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

49. Ellis, Glen. The Journeys of Reverend Robert Bonis. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A biography of the historian Reverend Robert Bonis. It begins with his boyhood in the early 1900's. There is a section describing Bonis' activities in Scarborough, 1938-1983. It also includes reviews of When I was a Boy, by David Trumble.

O.T.S.P.

50. Fowler, Sobel Willa. "Getting to Know You" C.C.R.A. News, (February, 1982).

A short biography of Reverend Robert R. Bonis. The unusual Highland Greek postal address and the events surrounding the construction of Heron Park Community Centre are also briefly mentioned.

51. Goodwin, Harold W. "The Humphreys and Richardsons of Scarborough". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (November 1984): 18-19; 9 (February, 1985): 12-13.

This article contains a letter from James Humphrey to his family in Ireland. He briefly describes his sea voyage and the Highland Creek community in which he settled.

O.T.S.P.

52. Graham, Olive N. and Graham, Jennie Bella., A Family Portrait: Pioneering in Scarborough of the 1920's. n.p., 1985.

This work is a personal reminiscence of her and her family's life. An account of her arrival to Toronto and Scarborough is given. Personal views of the life, the Bluffs, the Birchcliffe area and the schools of the 1920's and 1930's are well covered.

O.T.S.P.

53. Green, Elizabeth (Thomson), Diary of Elizabeth (Thomson) Green. n.p., n.d.

This work contains in diary form the daily activities of Elizabeth (Thomson) Green in Scarborough in 1898. The work also includes in diary form the daily activities of Edith (Green) Walton in Scarborough from 1899-1901. A short biography of Elizabeth Green and her family (Thomson). Some basic economic Scarborough information is also given.

O.T.S.P.

54. Hack, Linda; Hildebrandt, Sandra; and Quail, Lisa. "At Home with the Helliwells!". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1977): 6-8.

The life of William Helliwell (1811-1897) of Highland Creek is traced; it includes the Helliwell family tree, two newspaper clippings regarding the fire which destroyed the Helliwell Hotel in 1938, and a "fictional story based on fact." (student prize-winning essay.)

Haist, Margaret Milne, and Nicholson, Fred, eds. 'The Diaries of Frances (Tweedie) Milne, 1867-1882." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 2 (February-November 1978): 3 (February-November 1979): 4 (February-May 1980).

"Frances Georgina Agnes Tweedie came to Scarborough in 1869 as the bride of William A. Milne, the owner of the Hillside Mills in the northeast part of the township, and lived in Scarborough until her death in 1896 at the age of forty-eight. (The Diaries) record her activities as a vivacious fun-loving young woman, her courtship, and her married life when she settled down to the responsibilities of a household and family. (They) depict the life of one who was a member of an established and contented rural community." (Editor's introduction.) Amply footnoted.

O.T.S.P.

56. Hathaway, E.J. Jesse Ketchum and His Times; Being A Chronicle of the Social Life and Public Affairs of the Capital of the Province of Upper Canada During Its First Half Century. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart 1929.

References to Scarborough on the following pages; Page 33, reference to Joseph Ketchum and James Ketchum, early settlers in Scarborough Township and uncles of Jesse Ketchum; Page 85, reference to the Scarboro Heights - to the crowd that gathered there in the spring of 1813 to view the approaching American fleet; page 184, Scarborough citizens involved in the Revolutionary activities of the 1830's.

O.T.S.P.

57. Higginson, Thomas Boyd. "David and Mary Thomson; Some Notable Scottish Connections (Thomas Telford and the Ettrick Shepherd)". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 3 (September 1979): 10-11.

This article contains reprints of an obituary of Mary Thomson from The Church (3 December 1847) and traces the Thomson's relationships with two Scots, Willie Glendinning, and Thomas Telford.

O.T.S.P.

58. Higginson, T.B. "Galbraiths of Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (May, September 1981): 15.

Details on the branch of the family who settled in Scarborough.

Higginson, T.B. "The Reverend William Stewart Darling "Of Blessed Memory," Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 3 (May 1979): 10-12; 4 (September 1980): 12.

This biography of the Reverend Darling concentrates mainly on his writing. Included is Darling's poem "Longings for Spring".

O.T.S.P.

60. "History in Bronze and Stone: The Thomson Settlement in Scarborough." York Pioneer. 73 (Spring 1978): 25.

Besides giving a brief historical sketch of the Thomson settlement in Scarborough, this article quotes the inscription on the plaque erected in early 1867 in Thomson Memorial Park.

O.T.S.P.

61. (Hough, Donald), ed. "The "Hough" Family and Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1976): 4-6.

Notes written by Thomas Edward Hough (1879-1967) of Hough's corners, Eglinton and Birchmount Avenues, about his family and his life. Additional information in "Letters to the Editor," 3 (September 1979): 8-10.

O.T.S.P.

62. "In Memoriam." York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Reports.

A regular feature of this annual has obituaries for members who had died the previous year. They usually included a brief biographical sketch and occasionally a portrait. Listed below are Scarborough members followed by the periodical date and page number.

Annis, Andrew (1913): 17...Annis, Levi, Edward (1933): 8, 26...Anniss, Mrs. Levi E. (1939): 8...Annis, William (1934): 8, 22...Bates, Ira (1934): 22...Brown, E.O. (1910): 23...Galbraith, R.S. (1945): 7...McCowan, Alexander (1939): 8...Muir, Alexander (1907): 17...Thompson, W.W. (1914): 21...Thomson, John G. (1927): 18...Tingle, John (1927): 18...Tingle, Mrs. John (1927): 18...

O.T.M.C.

Kennedy, Donald Elliot. Two Farm--A History of One Branch of the Kennedy Family 63. 1735-1975--Through Nine Generations. Milton, Ontario: By the author, 1976.

This biography of the Kennedy Clan contains information on the Elliot family the Thomson family and the L'Amoreaux family. Descriptions of farm life in Scarborough in the 19th and 20th centuries is provided. Pictures and family trees are included.

O.T.S.P.

L'Amoreaux, Harold Dane, ed. "A study of the L'Amoreaux Family in America." 64. The L'Amoreaux Record. 2 (April 1939).

Reference is made to Josue L'Amoreaux the ancestor of L'Amoreauxs of the Scarborough and surrounding area. O.T.S.P.

Little, Jean C. "The "Neilsons" of Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes and 65. Comments. 5 (May, September 1981): 21-28.

Describes the Neilson family from 1769 to the present. Alexander Neilson settled in Scarborough in 1824.

O.T.S.P.

Little, Jean C. "W.P. McCowan and Lot 13, Concession 4." Scarborough Historical 66. Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1976): 2.

This article traces the ownership of the lot and gives biographical details about W.P. McCowan and information regarding the McCowan log cabin, which was moved to the Thomson Park by the Scarborough Historical Society in 1974.

O.T.S.P.

Loveless, Dudley. "Recollections and Memories." Scarborough Historical Notes and 67. Comments. 4 (May 1980): 8-13; 4 (September 1980): 5-8; 4 (November 1980): 13-21; 5 (February 1981): 11-13; 5 (May & September 1981): 10-15; 6 (September 1982): 18, 7 (May 1983): 9-11.

A descendant of three pioneer Scarborough families (Thomson, Walten, and Loveless) recalls in detail his life (born 1904) in Scarborough, including Ellesmere Village and Knox Church. Valuable genealogical information is given on the Loveless, Chapman and Galbraith families. Additional information is contained in "Letters to the Editor," 4 (September 1980): 8-9.

68. Loveless, Maitland Dudley, ed. Genealogical Chart of the Descendants of William Loveless, 1785-1868 and Hannah Holt, 1797-1867. Streetsville, Ontario: By the editor, 1979.

A family tree showing the names and birthdates of the descendants (many of whom live/lived in Scarborough) of William Loveless and Hannah (Wolstenholme) Holt through the years 1867-1978.

O.T.S.P.

69. MacPherson, Ethel, ed. Genealogical Chart of the Descendants of David Thomson and Mary Glendinning. (Brooklin, Ontario: Ethel MacPherson) 1958.

This genealogy includes a genealogical chart of the Thomson family, a plan of the original Thomson settlement in Scarborough Township, Mary Thomson's will and a word about Mary and David Thomson.

O.T.S.P.

70. McCowan, Bruce D. "The "Purdies" of the Fieldstone House". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (September 1983): 14.

The author provides a short history of the Purdies and the Raes. Janet Rae married William Purdie in 1839.

O.T.S.P.

71. McCowar, Bruce D. "The "Raes" in Bosanquet". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (September 1983): 14-18.

This biography of the Rae family includes a letter from Agnes and Archibald Rae after they left Scarborough for Bosanquet. An excerpt from Robert Rae's autobiography is included.

O.T.S.P.

72. Massey, Raymond. When I was Young. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1976.

The famous actor recalls turn of the century summers at the 250 acre family farm "Dentonia Park," part of which was in Scarborough near Victoria Park and Danforth Aves. (pages 52-61)

O.T.U.

73. Mosser, Christine, ed. York, Upper Canada minutes of Town Meetings and List of Inhabitants, 1793-1823. Toronto: Metropolitan Toronto Library Board, 1984.

This book contains names of inhabitants in various areas in and around present day Toronto. Relevant information regarding Scarborough residents from 1799-1807 is listed in the book's contents under the heading "Township of Scarborough."

O.T.S.P.

74. Nicholson, T.F. "Archibald Thomson His Role in the Early Settlement of Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (September 1984): 22-23.

The author reproduces Archibald Thomson's petition to Governor Simcoe, proving that it was Archibald who encouraged David to move to Upper Canada. Also discussed is the possibility that David Thomson settled in Scarborough in 1797 rather than 1796.

O.T.S.P.

75. "Oaths of Allegiance". York Pioneer (1961): 20-32.

This extract from a manuscript volume contains oaths of allegiance 1800-1806. It provides information on men's size, age, place of birth, religion, and place of residence. Included in the listing are: George W. Post (p. 22), William Jones (p. 23), David Thomson (p. 24) and Stephen Johnson (p. 32).

O.T.M.C.L.

76. "Oaths of Allegiance, part 2." York Pioneer. (1963): 21-30.

Extracts from the oaths of allegiance manuscript, includes John Closson (p. 21), Biographical notes are also available for George Washington Post (p. 28), David Thomson (p. 28), and John Closson (p. 30) (under the section "Notes and Comments" prepared by Marion Keefer.)

O.T.M.C.L

77. Oke, W.H. Stobo, Green, Hamilton, Forfar, Aickin: Family History. n.p.: n.p., 1977.

This contains charts and family trees tracing the history of the Stobo, Hamilton, Green, Forfar and Aickin families in Scarborough.

78. "Our Contributors". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (September 1983): 8.

The author provides brief biographical information on three contributors to the periodical. These are George Duncan, Bruce McCowan and Richard Schoffeld.

O.T.S.P.

79. "Our New President". York Pioneer and Historical Society Annual Reports. (1930): 11.

This biographical sketch of Levi Edward Annis, commemorating his election to the presidency of the York Pioneer and Historical Society, originally appeared in the Toronto Evening Star, 1930. A photograph of Annis is included.

O.T.S.P.

80. Patterson, R.Ross, ed. "A Visit to Scotland, 1859: The Journal of John Lockie Paterson." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (February 1982): 10-14.

Entries from the journal of a Scarborough resident written during his trip to Scotland. He describes areas from which many of Scarborough's earliest settlers came.

O.T.S.P.

81. (Pearse, H.) "Pearse Family History in Hillside." n.p.: n.p., (1979).

A history of the Pearse family of Hillside from 1836 (starting with James, John and George Pearse) to the present time.

82. Pearson, M.I. Macklin Family History. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1981-1984.

A detailed history of the Macklin family in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

Pellettier, Carolyn Smith. "The Muir Genealogy: An Account of the Descendants of Archibald Muir of Scarborough Township, York County, Ontario." 1978. (typewritten)

A history of the Muir family from the time Archibald Muir settled in Scarborough to the present.

84. Post, James Willet. Post-Poste Family History, 980-1980. n.p.: J.W. Post, 1977.

The history of the Post family who settled in Scarborough in 1800. The author supplies a map of Scarborough showing the Post property and the Post gravestone inscription found in Highland Creek.

O.T.S.P.

85. The Reesor Family in Canada: Genealogical and Historical Records, 1804-1980. n.p.: n.p., 1980.

A complete history of the Reesor family in Canada. Reference to the Reesors of Scarborough can be found under Peter Reesor. Provides a list of land in Scarborough owned by the Reesors in the nineteenth century (p. 14).

O.T.S.P.

86. Reid, William D. Death Notices of Ontario. Lambertville, N.J.: Hunterdon House, 1980.

A collection of death notices from various newspapers in Ontario between the years 1810-1849. There are sixteen references to Scarborough including the tragic death of William Helliwell's son in 1844. (p. 325).

O.T.S.P.

87. Reid, William D. Marriage Notices of Ontario. Lambertville, N.J.: Hunterdon House, 1980.

A collection of marriage notices from various newspapers in Ontario between the years 1813-1853. There are a large number of references to Scarborough. Such names as Cornell, Pilkie, Forfar, and Clark are briefly mentioned.

O.T.S.P.

88. Reid, William D. The Loyalists in Ontario: The Sons and Daughters of the American Loyalists of Upper Canada. Lambertville, N.J.: Hunterdon House, 1973.

A record of the land grants given to Loyalists who settled in Ontario. The sons' and daughters' names are included. Scarborough references appear on (pages: 148, 310, 317 and 357).

89. Rennie, William. "President's Address." York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Report. (1907): 11-13.

Rennie provides a brief biographical sketch of Muir and includes several anecdotes. Muir, author of the "The Maple Leaf Forever" was made an honorary member of the York Pioneer and Historical Society in 1907.

O.T.M.C.L.

90. Scarborough, Ontario. Correspondence regarding Wilson and Rodgers, 15 June 1959. (typewritten)

This letter concerns a name search for Wilson and Rodgers. The writer finds a number of possibilities and makes suggestions to assist the researcher in making a more detailed search.

O.T.S.P.

91. Schofield, R. "Macklin: First Generation in Canada: Scarborough: Synopsis." Scarborough, Ontario, 1980. (typewritten)

A history of the Macklin family who settled in Scarborough in 1828. Includes an historical note on Marshall Macklin's land acquisitions in Scarborough including Forest Home, Cloverlea, Homedale, and Maple Hill.

O.T.R.S.

92. Schofield, Richard, ed. "New" from Home. A Letter from Scotland to Margaret Clark, Eldest Daughter of Wm. Clark, Sr." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (November 1982): 10-11.

The writer "Martha" informs Margaret of the gossip from home. The letter provides a list of Clark family members including William, John, Hugh, David, and Andrew. When the letter was written, Margaret was unmarried. She later married William P. Kennedy of Scarborough in the early 1840's.

O.T.S.P.

93. Shank, Luella. The Pilkey Family Genealogy 1800-1979. n.p.: n.p., 1979.

This genealogy includes specific reference to the Pilkey Family members who resided in Scarborough: Archibald McAllister Pilkey, Ina Mantle, George Pilkey, Florence Viola Norton, Gordon Eugene Irwin and Robert William Irwin.

O.T.R.S.

94. Smith, W.L. The Pioneers of Old Ontario. Toronto: George N. Morang, 1923.

A series of pioneer sketches (that appeared in the Weekly Sun 1897-1914) based on memories of those met while travelling throughout rural Ontario form the basis for this book. Of particular interest are the pages describing the movement inland from Niagara to Scarboro (1801) and to Markham of Christian Reesor and his family (pp. 23-26)

O.T.M.C.L.

95. Stoner, Gladys. "Hexs and Heather". Scarborough, Ontario. 1975. (typewritten)

This genealogy traces the history of the Stoner, Rittenhouse, Thomson and Forfar families of Scarborough. Other names mentioned include Johnson, Sinclair, Gordon, Honsberger, Funks and Gayman.

O.T.R.S.

96. Thomson, John. "Fourteen Generations in North America." Calgary, 1968. (typewritten).

The author traces the history of the Thomson family through fourteen generations. Also included are short notes on families related to the Thomson clan by marriage, for example, the Elliots, Forfars, and Waltons.

O.T.R.S.

97. Thomson, Richard. Scarborough in the Decade 1935-1945. Paper given to Scarborough Historical Society 1977.

Thomson describes his life in Scarborough between 1935 and 1945. He mentions such topics as electricity, farming machinery, transportation, roads, telephone service and the depression in Scarborough.

98. Tyrrell, J.B. "Reminiscences" York Pioneer, (1955): 3-7.

Mentions his Scarborough property and his life there, (along the Rouge River).

O.T.M.C.L.

Walsh, Albert R. "Lyburn House Part Four Rev. Wm. Arthur Johnson and Laura Eliza Jukes (Owner-1849-50)" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 9 (February 1985): 1-11.

A biography of the owners of Lyburn house includes pictures of relatives, various churches, and residences, a map of the Johnson family holdings, a diagram of Lyburn farm and a family tree.

O.T.S.P.

Weston, Jane. "Early Canadians at Scarborough." Paper presented on C.B.L. by the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation Talks Department, 16 June 1952. (typewritten)

This paper briefly discusses the Thomson family, their journey to Scarborough and their life there. Also mentioned are Scarborough's first library, St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, and Highland Creek.

Social History

101. Allen, Robert Thomas. When Toronto Was For Kids. (Toronto): McClelland and Stewart, (1961).

In Allen's remembrance of growing up in Toronto, he describes his visits to a farm in the Scarborough area. Included is a reference to Halfway House on Kingston Road (p. 28).

O.T.S.P.

Bell, Norman C. "The Residential Structure of Scarborough (Private Dwellings)," B.A. thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1971.

In this examination of residential land use Bell analyses the following factors: land use within Scarborough, Scarborough's character (industrial, religious, ethnic, recreational); Malvern, and work patterns of Scarborough residents. Includes maps and tables. Language is fairly technical.

O.T.U.

103. Clark, Samuel Delbert. The Suburban Society. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1966.

The author examines a number of suburbs in Ontario including Scarborough. The book covers Scarborough's development (pp. 38-45), population (p. 84), growth (p. 9), religious attachments (p. 99), ethnic groups (p. 100), protest movements (p. 200). It also focuses on specific suburban residential areas in Scarborough, including Bendale, Edge Park, Wexford, and Dorset Park.

O.T.S.P.

104. Paterson Planning and Research Ltd. Study of Interim Housing Policy: Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Paterson Planning and Research Limited, 1974.

This report examines Scarborough's socio-economic characteristics in comparison to the rest of Metro Toronto; the development of Scarborough's vacant sites; the financial impact of the housing incentive grant program (O.H.A.P.) Scarborough's short and long range housing policy; and the housing growth in Scarborough's various communities. A number of charts and maps are included.

105. "Scarborough in 1861". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1976); 1 (September 1977).

Remarks by enumerators of the 1861 Census on the conditions in his ward provide an invaluable insight into conditions and people in Scarborough at that time.

O.T.S.P.

106. Schoffeld, Richard. "The Growth of Scarborough's Population: A Short Sketch of the Period (1800-1975)." Scarborough, Ontario, 1975.

An overview of the history of Scarborough's development. Includes maps and photos. Emphasis is on early history as opposed to recent history.

107. Schwar, Doris M. 1994: No Fixed Address. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Tenants Council, 1984.

This report describes a survey of thirty apartment buildings in Scarborough taken in 1983-1984. Topics covered include why people chose their apartment and the physical conditions in the apartments and rent increases. The report outlines the methods used in conducting the survey, presents the survey results, and analyses the findings. Recommendations based on these findings are also given.

O.T.S.P.

108. Social Planning Council of Metropolitan Toronto. Department of Research and Development. Social Development Study of Northwest Scarborough. Toronto: n.p., 1970.

The first section of this report analyses the present population, housing types and conditions, community organizations and facilities and community services. The second section considers the impact of the present planning for the proposed new Grace Hospital and the projected large increase in housing and physical facilities of the area. The third section analyses the present and anticipated needs of the projected populations for community services and programs.

O.T.U.

Pioneer Life

109. Annis, Levi E. "Early Pioneer Days in Scarboro Township". York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Report. (1917): 9.

This paragraph makes reference to the Ojibway Indians who first inhabited Scarborough, and to the Thomson and Annis families who were early settlers in the area. It also gives the dates of the first road built and the first farming machinery imported into Scarborough.

O.T.M.C.L.

110. Guillet, Edwin C. The Pioneer Farmer and Backwoodsman. vol. 2. Toronto: The Ontario Publishing Co. Ltd., distributed by University of Toronto Press, 1963.

A social history of early pioneer life in Upper Canada. In vol. 2, Scarborough is mentioned in conjunction with farming on pages 134, 145, 157 and 288.

O.T.S.P.

111. Guillet, Edwin. Pioneer Inns and Taverns. 4 vols. Toronto: Ontario Publishing Co. Ltd., 1954-1958.

Guillet describes Inns from Quebec to Detroit with detailed coverage of Ontario. Scarborough references include:

Vol. One: A brief history of Charlie Crew's Halfway House with photographs of the establishment and the Guild Inn (pp. 110-113).

Vol. Three: Brief description of Black's Tavern, William Wallace Inn, Blue Bell Inn, Elliot's Inn, Painted Post, Mape's Inn, and Speed and Plough Tavern (pp. 138-139). On page 149, there is a picture of the Scarborough Hotel.

Vol. Four: The appendix contains a reference to Cornell Inn, taken from the diary of Charles Fothergill. (p. 170).

112. Langdon, Eustella. Pioneer Gardens at Black Creek Pioneer Village. Toronto: Holt Rinehart and Winston, 1972.

This book tells about plants grown by pioneers in southern Ontario gardens before 1867. The book includes photographs, pioneer recipes, herbal remedies, paintings and drawings done by pioneers, rare old documents, and botanical illustrations.

O.T.S.P.

113. McGillicuddy, Thomas Sr. ""Rough Diamonds": The Makers of a Country." York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Reports. (1929): 13

In an extract from an address to the Society, McGillicuddy discusses the early settlement of the province from an historical, social, agricultural, political and commercial viewpoint. On page 14, there is a brief description of the settlement in Scarborough of the Thomson family and the establishment of a monument in their honour.

O.T.M.C.L

114. Nicholson, Fred, ed. "The Diaries of "William Clark, Junior" 1885-1888." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (February 1981) -...

The diarist was born in Scotland and came to Scarborough with his father in 1838. "The diary records the consistent arduous work required of even the most successful farmer in those days." Clark also records Church and School affairs, curling, and his observations of nature.

O.T.S.P.

115. "Old Scarboro' in the News; From the Markham Economist." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments.

First appeared as "Vignettes from Scarborough's Past", February 1978 and 1979. This section of the paper illustrates life in Scarborough by reprinting old articles from the Markham Economist and other early papers. Some of the topics covered are births, deaths, marriages, sales and community happenings.

Social Services

116. Bucholtz, Dan, ed. "Scarboro Community Guide 1975-76. Scarboro Mirror, 1975.

This booklet provides information on services and activities in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

117. Cunningham, Rosella. Child Abuse Program, Scarborough Department of Health. Toronto: Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, 1979.

This study examines the Scarborough Health Department's special program for the prevention of child abuse. The study documents the value and use of the Scarborough "High Risk Register" and explores the public health nurses' role and responsibility. In addition it makes recommendations. This study is fairly technical in language.

O.T.U.

118. James, Helen Denison. 'The Scarborough Branch of the Children's Aid Society of Metropolitan Toronto, 1958-1966; A Descriptive Study of the Effects of Decentralization On a Metropolitan Child Welfare Agency in Respect to the Administration of Services at Headquarters and the Provision of Services By One Branch." MSW thesis, University of Toronto, 1967.

Describes the ways in which the establishment of a branch in the Township of Scarborough enabled the Children's Aid Society to respond to the needs of the community.

O.T.U.

119. Kernaghan, John, ed. "Scarboro Community Guide 1978." Scarboro Mirror, 1978.

In addition to information about services in Scarborough, this booklet provides short biographies of some of Scarborough's pioneers.

120. Social Planning Council of Metropolitan Toronto. Department of Research and Development. Social Development Study of Northwest Scarborough. (Toronto: Social Planning Council of Metropolitan Toronto,) 1970.

This report outlines the population characteristics, the welfare, health, recreational and other services available to the people of Scarborough. Emphasis is placed on community needs as related to the projected population growth. Charts are included.

O.T.S.P.

121. Taylor, Donald. Policing in Scarborough 1792-1957. n.p.: n.p. (1971).

This essay traces the history of the Scarborough Police Force. The author includes a number of firsts for the Scarborough police: their first constables, first fire and police chief, first headquarters, first telephone and their only one way car radio.

O.T.S.P.

Sports and Recreation

"ADAMS PARK" CCRA News, November 1980, p. 9. 122.

> A very brief history of the park covering the sale of the property and the decision not to subdivide it but to make recreational plans for it.

> > O.T.S.P.

"The "Blue Bell" Hotel". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (November 123. 1983): 8.

This article includes very brief notes on the Hotel and the lyrics to a song sung at its establishment.

O.T.S.P.

Bonis, Robert Raynes. Scarborough, Home and Host of Sportmen: To Mark the 125th 124. Anniversary of the Incorporation of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Committee on Parades and Entertainment, Recreation and Parks Department, (197.)

A brief history of sports in Scarborough: bees, king's birthday sports, ploughing matches, reaping and mowing contests, curling, quoiting, football, lawn tennis, cricket, lawn bowling, sports of the new age, and sports today.

O.T.S.P.

Bonis, Robert R. The West Hill-Highland Creek Lions Club 1944-1974. n.p.: n.p., 125. 1974)

This booklet contains the history of the West Hill-Highland Creek Lions Club, its activities, contributions, and achievements. On page 3, a short history of the publication of "The Enterprise" newspaper is included.

O.T.S.P.

Filey, Mike. I Remember Sunnyside; the Rise and Fall of a Magical Era. Toronto: 126. Brownstone Press, 1981.

On page 13, there is a description of Victoria Park's attractions, such as foot races, donkey rides, and games of chance. Also included is a brief history from its development in the early 1880's to its demise in 1900. One photo.

O.T.U.

127. Guillet, Edwin C. Pioneer Days in Upper Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1933; reprint ed., Toronto: Canadian University Paperbooks Edition, 1964.

This volume contains Section Three of Guillet's <u>Early Life in Upper Canada</u>. "Pioneer Life". Scarborough references to sports appear on pages 209 and 210.

O.T.S.P.

128. Mulvany, C. Pelham. Toronto Past and Present; a Handbook of the City. Toronto: W.E. Gaiger, 1884.

On page 102, there is a paragraph on Victoria Park entitled "Victoria Park a favourite resort with the residents of Toronto".

O.T.U.

129. (Nicholson, F.) "Scarboro's First Y.M.C.A." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (May, September 1981): 16-18.

This article discusses the history of the "Y" started at Agincourt in 1856. Includes a list of charter members and a list of activities based on the branch's minute books.

O.T.S.P.

130. Scarboro Christian Association of Young Men. Minutes of Meetings 1856-1861 and 1873. (handwritten).

This minute book contains entries from various Scarborough residents. In the years 1856-1861 entries were made by secretaries Alexander Muir, Marshall Macklin, John More and William Loveless. In 1873 William Loveless was the only secretary. Also included is a diary kept by Thomas Loveless for the year 1891.

O.T.R.S.

131. Sifton, Clifford. "Toronto Hunt 1843-1931: Toronto and North York Hunt 1931-1974." York Pioneer. (1975): 70-74.

Sifton outlines the history of the Toronto Hunt Club established in 1843 and which is now located on Kingston Road. A list of former masters of the club is also provided.

Politics and Government

132. Anderson, R. F. "Scarborough Municipal Flag". The Municipal World. 79 (September 1969): 232-233.

Mr. Anderson, the Executive Assistant to the Mayor of Scarborough, discusses the development of the new Scarborough flag. Illustrated.

O.T.S.P.

133. Citizens' Research Institute of Canada. Report Giving Information on Certain Questions Submitted by the Metropolitan Area Committee of the Municipal Corporation of the County of York May 23rd, 1933. Toronto: (Citizens' Research Institute of Canada, 1933.)

This report concerns itself with the financial position of many municipalities in York County. Scarborough is included. The report discusses the municipalities in 1931, their revenue and expenditures in general, and in relation to Police, water, mother's allowances, hospitalization, old age pensions, direct relief, and other public welfare, education, fire, hydro, transportation, county roads, king's highways and administration of justice. Also mentioned is the municipalities' levies should they become a new county. Tables and charts are included.

134. Colton, Timothy J. Big Daddy: Frederick G. Gardiner and the Building of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1980.

This biography focuses on Gardiner as the political founder of Metro Toronto - the first Metropolitan Government in North America. On page 54, there is a map of the spread of settlement on which Scarborough is shown. Pages 67-69, discusses Scarborough expansion with a quote from Reeve Oliver E. Crockford. Other references to Scarborough concerning politics and government expansion appear on pages 115, 116, and 158.

O.T.S.P.

135. The Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough Community of L'Amoreaux By-Law Number 12466. (Scarborough, Ontario: n.p. 1966.)

This booklet contains information on by-law 12466 for L'Amoreaux. It includes restricted areas, the various zones, parking requirements, and violations and penalties. There are several maps indicating the location of the areas referred to.

O.T.S.P.

136. "Councillors of the Home District." York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Reports. (1950): 9.

A list of the councillors of the Home District elected in 1842, including William Clark and John Torrance of Scarborough.

O.T.M.C.L.

137. Falkner, Theresa G. The Early History of the Association of Women Electors. (Toronto): T. Falkner, 1977.

The booklet describes the basic principles of the group, its roots, its accomplishments and its expansion from 1937-1953. It concentrates on the general Metropolitan area. There are no specific references to Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

138. "Fenian Raids Affect Scarborough". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (November 1983): 9-10.

Although the men of the Scarborough Rifle Company saw no active duty, they were prepared to defend. This article includes a list of men whose families were left destitute with their breadwinner away. Scarborough council moved to assist these families financially.

O.T.S.P.

139. Fraser, Alexander. "Historical Sketches of the Home District." York Pioneer and Historical Society (Annual) Report. (1910): 18-19.

In a synopsis of his papers, Fraser discusses changes made in the Home District Boundary lines in order to organise the Province for legislative purposes. Pickering, Scarborough, and York, the three townships near the centre of the district were inevitably affected by these changes. He mentions that Scarborough was originally called Glasgow.

O.T.M.C.L.

140. Guillet, Edwin C. You'll Never Die, John A. Toronto: MacMillan of Canada, 1967.

In this book of stories and anecdotes about MacDonald there is a description of a Conservative Picnic which took place at Victoria Park, August 27, 1878. (p.76). This is a reprint from a story in The Toronto Mail.

O.T.M.C.L.

141. Higginson, T.B., ed. "1837 and the "Men of Scarborough". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1977): 4-5.

A reprint of a letter to the Toronto Newspaper <u>Palladium</u>. 21, March 1838 describing the activities of the militia from Scarborough during the Toronto battle of the 1837 Rebellion.

O.T.S.P.

142. Interim Report of the Metropolitan Area Committee of the County of York January Session 1934. n.p.: n.p., 1934.

The interim report enumerates the grievances of York County; Scarborough is included. Complaints concentrate on financial expenditures and taxation. Tables include population, voting strength, tax rate, per capita expenditure for education, and highway costs.

O.T.S.P.

143. James F. Maclaren Ltd. Scarborough Official Plan Review, Commercial Policy Study
- Prepared by James F. MacLaren Limited for the Scarborough Planning Board.
Scarborough, Ontario: n.p. 1976.

This study is designed to help determine the commercial policies that will be used to guide the future development of the borough. The booklet describes Scarborough and its development; outlines trade areas; an investigation of specialized commercial facilities; and recommendations and implementation strategies. Included are maps, tables, and charts.

O.T.S.P.

144. Nicholson, T.F. "A Scarborough Settler's Struggle with the Establishment; was John Oliver Treated Justly in the 1840's? Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 4 (September 1980): 9-11.

Traces the case "of an ordinary settler struggling in vain for justice against influential and ruling members of society".

145. The Official Opening of the Scarborough Civic Centre By Her Majesty the Queen, June 29, 1973: and the Dedication of the Albert Campbell Town Square, July 1, 1973.

This booklet describes the Civic Centre, its concept and purpose. It provides a copy of the dedication services and a list of interesting facts about the building.

O.T.S.P.

146. "The Patriotic Fund-1855." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (May 1982): 11-12.

Excerpts from the Globe 9 March 1855 reporting a Scarborough meeting to organize collecting money to help families of troops fighting in the Crimean War.

O.T.S.P.

147. The Program and Information Department of the Board of Education. Scarborough: A Booklet on the Borough of Scarborough, the Board of Education, and the Civic Centre. (Scarborough, Ontario: Board of Education, 1975.)

This booklet contains information on the Civic Centre, its design and purpose; and Scarborough in general, its history, government and education.

O.T.S.P.

148. Rendl, Martin. "The Control Function in Official Plans: The Case of Secondary Plans in Scarborough". M.Sc. thesis, Department of Urban Regional Planning, University of Toronto, 1977.

Rendl examines and evaluates development control within the Woburn and L'Amoreaux Secondary plans. A brief history of Scarborough's council and its adoption of official plans is included. An organizational chart of the Borough of Scarborough Planning department is included. The language is fairly technical.

149. The Scarborough Civic Centre: The Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Borough of Scarborough, (1973).

This booklet gives information on the services the Civic Centre provides. It contains: a short summary of historical facts on Scarborough and the Civic Centre; pictures of the building and government persons; a chart of the Scarborough government's organization structure and information about Scarborough's flag.

150. Scarborough Community Conference: Who is Planning Your Community? (Scarborough: Scarborough Community Conference Committee, 1974.)

A record of the ideas presented and exchanged during the conference on Scarborough Community planning. Includes speeches made, discussions held and recommendations submitted.

O.T.S.P.

151. Schofield, Richard. "Scarborough's Federal Representatives Since Confederation; the First Hundred Years, 1867-1967." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (November 1977): (1) - 4.

Brief biographical sketches including Alexander Mackenzie, Canadian Prime Minister 1873-1878. Two portraits are provided.

O.T.S.P.

152. Spelt, Jacob. Canadian Cities Series: Toronto. Toronto: Collier Macmillan Canada Limited, 1973.

This book explores the evolution of Metropolitan Toronto. There are brief references to Scarborough and its development on pages 84-88. The Scarborough Bluffs are mentioned on pages 5 and 7. Scarborough appears on two tables charting Metro Toronto's population increases and taxable assessment. The preservation as parkland of Highland Creek and Rouge River is mentioned very briefly on page 126.

O.T.S.P.

153. "A Tale of Heroism from Scarborough's Past." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (February 1981): 17-18.

The somewhat comic efforts of Scarborough yeomanry to defend their soil from a falsely suspected Fenian attack in 1865/66.

O.T.S.P.

154. "Wardens. York Pioneer and Historical Society Reports. (1949): 21.

Wardens in the County of York and Peel, 1850-1950 are listed, including the following Scarborough inhabitants; John P. Wheeler, 1861-3 (p. 21): John Richardson, 1885 (p. 22): J.G. Cornell, 1917 (p. 23): and George B. Little, 1928 (p. 23).

O.T.M.C.L.

Community Histories

155. "Agincourt." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 2 (May 1978): 11.

Description of an excursion to Uxbridge by the Agincourt Presbyterian Sabbath School. Reprinted from <u>British American Presbyterian</u>, 16 July 1875. Mentions transportation problems with the railroad.

O.T.S.P.

156. Bonis, Robert R. A History of the Village of Agincourt. (Scarborough, Ontario: By the Author, 1965.)

A brief outline showing the growth of Agincourt Village into a community from 1854-1953. The author discusses the first post office, church, railroad, doctor and sports club.

O.T.S.P.

157. Bonis, Robert R. et al. History of the Village of Agincourt. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A collection of newspaper articles concerning Agincourt; including a brief history by Robert Bonis and excerpts from R. Boyle's <u>History of Scarborough</u>.

O.T.S.P.

158. Eadie, Robert H. "A History of the Community of Woburn." 1972, 25 p.

History of Woburn — the community that was first settled by a relative of Laura Second. Contains some historical information about the Woburn School.

O.T.R.S.

159. Eadie, Robert. H. A Short History of the Community of Old Malvern Village. Scarborough, Ontario: By the Author, 1973. 56 p.

A booklet describing life in Malvern 1857-1973. It discusses such topics as doctors, sports, stores, hotels, schools, literature and citizens. A map and a number of photographs are included.

Henschel, Clarice. Survey of the Centennial West Rouge Area: Port Union, Survey -160. June 1973. n.p.: n.p., 1974.

A study of the characteristics of the Centennial West Rouge Area. Details on five schools in the area are included.

O.T.S.P.

Highland Creek Community Secondary Plan Review - Planning Staff Report to the 161. Scarborough Planning Board. April 14, 1977. Scarborough, Ontario: (The Scarborough Planning Board) 1977.

The report concerns itself with living conditions in the Highland Creek area. It covers such topics as: Community character and structure; residential composition; population composition; social facilities; parks; commercial facilities; roads and transportation; industrial facilities; and existing zoning. Results from questionnaires are also included.

O.T.S.P.

"The History of Knob Hill Community 1796-1970." Scarborough: Knob Hill Public 162 School, 1970. 20 p. (mimeographed)

Put together by a class at Knob Hill Public School, this booklet includes: a geographical and historical survey excursion, the people who made the community, various histories of schools, churches, and people in the area. On page 14, there is a history of Knob Hill Public School (1954-1970).

O.T.S.P.

Kennedy, Isabelle. "A History of the Village of Agincourt." Agincourt, Ontario, 163. 1939. (Typewritten).

A short history of the village of Agincourt.

O.T.R.S.

"Malvers. Ontario Housing. 14 (5): 8, 9, 19. 164.

> This article describes the preliminary plans for the development of the Malvern area by the Ontario Housing Corp., and Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation. Included is information on future residential, commercial and industrial uses for the area. O.T.M.C.L

165. "Malvern." n.p.: n.d. (typewritten)

A very brief one page history of Malvern from 1790 until after World War Two. The author concentrates on growth of the area.

O.T.S.P.

166. Milne, John. "The History of Agincourt." Scarborough, Ontario, 1942 (typewritten).

A brief history of the village of Agincourt. Included is a description of the area in pioneer days.

O.T.R.S.

167. Munroe, Elva. History of the Community of Ellesmere. (Scarborough, Ontario: Ellesmere School, 1958).

This booklet consists of: brief biographies on the Thomsons, Glendinnings, Forfars and Lovelesses; a description of life in the village; and a history of Ellesmere School. Drawing and maps are included.

O.T.S.P.

168. Nicholson, T.F. "Fallingbrook." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 2 (September 1978): 10.

The history of this area from 1840 including a brief biographical sketch of one owner, the Rev. Charles Winstanley, who gave it its name. Additional information given in "Letters to the Editor": 3 (May 1979): 12; 4 (May 1980): 13.

O.T.S.P.

169. Nicholson, T.F., ed. "Scarborough in the 1840's; A Traveller's Tale." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 1 (September 1977): 7-8.

Extracts from William Brown's America: A Four Years' Residence in the United States and Canada (1849) describing the Rouge River.

170. Purcell, C.R. "Gleanings from the History of the Rouge River Valley." York Pioneer (1972): 48-60.

Purcell discusses the Rouge River Valley's early history and settlement; the Danforth and Mast Roads; water transportation and shipbuilding; and the various mills on the Rouge. Attention is also given to the Indian burial grounds found on Tabor Hill.

O.T.S.P.

171 Rawkins, J. and Rawkins, R., The Chinese Community in North Scarborough. Scarborough: n.p., March 1985.

This paper details the history of the Chinese Community in Canada, and their movement east to Toronto and Scarborough. A Section of the Chinese in Scarborough and their ethnic survival is also included.

O.T.S.P.

172. Reesor, Lillian J. Bridlewood Then and Now: An Historical Sketch Compiled by Lillan J. Reesor. (Scarborough, Ontario: n.p. 1972.)

This book traces the development of Bridlewood from farmland to subdivisions (1798-1972). A number of pictures of the past and present are included.

O.T.S.P.

173. Russell, W.A. "It's Still the Rouge". York Pioneer. (1958): 1-4.

This article provides an overall sketch of the early history of the Rouge Valley, concentrating on the Indian tribes, forts, trading companies and missionaries that settled on the Rouge from 1690 to 1759.

O.T.M.C.L.

174. Schofield, Richard. Remember When... Vol. 1: Woburn (Scarborough, Ontario: By the Author, 1978.)

The author outlines the history of some of the roads, churches, farms and families in the area. Photos, illustrations, and maps are included.

Scott, Sherman. "The West Rouge Community." Scarborough Historical Notes and 175. Comments. 4 (November 1980): 13-14.

A history of the twentieth century development of the area which was annexed to Scarborough from Pickering Township in 1974. The author moved to West Rouge in 1944 and was active in local politics for many years.

O.T.S.P.

Spilsbury, J. The Highland Creek Story 1918-1968. (Highland Creek,) Ontario: n.p. 176. 1968)

This booklet illustrates in pictures and in words some historic highlights of the Highland Creek Community (1800-1968). Emphasis is placed on Highland Creek Public Schools.

O.T.S.P.

Spilsbury, John R. Fact and Folklore; Highland Creek, Hillside, Port Union and West 177. Hill. (Scarborough, Ontario: By the Author, n.d.)

A collection of short histories about the buildings, people and events of Scarborough's past, taken from the memories of the people who experienced the history themselves. A large number of pictures are included. The author mentions such people as John and William Morrish, John Closson, William Tredway, and Robert Core. A number of schools and churches are also mentioned.

O.T.S.P.

White, Hewlett. Agincourt Lions Club: A History of 35 Years of Service. (Agincourt, 178. Ontario: n.p. 1979.)

The activities of the Agincourt Lions Club is recorded from the final years of World War Two to 1979. A description of the first Charter Night Banquet and an account of the club's first contributions to the community are included.

Religion

179. Allen, Robert. Notes on the Church in the Township of Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

180. Davies, Blodwen. A String of Amber: The Heritage of the Mennonites. Vancouver: Mitchell Press Limited, 1973.

A history of the Mennonites in Canada, specifically the Southern Ontario region. The author concentrates on such families as the Widemans, the Reesors, and the Ebys. There is a specific reference to Scarborough on (p. 24). Allan Reesor, a descendant of the Reesor family, is a Scarborough farmer.

O.T.S.P.

181. (Dobell, R.J.) 50 Golden Years 1913-1963: St. Augustine's Seminary. Toronto, Ontario: Reverend Andrew Stevenson, (1963).

A history of the Seminary celebrating its 50th anniversary. Pictures of the seminary, its staff and rectors are included.

O.T.S.P.

Higginson, T.B. "The Church of England Parish of Scarborough in 1853; the First Report of the Rev. Wm. Belt to the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 2 (May 1978): 10-11.

Reverend Belt's report includes information on services, special collections, his income, Sunday School classes and attendance, baptisms, marriages and burials.

O.T.S.P.

183. Higginson, T.B. "The Rev. W. Stewart Darling; Further Reference Extracted from Issues of the "The Church". Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 4 (September 1980): 12.

Reports from Scarborough written by Darling describe church activities. Also included is a poem.

Maxwell, Grant. Assignment in Chekiang: 71 Canadians in China 1902-1954. 184. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Foreign Mission Society, 1982.

The book is both a history of the Scarborough Foreign Mission Society and a journalist's account of the Society's work in China from 1902-1954. Experiences and reactions are described in the participants' own words -- taken from articles, letters, books, and personal interviews with surviving members. Chronological guide, photographs and roster of Scarborough missionaries included.

O.T.S.P.

Scarboro Missions. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Foreign Mission Society, 185. 1919. monthly.

A publication concentrating on the Foreign Mission Society's activities overseas.

O.T.S.P.

June. 1951, Oct. 1974, Jan. 1981 - Dec. 1981 and Feb. 1982.

Scarborough Foreign Mission Society: Origin and Growth Founded by Right Rev. John Mary Graser, D.P. Missionary Apostolic 1919. In Almonte, Ontario, Canada. 186. (Scarborough, Ontario: n.p.), 1979.

A history of the Society and its founder from 1910-1979. The Society's activities around the world are included.

O.T.S.P.

Scarborough Statistics: Churches, 1984. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Planning 187. Department. 1984.

This booklet lists the Churches in Scarborough by denomination and by community. The address of each church is provided. A map and list of vacant church sites is included. O.T.S.P.

25 Scarberough Citadel Corps - 1958-1983. n.p.: n.p., (1983). 188.

This booklet celebrates the 25th anniversary of the Salvation Army in Scarborough (Lawrence and Warden Ave). An historical sketch of Scarborough's Citadel Corps is provided. Included are pictures of the building, pictures of the band members, club members, and officers. O.T.S.P.

Anglican

189. Archives Committee. The Church of St. Bede. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1972.

A history of the church 1924-1935. The church events are itemized from its beginning when Rev. Curliss conducted classes in the ratepayers hall to the dedication of the church in 1935.

O.T.S.P.

190. Bonis, Robert R. A History of St. Margaret's in the Pines, West Hill and the Parish of Scarborough 1833-1983. West Hill, Ontario: St. Margaret's Church, 1983.

A history of St. Margaret's 1833-1983 has a section on Rev. W. H. Norris, Rev. W. S. Darling, and Rev. W. Belt. Pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

191. Bonis, Robert R. The Story of St. Margaret's Church West Hill and the Parish of Scarborough 1828-1953. West Hill, Ontario: n.p., (1953.)

A detailed history of St. Margaret's and its community 1828-1953. Quotations from journals included. The author also supplies some pictures of the church and its incumbents.

O.T.S.P.

192. Bonis, Rev. Robert F. St. Paul's Church - L'Amoreaux. Agincourt, Ontario: (n.p.), 1967.

This is a very detailed descriptive historical sketch. It makes mention of early settlers such as David Thomson, Asa Danforth, James Kennedy, Archibald Glendinning, and many more. The author covers the history of the parish from 1828-1966. Pictures trace the growth of the church and its parish.

O.T.S.P.

193. Braken, Reverend Canon, H.N. "St. Simon and St. Jude." Sermon given at St. Jude's Anglican Church, 1973. (typewritten).

This sermon was given to celebrate St. Jude's 125th anniversary. It briefly recounts the history of the Anglican Church in Scarborough 1832-1973.

Brief Historical Sketch of Christ Church Scarboro to mark the occasion of the Ninetieth Anniversary of the Founding of the Church, held on Sunday, May 10, 1939. n.p.: n.p., 1939.

This commemorative booklet celebrates the 90th anniversary of the Church's opening. A list of Reverends, pictures of the Church, and photos of the first incumbent and the present incumbent in 1939 are included.

O.T.S.P.

195. Christ Church Scarboro 1846-1946. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A very brief history of the church and its community.

O.T.S.P.

196. Church of the Holy Trinity (Anglican). (Guildwood Village, Ontario: n.p., n.d.)

A folder used to contain inserts of Church activities. A short history of the Church is included.

O.T.S.P.

197. Church of St. Jude, Wexford: 125th Anniversary. (Scarborough, Ontario): n.p., 1973.

Newspaper commemorating the 125th anniversary of St. Jude's. An historical sketch and historical pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

198. The Church of St. Simon, Apostle and Martyr, Highland Creek, Ontario: Dedication Service. (Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1957)

The order of service marking the dedication of the new building. A brief history of the congregation of St. Simon's is included.

O.T.S.P.

199. Graham, M. Audrey. 150 Years at St. John's, York Mills 1816 - 1966. Toronto: General Publishing Company Limited, 1966.

A detailed history of St. John's with only brief references to Scarborough (York Township) on pages 65 and 70.

O.T.S.P.

200. Hayne, A.E. The Consecration of Christ Church. n.p.: n.p., 1981.

An order of service commemorating the consecrating of the Church. Historical note included.

O.T.S.P.

201. Hayne, A.E. One Hundred and Twenty-Five Years. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A one page history of Christ Church and its community.

O.T.S.P.

202. Higginson, T.B. The Church of England Parish of Scarborough in 1853: The First Report of the Rev. W. Belt to the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

This paper briefly explores the history of the Church and its community, with excerpts from Christian Guardian and British American Presbyterian.

O.T.S.P.

203. A Larger St. Nicholas Anglican Church (Birch Cliff) Will Serve... Birchcliff, Ontario: n.p., 1914.

A request for funds to replace the church building which was felt to be inadequate. A photograph of the old building and a plan for the proposed new Church are included.

O.T.S.P.

204. Nicholl, John; Spearing, B.; and Spearing, J. This is St. Peter's. (Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1975.)

A short historical sketch of St. Peter's Anglican Church 1955-1975. Short biographies of three church rectors are included.

205. Nicholson, Fred J. The Story of 100 Years of the Church of St. John the Baptist, Norway. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

This booklet explores the history of St. John the Baptist Anglican Church. There is a brief historical section on St. Nicholas in Birch Cliff Scarborough. (pp. 45-46)

O.T.S.P.

206. 125th Anniversary, St. Paul's L'Amoreaux 2nd Oldest Anglican Church in Scarborough: A brief History. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A very brief history of the church including a list of the parish members and a list of the bishops of the Diocese of Toronto.

O.T.S.P.

207. The Parish of the Church of the Epiphany, Scarborough. "Some Highlights." (typewritten)

The history of the church is outlined very briefly from 1908-1975.

O.T.S.P.

208. Paterson, Reverend Canon J.D. "Our New Parish of St. Ninian's Scarborough." (typewritten)

Brief historical notes on the church by the man who is responsible for naming the parish and for obtaining the 600 year old stones presented to the church from the ruins of St. Ninian's Abbey Whithorn Scotland.

O.T.S.P.

209. "Proposed New Church for St. Simon's" The Enterprise. 12 January 1948, p.17.

An article on the proposed new church for St. Simon's. A sketch is included. Reference is also made to St. Margaret's.

O.T.S.P.

210. Scarborough, Ontario. Christ Anglican Church. Account book of Receipts and Expenditures. 1922-1936. (handwritten)

A small notebook containing the accounts for the church. A picture of the church is included.

A.C.A.

211. Scarborough, Ontario. Christ Anglican Church Confirmation Register of Christ Church Scarborough; St. Margaret's West Hill; St. Jude's Wexford; St. Paul's L'Amoreaux and St. Simon's Highland Creek. 1855-1956.

Records of the people confirmed in a number of Churches in Scarborough. Included are records of baptisms 1843-1853, burials 1845-1853, marriages 1853-1865 and certificates of election of lay delegates for several Scarborough Churches.

A.C.A.

212. Scarborough, Ontario. Christ Anglican Church. Service Register. 1905-1944. (handwritten)

This service register contains a list of incumbents of the Parish of Scarborough, 1840-1940.

A.C.A.

213. Scarborough, Ontario, Christ Anglican Church. St. Margaret's Dispute, folder of Correspondence. 1889-1890. (handwritten)

A number of letters and notes regarding the dispute between the congregation of Christ Church and its rector Reverend Frederick Burt about the closing of St. Margaret's. Introduction to the letters can be found in Scarborough historical collection.

O.T.S.P.

214. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Bede's Anglican Church Archives Committee Correspondence. 1972.

A number of letters pertaining to the Archives Committee including a request for a history of St. Bede's dated March 16, 1972.

A.C.A.

215. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Crispin's Anglican Church. Archives Committee Correspondence. 1966. (handwritten)

Included are letters written to Mr. D. C. MacIntosh, Rev. H.N. Bracken, and Rev. P. Leckie regarding incumbents of St. Crispin's.

A.C.A.

216. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Crispin's Anglican Church Service Register, 1921-1935.

This register contains a list of church wardens and parishioners.

A.C.A.

217. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Giles Anglican Church. Archives Committee Correspondence. (handwritten)

Included is a letter from Reverend Robert Trant asking about the origin of an organ recently acquired by St. Giles. (July 27, 1970)

A.C.A.

218. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Margaret's in the Pines. Service Register. 1906-1948. (handwritten)

This register contains a list of the incumbents of Scarborough Parish from 1840-1938

A.C.A.

219. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Margaret's in the Pines. Vestry Minute Book. 1906-1929. (handwritten)

This church minute book contains a list of those who subscribed to build the church. Receipts and a list of expenditures are included.

A.C.A.

220. Scarborough, Ontario. St. Margaret's in the Pines. The Young Anglican People's Association Class Book. 1957.

A list of the members of the Association. The classes were taught by R.R. Bonis and includes members such as Sylvia Bonis and Wayne Helliwell.

A.C.A.

221. Shepherd, Rev. Thomas. The History of the Church of St. George. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A history of the church from its conception in 1952 when services were held in Fairmount Public School until the 1980's.

222. The Story of St. Peter's Anglican Church. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., n.d.

A brief history of St. Peter's concentrating on the church organization and church groups.

O.T.S.P.

223. St. Jude's Anglican Church: A Short History. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A brief sketch of the church from 1816 when Dr. John Strachan was holding services at Ketchum's store until 1962 when Rev. G. B. Snell re-dedicated it as St. Jude's Chapel, an Historical Site.

O.T.S.P.

224. St. Paul's Church L'Amoureaux, One Hundredth Anniversary 1840-1940. n.p.: n.p., (1940)

This order of service commemorating the church's 100th anniversary includes a historical sketch.

O.T.S.P.

225. St. Simon's: 50 Years 1925-1975. (Scarborough: n.p., 1975.)

Brief notes on the history of St. Simon's parish in Highland Creek from its connection with the parish of Scarborough in 1925 to 1981 when Rev. Michael Pollesel was appointed incumbent.

O.T.S.P.

226. St. Paul's L'Amoreaux Centre Dedication, November 22, 1978. n.p.: 1978.

An order of service commemorating the dedication of the church. This booklet discusses the building of the church and the people responsible for it.

O.T.S.P.

227. Wilkinson, Rev. F.H. Dedication of Church of St. Jude. (Scarborough, Ontario.: n.p., 1959.)

This order of service for St. Jude's Anglican Church commemorates its dedication. Includes a history and an architectural note by Savage and West.

O.T.S.P.

Presbyterian

Bonis, Reverend Robert Raynes. The Story of St. Margaret's Church West Hill and the 228. Parish of Scarborough, 1833-1953: A Souvenir of the 120th Anniversary of the building of the Church. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1953.

This work traces the growth of the church in detail. It describes the church's attempts to cope with changes in the surrounding community. The author quotes from Adam Elliot's journal and provides some pictures.

O.T.S.P.

Bonis, Robert R. The Story of St. Margaret's in the Pines (West Hill) 1833-1966 West 229. Hill: n.p., n.d.

An update of Robert Bonis' The Story of St. Margaret's Church: Pioneers of the Parish of Scarborough 1828-1943. The author added historical data on the years 1944-1966 and added more recent photos of St. Margaret's and its incumbents.

O.T.S.P.

Briard, E.J. History of Grace Presbyterian Church, West Hill, Ontario. Scarborough, 230. Ontario: n.p., 1978.

The history of the church is briefly outlined from the early 1950's to 1978.

O.T.S.P.

Bridlewood Presbyterian Church. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1972. 231.

This is a building proposal for the Warden Avenue location of the Bridlewood Presbyterian Church. It includes building plan sketches, cost breakdown, and membership figures. It was submitted by the presbytery June 1972.

P.C.A.

Bridlewood Presbyterian Church. Service of Dedication of the New Building by the 232 Presbytery of East Toronto. Toronto, Ontario: Presbytery of East Toronto, 1973.

This order of service was used for the dedication of the new Bridlewood Presbyterian Church building on Warden Avenue. The service was held on September 16, 1973, 3 pm. On the back page a brief history of the church is given.

233. Brief History of Clairlea Park Presbyterian Church. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A brief history of the church beginning in 1951. It includes a brief description of the church's first ministers.

O.T.S.P.

234. Brief History of Clairlea Park Presbyterian Church. n.p.: n.p., 1971.

A very brief history beginning in 1951 when a Sunday School began in Regent Heights Public School as an outreach of Emmanuel Presbyterian Church. The building of Clairlea Park Presbyterian Church began in 1956.

O.T.S.P.

235. Brown, Jane C. Guildwood Community Presbyterian Church: The First Fifteen Years 1960-1975. n.p.: n.p., 1975.

A history of the church 1956-1975. Information on the various church groups and activities is included.

O.T.S.P.

236. Centennial Committee of the Presbytery of East Toronto. A Photographic Record of the Edifices Erected for Presbyterian Worship Within the Bounds of the Presbytery of East Toronto. Toronto, Ontario: Presbytery of East Toronto 1974.

Includes pictures and short notes on the following churches in Scarborough: Bridlewood, Clairlea Park, Knox, Melville, St. David's, St. Stephen's, Westminster, Wexford, Fallingbrook, Guildwood Community.

O.T.S.P.

237. Crozier, Rev. Hugh G. Melville Presbyterian Church Centennial, 1852-1952. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1952.

This booklet consists of two parts. The opening section describes the first fifty years of the church. The second section deals with the church's activities in West Hill up until 1952. It contains a number of photographs and list of the church members who served in the world wars.

238. Directory Fallingbrook Presbyterian Church 1981. Downsview, Ontario: TGG Photographic Industries, 1981.

Photographs of church members and a directory of their names and addresses. Also includes a brief history of the church.

O.T.S.P.

239. Fallingbrook Presbyterian Church. The Dedication of the Church. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1959.

This order of service was used for the dedication of the new Fallingbrook Presbyterian Church on Kingston Rd. The service was held on Sunday May 10, 1959, at 3 pm. A brief history of the church from 1946-1959 is included.

O.T.S.P.

240. Fallingbrook Presbyterian Church. Reaching Out, Building on a Firm Foundation, Prayer-Faith-Sacrifice-Service. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1953.

A booklet for church building fund and includes a brief church history from 1946-1956.

O.T.S.P.

241. A History of Melville Presbyterian Church, West Hill, Ontario. 1852-1967 -- Canada Centennial Edition. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1967.

This booklet is a reprint of Melville Presbyterian Church Centennial 1852 - 1952. It includes an additional section chronicling the church's history to 1967. Included is a list of church land transactions.

O.T.S.P.

242. History of St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church, Scarborough. n.p.: n.p., 1973.

A history of the church from its beginnings in Golf Road School, June 1957 to 1973.

Jenkins, Muriel. "Grace Seasoned with Salt, a Profile of Reverend William Jenkins, 243. 1779-1843." Ontario History. 51 (Spring 1959): 95-104.

The biography of this energetic Presbyterian minister who preached in Scarborough and many other nearby towns. Jenkins was the minister on a part time basis to St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church.

O.T.S.P.

Knox Presbyterian Church. Forward in Faith and Service. n.p.: n.p., 1978. 244.

A booklet containing the church's 130th anniversary services. A brief historical outline from 1818-1979 is included.

O.T.S.P.

Knox Presbyterian Church. One Hundred Years of Presbyterianism in Scarborough 245. 1848-1948. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1948.

A history of Knox Presbyterian church in Scarborough. Included are: a list of ministers; a historical sketch; a list of church officers; and a communion roll.

O.T.S.P.

McCowan, W. H., ed. The History of St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Scarborough, 246. Ontario. 1818-1975. Scarborough, Ontario: St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, 1976.

This book traces the history of the Parish to 1818. Includes many of the church groups. Several photographs are provided in addition to a plan of the original Thomson settlement.

O.T.S.P.

125 Years in His Service 1848-1973. Agincourt, Ontario: Graphic Reproductions, 247. 1973.

This is a history of Knox Church. It has grown from a rural church... to become the largest Protestant Church in Scarborough. The booklet discusses the various groups the church houses. It also provides a treasurer's report from 1901 and several pictures of church reverends.

248. "Portrait of a Pioneer Church St. Andrew's: where our pioneers are laid to rest." The Mirror, 8 March 1972 p.3.

A newspaper article briefly tracing the history of St. Andrew's. Pictures included.

O.T.S.P.

249. Roberts, John A. The Little Church on the Hill; Melville Presbyterian Church 1852-1977. Scarborough, Ontario: Plum Hollow Press, 1977.

The text outlines the history of the church noting important events in the community and the country "in an effort to show the interaction of church and society."

O.T.S.P.

250. "St. Andrew's Church, 1832" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (September 1984): 24-26.

Extracts referring to Scarborough from Rev. W. Proudfoot's diary. The diary gives a picture of the township and the state of the congregation in 1832.

O.T.S.P.

251. St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church Dedication, February 27, 1966. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p. 1966.

This order of service was used for the dedication of the new St. Stephen's Presbyterian Church. The service was held on February 27, 1966. A brief historical sketch is included.

O.T.S.P.

252. Thompson, R. Paul. A Fruiting Branch; a History of Clairlea Park Presbyterian Church Scarborough, Ontario. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1976.

A history commemorating the church's 25th anniversary.

O.T.S.P.

253. Westminister Presbyterian Church Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1974.

A brief history of the church and its congregation from 1928 to 1975.

254. Wexford Presbyterian Church, Service of Dedication, Sunday February 17th, 1963. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1963.

This order of service was used for the dedication of the new Wexford Presbyterian Church. A brief historical sketch is included.

Roman Catholic

255. Holy Spirit Church. n.p.: n.p., 1957.

A history of the church and the community of Agincourt.

O.T.S.P.

256. Lanphier, Rev. Charles B. Centennial Year, 1854-1954 St. Joseph's Parish. Scarborough, Ontario: St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, 1954.

This booklet marks St. Joseph's expansion drive to commemorate its centennial. It provides the history of the church and lists the pastors from 1848-1954. A picture of the interior and exterior of the church is provided.

O.T.S.P.

257. 125th Anniversary History of the Parish of St. Joseph's Highland Creek, 1854-1979. Highland Creek, Ontario: St. Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, 1979.

The book summarizes the history of the church, listing the various pastors until 1979. It displays pictures of some of the parish families, the church itself in various stages of expansion and some of the earlier pastors. Information on the church's many services is included. There are also a few photos of ministers from other Scarborough churches.

O.T.S.P.

258. No Greater Sacrifice. n.p.: n.p., [1960.]

This booklet discusses the construction of the church and the need for funds. A floor plan is included.

O.T.S.P.

259. Pocock, Rev. Philip F. Solemn Blessing of the new St. Rose of Lima Church. [Toronto, Ontario]: n.p., 1961.

A commemorative booklet celebrating the dedication of St. Rosa of Lima on Lawrence Ave., East Scarborough. Pictures are included.

260. St. Dunstan's Roman Catholic Church. St. Dunstan's 1923-1963, Fortieth Anniversary. [Toronto, Ontario]: n.p., 1963.

The commemorative booklet contains a brief historical sketch.

O.T.S.P.

261. St. Dunstan's Roman Catholic Church. St. Dunstan's 1923-1973, Fiftieth Anniversary. Toronto, Ontario: n.p., 1973.

The commemorative booklet celebrating St. Dunstan's 50th anniversary includes a general history of the church and its parishoners and administration.

O.T.S.P.

262. St. Joseph's Church, Highland Creek, 125th Anniversary, 1854-1979. Toronto: Missian Press, 1979.

This commemorative booklet includes a history of the parish, a list of priests who served at St. Joseph's, and a history of St. Malachy's and St. Brendan's Schools.

O.T.S.P.

263. St. Joseph's Parish, Highland Creek. Centennial Year 1854-1954: Published on the occasion of the One Hundredth Anniversary of the Establishment of St. Joseph's and to mark its Expansion Drive to Commemorate the Centennial May 1954. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p. 1954.

This commemorative booklet contains a biographical sketch of Rev. Charles B. Lanphier and a history of St. Joseph's Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

264. St. Maria Goretti Roman Catholic Church. Welcome to St. Maria Goretti Parish. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1970.

Booklet celebrating the solemn blessing of the church. A brief historical sketch is included.

265. 30th Anniversary: Church of the Immaculate Heart of Mary. n.p.: n.p., [1982].

The booklet celebrates the church's 30th anniversary. The history of St. Mary's mission house and its activities is included. Pictures provided.

United

266. Anniversary: Knox United Church Agincourt, Ontario. Agincourt, Ontario: n.p., 1972.

A booklet celebrating the church's anniversary. An historical sketch from 1818 to 1922 is included.

O.T.S.P.

267. Barker, W.W. "Outline of the History of The First United Church Birchcliff." Toronto, 14 September 1942.

A short sketch of the early years of the First United Church, Birchcliff. The author includes some of his own personal recollections.

O.T.S.P.

268. Boorne, Jack. Church History of Zion-Wexford United Church Scarborough, Ontario. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A brief history of the church from its origins in 1829. Included is a general outline of Methodism in Canada. A list of ministers who served at Zion Wexford is included.

O.T.S.P.

269. Centennial United Church 1891 - Diamond Jubilee - 1951: The Story in Six Decades. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A booklet celebrating the church's jubilee. A history is included from 1883 to 1948. There is also a list of war veterans.

O.T,S.P.

270. Church of the Covenant United Church of Canada. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A very brief historical sketch discussing the beginnings of the church in 1964.

271. "Corner - Stone Laying at Birchcliff Church, Toronto." The Canadian Congregationalist. (4 July 1923).

This articles describes the ceremony celebrating the laying of the cornerstone at Birchcliff. A list of documents placed in the stone is included.

O.T.S.P.

272. Cosburn, A.R. "A History of Our Church." A Talk given to the Couples Club, 12 Feb. 1950.

This history of Knox United Church traces its beginnings back to 1848 until 1945 when more improvements were made.

O.T.S.P.

273. Davis, Dale F. The Church in Old Malvern 1864-1968. n.p.: n.p., 1978.

A history of Malvern Church and its community beginning in 1854. A number of pioneer families are mentioned, and charts and lists are included.

O.T.S.P.

274. Dedication...Glen Ayre United Church. Scarborough: n.p., n.d.

This order of service includes a map of the church.

O.T.S.P.

275. Dunbarton Presbyterian Church. Report of the Meeting for the Establishment of Dunbarton Presbyterian Church.

Minutes of the meeting that discussed the establishment of the church, January 1853.

O.T.S.P.

276. Dunbarton Presbyterian/United Church. Minutes of the Congregational Meetings, 1843-1894. (typewritten).

These minutes include a brief historical sketch of the church and its parish 1851-1853.

U.C.A.

277. Dunbarton Presbyterian/United Church. Minutes of the Congregational Meeting 1905 - 1963.

A very brief historical sketch is included 1835-1904.

U.C.A.

278. Ellis, Anne Marie. A History of Washington United Church and its Community from 1803. [Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1983.]

A history of the church and its congregation. Brief histories of the Annis and Washington families are included. Contains drawings and photographs.

O.T.S.P.

279. 50th Anniversary: St. Paul's United Church, This is our Story. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A history of the church and its congregation. A number of pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

280. Fitzpatrick, Rev. John D. History of Zion United Church Scarboro - 1829-1889. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1942.

The history of the church is traced back to the beginnings of Methodism in Canada. A list of ministers is included.

O.T.S.P.

281. The Golden Anniversary 1940: Scarboro Junction United Church. n.p.: n.p., 1940.

This commemorative booklet includes a brief historical sketch. Notes on the church groups are supplied.

O.T.S.P.

282. Hillside Church 100 Years 1877-1977. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A history of the church and its parish. A Sunday School list from 1924-1925 is included.

283. Historical Sketch of Knox United Church, Agincourt, Ontario: n.p.: n.p., n.d.

A history of the church and its congregation beginning in 1796. Included are historical notes on the various pastors, the choir and other church organizations. Some pictures supplied.

O.T.S.P.

284. History of Iondale Heights United Church. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

This historical outline sketches the beginnings of Iondale Heights United Church in the early 1950's.

O.T.S.P.

285. The History of Wexford United Church Scarborough, Ontario: 1842-1955. n.p.: n.p., [1955.]

The history of the church is traced back to 1829 when church services were held in neighbouring homes. The building of the church is briefly discussed.

O.T.S.P.

286. Knox Church Scarboro' Agincourt, Ontario: 1848-1923. Toronto, Ontario: The J. L. Nichols Co. Limited, [1923].

A souvenir booklet celebrating the church's 75th anniversary. An historical sketch is included. Notes on the various church groups and their histories are supplied.

O.T.S.P.

287. Knox United Church Agincourt: 100th Anniversary 1848-1948. Agincourt, Ontario: n.p., 1948.

This booklet published to commemorate the church's 100th anniversary includes a historical sketch, shortnotes on past pastors and descriptions of the various church groups.

288. "Malvern United Church." n.d. (typewritten).

Brief historical notes on the Primitive Methodist Church in Malvern. Included is a list of significant dates taken from the Mission Records from 1867 to 1962 and a list of ministers who have served Malvern Church from 1864 to 1963. Two notices written by J. Markham for The Christian Journal (Oct. 10, 1864; Nov. 4, 1864) provide information on the opening and construction of the chapel.

O.T.S.P.

289. "Malvern United Church". n.d. (typewritten).

One page briefly exploring the history of Malvern United Church from 1829 to 1969.

O.T.S.P.

290. 125 Years in His Service, 1848-1973. n.p.: n.p., 1973.

This booklet commemorates the church's 125th anniversary. A history of the church, congregation, and church clubs are included. Pictures and charts supplied.

O.T.S.P.

291. One Hundredth Anniversary - Knox United Church. Agincourt, Ontario: n.p., 1948.

A booklet commemorating the church's 100th anniversary. A historical sketch is included.

O.T.S.P.

292. Price, H.F. "Our Notable History." in Centennial United Church Silver Jubilee of the Ordination of our Minister Reverend Stanley H. Greenslack. n.p.: n.p., 1945.

A very brief history of the church. A list of previous ministers is included.

O.T.S.P.

293. Scarboro Junction United Church. Golden Jubilee Anniversary 1890-1940. n.p.: n.p., 1940.

This order of service was published in honour of the church's Golden Anniversary.

Short historical notes are included.

O.T.S.P.

294. Service of Dedication of the First Phase of the Extension of Birchcliff United Church. n.p.; n.p., 1959.

This order of service commemorates the dedication of Birchcliff United Church on April 5, 1959. A brief historical sketch is included.

O.T.S.P.

295. St. Paul's United Church. Placing of the Datestone and The Services of the Opening and Dedication. n.p.: n.p., 1955.

This order of service includes a brief historical sketch beginning in 1921.

O.T.S.P.

296. Through Sixty Years At. Centennial 1891-1951. n.p.: n.p., 1951.

A booklet commemorating the church's sixtieth year. Historical sketch included.

O.T.S.P.

297. To the Glory of God... We Build: St. Paul's United Church Scarborough Bluffs. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

This booklet provides a description of St. Paul's United Church, as part of a request for support for an extension to the church. Pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

298. Wilmar Heights United Church; Its Early History and Development. Scarborough, Ontario: n.p., 1964.

The history of the church is traced from 1950.

O.T.S.P.

299. Zion-Wesford United Church Celebrates the Centennial of its Country Church. n.p.: n.p., 1976.

A very brief history of the church discussing a few of the changes in the Wexford community.

300. Zion-Wexford Church Celebrates the 50th Anniversary of the United Church of Canada. n.p.: n.p., 1975.

This small leaflet outlines the highlights of the year 1975.

O.T.S.P.

301. Zion Wexford United Church. Scarborough, Ontario: Church Directories of Canada Limited, 1969.

The booklet consists of the history of the congregation beginning in 1829 and ending in 1968. Included is an extensive collection of pictures of the church members and their names and addresses.

Education

Primary and Secondary

302. Agincourt Collegiate Institute. Agincourt, Ontario: n.p., 1957.

A programme from the services held for the commencement exercises and opening of the addition in 1957. Included are names of award winners, pictures of the new addition, a short history of the school and a staff list and picture.

O.T.S.P.

303. Allison, Jay. Teaching Typing to Primary/Junior Children with Specific Learning Disabilities. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1983.

The author is a teacher at Lynngate Junior Public School whose study assesses the possible benefits of a formalized typing program for children who have language/reading/writing deficits.

O.T.E.R.

304. Bell, Ian et al., A Century of Education: Pickering Township. Pickering, Ontario: [Pickering Township School Area No. 2, 1967].

This booklet provides histories of individual schools in Pickering and Scarborough. Scarborough schools described include: West Rouge School, Rouge Hill School, and William G. Davis School. Photographs of schools, school crests, and school activities are supplied.

O.T.S.P.

305. Bendale Junior Public School. Bendale Junior Public School 25th Anniversary 1957-1982. [Scarborough, Ontario: Bendale Junior Public School, 1982.]

This commemorative brochure celebrating the 25th anniversary of Bendale Junior Public School includes: a list of the original staff at Bendale; a brief history of the community; a list of special highlights at the school; notes on the principals; and a list of the staff from 1957-1982.

306. Birch Cliff Heights Public School 50th Anniversary 1922-1972. Scarborough, Ontario: Birch Cliff Heights Public School, 1972.

This brief booklet discusses the history of the school and the reasons behind its conception. Notes on school programmes are also included.

O.T.S.B.A.

307. Bird, Maureen, and Strobel, Joe. 'The Health Hustle." Canadian Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation Journal. 44: 3 (January-February 1978): 3-9.

The article describes an idea developed in Scarborough called the Health Hustle. Music is played over the P.A. system and the whole school performs a short workout to the music.

O.T.S.P.

308. Blantyre Public School. Blantyre Public School: 50th Anniversary 1928-1978. Scarborough, Ontario: Blantyre Public School, 1978.

The collected memories of various individuals tell the history of the school. Includes a list of principals and the 50th anniversary song.

O.T.S.P.

309. Board of Education for the Borough of Scarborough - Five Year Master Plan September 1978 - June 1983. Scarborough, Ontario: The Board of Education, 1978.

A plan designed to shape Scarborough schools and their programs. It discusses such problems as declining enrolment, staffing accommodation and programs. It sets priorities for regular and special programs. The plan covers elementary, secondary, and senior public schools.

O.T.S.P.

310. Board of Education. Board of Education for the City of Scarborough Planning Guide 1986-1991. n.p., 1986.

This report is a Five Year Framework Plan for Scarborough's Board of Education. The report outlines long term plans and information of the board, regarding future financial, personnel, planning and operations, plant, and program department and Student and Community Services in regard to education in Scarborough.

311. "Building timetables with a touch of serendipity." School Progress 41 (July 1972): 18-19.

This article explores the use of computers employing the Ascot system (a system for construction of timetables) pioneered by the Scarborough Board of Education. The system was developed by David Allen, manager of Computer services in the Scarborough Board of Education.

O.T.S.P.

312. Campbell, Warren C. "A High School Physical Fitness Testing Kit." Canadian Association for Health Physical Education and Recreation Journal. 43: 3 (January-February 1977): 3-5.

This article describes the use of a fitness testing kit in Scarborough schools. The test gives students a personal fitness evaluation in seven major areas: agility, flexibility, vital capacity, strength, power percentage of body fat and cardiovascular efficiency.

O.T.S.P.

313. Catling, M. and Donfrio, M. A History of Warden Avenue. Scarborough, Ontario: Warden Avenue Public School, 1978.

A commemorative brochure celebrating the school's 25th anniversary concentrating on its history 1952-1978. Pictures of the school in 1895 and in 1969 are included.

O.T.S.B.A.

314. Centennial Celebration of S.S. No.1 L'Amoreaux 1868-1968. Scarborough, Ontario: Centennial committee, 1969.

The first L'Amoreaux School was built in 1817. A new school named S.S. No. 1 L'Amoreaux School was built in 1868. The author provides the names of the teachers from 1817-1968. Often salary paid, number of students and other details are supplied. Included are photographs and reproductions of some school documents.

315. "Classroom Computer Takes the Tedium out of Math." School Progress. 40 (February 1971): 18-20.

This article explores the implementation of a computer at Sir Wilfrid Laurier Collegiate Institute. The head of the math department at Laurier gives his impressions of the computer and its merits. A short description on how to use the computer is included.

O.T.S.P.

316. "Closing the Gap Between School and Work". School Progress. 38 (July 1969): 32-33.

This article examines R. H. King's cooperative program. Comments from businessmen, teachers and students involved in the program are provided.

O.I.S.E.

O.I.S.E.

317. Colwell, Bob; Thurston, Sharon; and Wideman, Ron. "A Relevant Considerations Approach to Reflective Values Education." *Education Canada*. 20: 4 (Winter 1980): 13-19.

Scarborough's Values Education Project is discussed in detail.

O.I.S.E.

318. Courcelette Public School. Courcelette Public School: A Brief History. Scarborough: Courcelette Public School, 1981.

A brief history of this Scarborough school from 1911-1981. Includes a list of school principles. Background description of the lake front district is provided.

O.T.S.P.

319. Danforth Gardens Public School: 25th Anniversary, 1957-1982. Scarborough, Ontario: Danforth Gardens Public School, 1982.

This commemorative yearbook celebrating the 25th anniversary of Danforth Gardens Public School contains very brief notes on the history of the school. Pictures of pupils and school activities are included.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

320. Davis, Rev. William C. 'The Trustee's Role - A Personal View." OCLEA. 19 (Spring 1980): 11-12.

The chairman of the Scarborough Board of Education attempts to define the role of a school board trustee.

O.T.S.P.

321. Denny, George. Kindergarten Report Card Comments as Indicators of Future Pupil Placement. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1983.

This study is designed to determine the appropriateness of the Scarborough Early Identification model and whether comments placed on Kindergarten report cards bear any relationship to future pupil placement.

O.I.S.E.

322. Dilling, H.J. "What Provisions for Vocational Education? Special Education in Canada. 51: 3 (Spring 1977)

This article discusses Scarborough's vocational schools and the need for more vocational schools in Ontario. Pictures included.

O.T.S.P.

323. Dilling, H.J. and Vernon, Ruth. Evaluation of the Junior Kindergarten Program in Scarborough. n.p.: Research Department Board of Education, 1971.

This study includes: a survey of the perceptions of senior Kindergarten teachers who have children from the junior Kindergarten classes; a survey of the junior Kindergarten teachers regarding their own program; and analysis of the surveys. Charts and questionnaires included.

O.I.S.E.

324. Eastview Junior Public School Announces their 25th Anniversary on Saturday, April 19th 2 pm. n.p.: n.p., 1980.

This brochure commemorating the celebration of the 25th anniversary of Eastview Junior Public School 1955-1980, includes a brief history of the school and its principals.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

325. Filson Glen. Report on Community Education: The Choice Between Authority and Democracy. n.p.: Scarborough Board of Education, 1975.

This report describes what was happening in community education in Scarborough in 1975. It includes possible future focus of community focus in Scarborough. A map of the schools under the Scarborough board of Education is provided.

O.I.S.E.

326. Hall, Ronald M. "The Proposed Curriculum for Stephen B. Leacock Collegiate Institute Scarborough 1970." *Headmaster*. (Spring 1969): 22-26, 39.

A working plan written by Leacock's principal in which he describes how he hopes the school will function.

O.T.S.P.

327. "Here's a Team Teaching School." School Progress. 36 (April 1967): 54-56.

The article describes the basic organization of North Bridlewood Junior Public School. It is the first school designed for team teaching in Scarborough. A floor plan of the school is included. Also provided is a list of facts and figures.

O.T.S.P.

328. Higginson, T.B. and Nicholson, Fred. "Alexander Muir; Did He Teach in S.S.#3?" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (May, September 1981): 28.

Muir taught in several schools in Scarborough including Berner's School (SS #3). He was considered an unorthodox but excellent teacher.

O.T.S.P.

329. Hillier, Helen. "Forty Years of Teaching in Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 4 (February 1980): 17-19.

School life, especially in the 1920's, '30's, and '40's, recalled by a life-long Scarborough resident, student and teacher.

330. "How 3-School Campus Copes with Future Flexibility." School Progress. 36 (May 1967): 42-46.

The article examines the 3 school complex of Stephen Leacock Secondary School, John Buchan Senior Public School and Pauline Johnson Junior Public School. The advantages the system provides are discussed in detail. Diagrams are included.

O.T.S.P.

331. Hubel, Donna R. School Morale. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1982.

The purpose of this study was to administer a school morale survey to a sample of teachers at various Scarborough schools and compare the results to those in past years.

O.I.S.E.

332. Ijaz, Mian Ahmed. Ethnic Attitudes of Elementary School Children Toward Blacks and East Indians and the Effect of a Cultural Program on these Attitudes. Dr. E. dissertation. University of Toronto, Department of Educational Theory, 1980.

An education thesis conducted in four Scarborough elementary schools.

O.T.U.

333. John A. Leslie Public School: 50th Anniversary 1923-1973. Scarborough: John A. Leslie Public School 1973.

A commemorative brochure containing a brief history of John A. Leslie Public School and the man himself. Lists of principals from 1923-1971, of the staff in 1923, and of the staff in 1972-1973 are included.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

334. Kennedy, B. School History: S.S. No. 14. Scarborough, 1913-1945. Ontario: n.p., 1944.

A history of Agincourt Public School. The booklet discusses the important events in the school's history including a visit from the Governor General of Canada, Lord Byng, in 1923. Enrolment and number of teachers are recorded until 1944.

O.I.S.E.

335. Lauder, Ken. Perceived Importance of Various Social and Academic Skills. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1983.

The intent of this study is to aid educators, students, and support staff in developing an understanding of those skills judged to be critical for success in school.

O.I.S.E.

336. Leedle, Glenda. French Immersion Programs - The Effect on the English Program with Reference to Spelling. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1981.

The hypothesis of this study is to determine whether English students do better than French Immersion students in spelling in Grades 4 and 5.

O.I.S.E.

337. Little, Jean C. Ringing Out 100 Years of School Days. Scarborough Ontario: Centennial Committee, C.H. Berner School 1972.

The book consists of a detailed history of S.S. No. 3 C.H. Berner School and the surrounding area. Many of the early families are mentioned.

O.T.S.P.

338. Lo, Vince and Thompson, Nora. L'Amoreaux Roots '82: A Survey of the Student Population at L'Amoureaux Collegiate. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1982.

The purpose of this study was to determine the number of cultural groups represented in the school, the proportion of students in each group, and the extent of their involvement in extra-curricular activities.

O.I.S.E.

339. Dick Lochan ed. Scarborough Intercultural Initiatives Coalition - Youth Leadership 1981 Training Program. n.p., n.p. December, 1981.

This report describes a program for youths focusing on leadership skills. It concludes with the youths planning a program for community services.

O.I.S.E.

Mason, Pamela. "K-13 is not a new Chemical Formula." Catholic Trustee. 9 (October 1969): 5-7.

The author discusses the Stephen Leacock Educational Complex as the first attempt by Canadians to provide a flexible environment for students throughout their public school career. Included is a description of the facilities available.

O.I.S.E.

341. Meadowvale School 1954-1979. Scarborough: Meadowvale Public School, 1979.

A brief history of the school presented in yearbook form. A number of photographs of past classes and activities are included.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

342. Nicholson, T.F. "Edmund R. Jacques and Educational Controversy" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (November 1983): 10-13.

This article discusses a controversy in 1866 over the supply of school texts. Included are letters from E.R. Jacques to various editors including George Brown from the Globe and Mail. E.R. Jacques taught in S.S. #3 until his death in 1872.

O.T.S.P.

343. Nicholson, T.F. "Education and Scarborough, 1827-1870." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 4 (November 1980): 5-12.

After a general introduction to the Ontario educational system of that time, the development of schools in Scarborough is traced. Based on information in the Archives of Ontario, it sometimes conflicts with published accounts. Includes tables and a map.

O.T.S.P.

344. Powers, Cyril, B. "St. John's School at Scarborough (1893-1957) Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 4 (September 1980): 1-4.

A history of the industrial school operated by the Roman Catholic Church in southwest Scarborough. Neil McNeil High School is now on the site. 5 illustrations. The author served at the school for nearly 25 years.

Program Department, Scarborough Board of Education. An Examination of Basic 345. Education in Scarborough Schools. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1976.

An investigation of attitudes towards the quality of education in Scarborough in the past and in the present.

O.I.S.E.

Research Department Board of Education. Research Report: Comparative Statistics 346. on Pupil Retirements: Scarborough Secondary School 1964-1965 and 1968-1969. n.p.: Board of Education, 1971.

A comparative study on the number of students 'retiring' from Scarborough schools in the years 1964-1965 and 1968-1969. The study defines a retiring student as "one who ceases to attend any Ontario public or secondary school." A number of tables are included.

O.I.S.E.

Scarboro Collegiate Institute 1922-1947: Past and Present in Facts and Figures. n.p.: 347. n.p., n.d.

This silver anniversary booklet includes a history of the school, its trustees, staff, activities, and contributions. There is a brief section on "Scarboro at War" supplying a list of boys who contributed. Photographs included.

O.T.S.P.

"Scarborough Board of Education." Canadian School Journal. 46 (July - August 348. 1968): 17.

This article explores the advantages of the use of computers in the Scarborough schools - for administrative and educational purposes.

O.I.S.E.

Scarborough Board of Education. Minutes and Appendices. Scarborough, Ontario: 349. The Scarborough Board of Education. 1963.

The recorded minutes from the Scarborough Board of Education meetings for 1963. The volume includes a list of the members present at each meeting, reports presented to the board and letters dealt with by the board. O.T.S.P.

Scarborough, Ontario Board of Education, Committee on Early Admission of 350. Children to Kindergarten. The Progress Report of the Committee on Early Admission of Children to Kindergarten. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Board of Education, 1972

This report explores the possibility of the implementation of Junior Kindergartens in Scarborough schools.

O.I.S.E.

Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Village Public School Reunion Guestbook, 15 351. February 1965. (handwritten)

Beside some of the names in this book are the dates in which the person in question attended the school.

O.T.S.P.

Schofield, Richard. Golf Road School: 25th Anniversary, 1953-1978. Scarborough, 352. Ontario: Golf Road School, 1978.

Includes a short historical sketch of Golf Road School and a short history of the community in which the school exists. The author makes brief mention of such people as David Thomson, Asa Danforth, William Cornell, Levi Annis, James Humphrey and James Carnaghan. Class pictures, honour roll, and a list of award winners are provided.

O.T.S.P.

Schofield, Richard. "The Opening of S.S. #7, Highland Creek School: A Corrected 353. Account" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (May 1984): 17-18.

This article deals mainly with the opening of Highland Creek school in 1918. A list of the students present in its first year is included.

O.T.S.P.

Schofield, Richard, ed. "School Days in L'Amoureaux: an Account by J.C. Clark." 354. Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (May, September 1981): 18-21.

A fascinating insight into the teachers and teaching methods of the 1850's and 1860's country school including a less than flattering description of Alexander Muir's eccentricities.

355. Schofield, Richard. Remember When... Public School Education. Scarborough, Ontario: By the Author, 1978.

A brief summary of Public School education from the time of the pioneers to the formation of the Scarborough Board of Education in 1954. With a brief outline of the board's first 25 years. A number of photographs are included.

O.T.S.P.

356. Schram, Donald F. and Thompson, Nora. "The Expanded role of the Counsellor in a Multicultural School." School Guidance Worker. 33: 5 (May-June 1978): 11-15: reprinted ed; 35: 2 (November-December 1979): 54-58.

The article supplies a brief history of L'Amoreaux Collegiate Institute and ethnic origin of its students. The school's attempts to help immigrant students adjust are described. Also mentioned are the ways in which the counsellors are preparing themselves to handle the problems that arise in a multicultural school.

O.T.S.P.

357. Sprumont, Barbara L. The Technical Graduate in Scarborough: A Survey of Employment, Further Education, and Perceptions about Technical Education in High School 1971-1976. n.p.: n.p., 1977.

This study discusses the extent to which technical education has been beneficial to collegiate graduates with specific reference to job prospects. A number of tables are included.

O.I.S.E.

358. Sullivan, Virginia. 50th Anniversary: Birch Cliff Public School, 1916-1966. Scarborough: Birch Cliff Public School, 1966.

A history of Birch Cliff Public School, which is located on the north-west corner of Birch Cliff Avenue and Kingston Road.

Watt, J.J. "Humanizing Large High Schools ... What Can Be Done? Ontario Education. 6 (November-December 1974): 10-14.

An address given to the Canadian Education Association Conference in 1974. Watt talks about the methods of humanizing high schools using L'Amoreaux high school as the model.

O.T.S.P.

360. West, D.W. History of Chine Drive Public School 1955-1980. Scarborough, Ontario: Chine Drive Public School, 1980.

This commemorative brochure celebrating the 25th anniversary of Chine Drive Public School, includes a history of the school; tables of student enrolment; photographs of the school and its activities; and staff lists 1955-1981.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

361. West Hill Public School. West Hill Public School 1921-1971. Scarborough, Ontario: West Hill Public School, 1971.

This commemorative brochure celebrating the school's 50th anniversary, includes a history of the school; brief notes on school activities; and some early photographs of the school and its pupils.

O.T.S.B.E.A.

Whitehead, Phil. "A student's View of Alternative Education." Education Canada. 18: 2 (Summer 1978): 32-35.

The author describes a few of the frustrations and disappointments found in ASE, Alternative Scarborough Education.

O.I.S.E.

363. Wideman, Marilyn E. Research Directory. Scarborough, Ontario: The Board of Education for the Scarborough Board of Education, 1983.

The directory supplies an annotated list of the research projects involving Scarborough, its teachers, schools, and students.

O.I.S.E.

Wideman, Ron L. "Implementing Values Education in a School System." Education Canada. 19: 1 (Spring 1979): 16-22.

The author describes how Scarborough developed its approach to solving two difficult problems its values education project encountered. The first problem was developing guidelines for an effective values education program. The second problem was to find ways to improve teacher competency related to those guidelines.

O.I.S.E.

365. Wideman, Ron. "Improving Teacher Competency in Values Education." Education Canada. 19: 3 (Fall 1979): 4-8.

An outline of the way the Scarborough Board of Education helps teachers to become wiser and more effective values educators.

O.I.S.E.

Post Secondary

366. Bissell, Claude Thomas. Halfway Up Parnassus: A Personal Account of the University of Toronto, 1932-1971. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1974.

References to Scarborough College can be found on (pp. 55-56)...(History of the College buildings) and on (p. 65) (the isolation of Scarborough College from the rest of U of T.)

O.T.S.P.

367. Centennial College Presents Progress Campus Opening September, 1977. n.p.: n.p. (1977)

This booklet introduces the new Progress Campus. It describes the outline of the campus and its advantages. Future plans and present courses are also discussed. Pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

368. Ferguson, Edith. Immigrants and Education. Toronto: Ministry of Culture and Recreation, Multicultural Development Branch, 1976.

A talk given at a conference on immigration at Centennial College, Scarborough, on May 1, 1975. (10 pgs.) Gives a general overview of cultural differences which make it difficult for immigrants to make use of the educational system.

C.C.C.C

James, Lois. "Will Scarborough College 'flunk out' (extension programs) Continuous Learning. 7 (September-October 1968): 198-202.

James notes the impersonal way in which students became treated when Adult Education in Scarborough became an adjunct of the main U of T Extension programme. He adds that professors and courses no longer cater to community needs.

C.P.I.

370. Mika, Nick. Toronto, Magnificent City; An Illustrated Look At A Great Metropolis By Nick and Helma Mika. Belleville: Mika Silk Screening, 1967. p. 128

An illustrated look at Toronto. On page 40 there is a colour drawing of Scarborough College.

371. Plumptre, A.F.W. "Scarborough College: An answer to under-graduate explosion." School Administration. 3 (July 1966): 9-11.

This article lists the reasons for the construction of the college. It outlines the basic function of the institution, its services, its teacher-student ratio, and its future prospects. Pictures included.

O.I.S.E.

372. Quick, Don. "Plus Factors of Video Tape offer New Horizons." School Administration. 1 (November 1964) 34.

The article briefly outlines Scarborough College's plans for its television teaching system. The results and future development of the program are also discussed briefly.

O.I.S.E.

373. Toronto, Ontario. University, Scarborough College. The Socio-Economic Environment of Scarborough College: The Sixties. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough College, 1972. 164 p.

This report provides a socio-economic profile of Scarborough in terms of population trends, population composition, education, income, housing and the labour force. It also examines factors affecting university enrollment in Scarborough including educational, social, religious, occupational and income factors. Much of the data used was from the 1961 census. Study is comprehensive and includes numerous charts, graphs and tables.

Wheeler, G.W.B. Centennial College: The Early Years. (Scarborough, Ont.): Centennial College of Applied Arts and Technology, (1977). 128 p.

Wheeler describes the origin and formation of the college. It includes information on the first board, the staff, graduation, student activities, etc. In addition, he examines each division within the school separately. Numerous photographs accompany the text.

O.T.S.P.

Architecture

375. Abbey. D.S. "Educational Needs and Architectural Solutions". The Canadian Architect. 12 (October 1967): 68, 72.

The text of a talk given at the "Education and Architecture in the 20th Century" design workshop that was held at Scarborough College. The speaker provides a critique of the building, and gives special attention to the building's effect on students and its efficiency regarding contemporary teaching methods.

O.T.M.C.L

376. Andrews, John; et al. "Scarborough College, Ontario". The Canadian Architect. 11 (May 1966): 39-62.

This article provides an overview of Scarborough College's architecture and a commentary by the architect, John Andrews, on the design concepts he used. Photographs, plans and diagrams of the school are included.

O.T.M.C.L.

377. Authur, Eric Ross. Toronto No Mean City. (Toronto): University of Toronto Press, 1964, Second Edition, 1979.

This book provides a record of buildings in Toronto with architectural or historical merit. Arthur includes buildings that are still standing as well as those that have disappeared. Numerous photographs accompany the text. The buildings located in Scarborough that are described are: page 23, Asa Danforth's contract with the Russell Administration to extend Danforth Road to Trent in 1799; page 43, Half-way house located between Dunbarton and St. Lawrence Hall, on Kingston Road, c. 1820 with a photograph; page 44, The Village of Ganatsekwyagon on east bank of the Rouge River as cited on Charlevoix-Bellin's map of 1744; page 86, Abbe Fenelon and Father d'Urfe's Mission on the Rouge River; page 21, David Thomson, builder of the first legislative buildings (brick); and on page 197, The Toronto Hunt Club on Kingston Road east of Fallingbrook Road.

378. Baird, George. The Architecture of Public Works: R.C. Harris Commissioner Toronto: City of Toronto Archives, 1982.

Catalogue of an Exhibition at the Market Gallery of the City of Toronto Archives, June 30 - August 15, 1912. The R.C. Harris Filtration Plan on Queen Street East at Nursewood is included on pages 22-24.

379. Banz, George. "Student Village: A Critique". The Canadian Architect. 15 (October 1970): 42-45.

Banz suggests that although the Scarborough Board of Education's social and educational objectives have been met at the Stephen Leacock Educational Complex; the complex has not achieved a "Village" Character. Illustrated.

O.T.M.C.L.

380. "Bellemere Public School". The Canadian Architect Yearbook. (August 1966): 54-56

Bellemere Public School successfully combats the problems of cost, comfort, estheticism in a residential area and makes allowance for future extensions. Photographs and diagrams are included.

O.T.M.C.L.

381. "Birch Cliff Heights School, Scarborough Twp." Construction 15 (December 1922): 390, 392-393.

Scarboro High School was the first rural high school in Ontario. This article describes what had been completed to date, and provides several photographs and floor plans. It should be noted that the building was designed in such a way as to make extensions possible at a reasonable cost.

O.T.S.P.

382. Boigon, Irving D. "Making a College out of a Warehouse". Canadian University. 2 (November-December 1967): 42-43.

The architect tells how in a ten week period his firm converted an old factory warehouse into the quarters for the Centennial College of Applied Arts and Technology. Pictures are included.

O.I.S.E.

383. Bray, Betsy. "Gardner's Home". Ontario Homes and Living. 4 (August 1965): 10-11

The home of landscape architect Leslie Solty is photographed and described. His love of gardening is evident throughout the home.

O.T.S.P.

384. Brown, Elton and Murray, "St. George's Anglican Church, Scarborough. Church floor Plan". 1958.

An architect's plans of the block, basement, and first floor of St. George's Church dated July 14, 1958.

ACA

385. Cazaly, Lawrence. "Engineering: Prestressed Truss Design for Big Garage". The Canadian Architect 1 (March 1956): 47-49.

A description of the construction, materials, and costs of the Toronto Transit Commission's garage, located at Birchmount Road and Danforth Road. Photographs and a diagram are also included.

O.T.S.P.

386. Chuhay, Carol. Heritage: A Guide For The Study and Appreciation of Architecture, in the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough: Scarborough Board of Education, 1978. 113 pages.

A guide to Scarborough architecture: secular, ecclesiastical, primary and secondary heritage sites. Includes maps, diagrams, and photocopies of photographs. Table of contents and resources bibliography.

O.T.S.P.

387. "Current Academic Buildings in Canada: Stephen Leacock Educational Complex."

The Canadian Architect 12 (March 1967): 44-5.

The Stephen Leacock educational complex is composed of a junior and senior public school, and a collegiate. Architects Abram's and Ingleson's method of flexibility in education for children from kindergarten to Grade 13 is presented complete with floor plans and diagrams.

388. DuBois, Fairfield B. "Albert Campbell Library, Scarborough, Ontario." The Canadian Architect 17 (January 1972): 38-43.

The architect describes the site of the library and the particular problems it presented. As well, the building's structural system and use of floor space are discussed. Several photographs accompany this article.

O.T.M.C.L.

389. DuBois, Sally. "Albert Campbell Library: interiors." The Canadian Architect 17 (January 1972): 44-5.

DuBois points out that the interior of the library is an extension of the architecture itself. She also refers to the materials used in the buildings construction and to the interior graphics.

O.T.M.C.L.

390. Duncan, George. ""Fairview" The William Purdie House, 1857-1981." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments 7 (September 1983): 9-13.

A detailed description of the Purdie House, with drawings and floor plans included.

O.T.S.P.

391. Duncan, George. "The McCowan Log House; A Historical and Structural Study." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (February 1981): 13-17.

In this architectural and historical study, Duncan examines the origin of the house, its residents, structural changes, etc. Photographs and diagrams are included.

O.T.S.P.

392. Duncan, George. 'The Hough Carriage Works - An Historical Representation/Replica - A Bicentennial Project.' Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (September 1984): 18-20.

This article describes the design process for the Hough Carriage Works historical representation/replica, The Cornell House Museum's expansion project. Duncan provides an explanation of how the design of the new Museum building was developed through historical research. Diagrams of the carriage house are included.

393. Duncan, George. "Lyburn House Part III - An Architectural Analysis" Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (November 1984): 20-24.

The author describes the architectural history of Lyburn House overlooking Highland Creek and the Scarborough Golf Club. The exterior and interior are described. Numerous diagrams and floor plans are included.

O.T.S.P.

394. "Expansion for Scarborough College" Architecture Canada. 48 (July 12, 1971): 1.

The features and the cost of the 1971 extension on Scarborough College are outlined.

O.T.M.C.L.

395. "Manse Road Senior Public School Scarborough, Ont." The Canadian Architect 14 (November 1969): 56.

This school is a complex of 4 basic clusters accommodating administrator, core subjects, sciences and special subjects. The resource center is the heart of the school. The teaching units are open plan and accommodate instruction of small and medium groups. Diagrams and a photograph are included.

O.T.M.C.L

396. Moriyama, R. "Design Process." The Canadian Architect 18 (November 1973): 34-41.

Moriyama discusses in some detail the problems encountered in the designing of the Scarborough Civic Centre. Diagrams and photographs are included.

O.T.S.P.

397. "North Bridlewood Junior Public School, Scarborough, Ontario." The Canadian Architect. 13 (December 1968): 32-36.

Includes a description of the interior of the school, highlighting its open plan concept. Diagrams and photographs.

O.T.M.C.L.

398. "Office and Plant, Burndy Canada Ltd." The Canadian Architect. 2 (October 1957): 27-32

This article provides a description of the Burndy Industrial building located in Scarborough. The Burndy building combines both factory and office space in a pleasing and effective way.

O.T.S.P.

399. "Ontario's First Rural High School." Construction 15 (December 1922): 389-390.

Scarborough High School on Kingston Road is cited as the first rural high school in Ontario. Its educational facilities are deemed comparable to those found in urban centres. A description of the lay out, construction, and capacity is provided, as well as several floor plans.

O.T.S.P.

400. "Perspective." Canadian Architect 15 (February 1970): 8.

This is a brief two line article that described the materials used, the location, and the completion date of the Albert Campbell district library.

O.T.S.P.

401. Prangnell, P. "Critique: Scarborough Civic Centre as Envelope Architecture." Canadian Architect 18 (November 1973): 42-7.

After discussing Moriyama's personal interpretation of the Civic Centre, Pragnell gives his own critique of the structure.

O.T.S.P.

402. "Retirement Residence for Brothers of the Christian Schools, Scarborough, Ontario."

The Canadian Architect 13 (December 1968): 54.

A brief description of the facilities offered in the residence includes photographs and diagrams.

403. Russell, Paul. "John Andrews' Scarborough College." Arts Canada 24 (August-September 1967): insert.

This article discusses the architectural success of Scarborough College which is described as a multi level building complex. Russell compares the building with other examples of architecture throughout the world. Numerous photographs are included.

O.T.M.C.L.

404. Saccoccie, William. "Holy Trinity Anglican Church Designs and Plans." 1966.

Architectural blue prints for the church, dated March 1966.

A.C.A.

405. "St. Augustine's Seminary, Scarboro. Construction 8 (December 1915): 484-487.

Details concerning the one hundred and twenty acre Roman Catholic Theological Seminary are outlined, accompanied by photographs and a floor plan. The materials used, the site, the capacity, and the cost of the building are a few of the topics mentioned.

406. "St. Augustine's Seminary, Toronto." Contract Record 25 (18 October 1911): 41-42.

This is a summary of the seminary's layout, construction, heating, lighting, and plumbing arrangements. The names of those involved in its construction are also cited.

O.T.S.P.

407. "St. Joseph's Novitiate. Contract Record & Engineering Review 31 (November 1917): 945-946.

Details of the construction and the layout of the novitiate owned by the Sisters of St. Joseph which is located on Kingston Road is discussed. Special attention is given to the plumbing system. The names of the people involved in the buildings construction are listed.

408. "Scarborough Centennial Recreation Centre, Ont." The Canadian Architect 12 (August 1967): 58-60.

This article discusses how the architects were able to unify indoor and outdoor activities in one building. The facilities include an olympic pool, racquet sport courts, ice arena, etc. Diagrams and photographs are included.

O.T.M.C.L.

409. "Scarborough Civic Centre, Ontario". Canadian Architect 18 (November 1973): 32-3.

A brief description is given of the Scarborough Civic Centre, including size, offices, parking, and structural system.

O.T.S.P.

410. "Scarborough College." Canadian Architect 9 (May 1964): 58.

This article discusses the initial plans and designs for Scarborough College. It also includes the long term expansion plans. Photographs and diagrams accompany the article.

O.T.M.C.L.

411. "Scarborough College." Canadian Architect 9 (March 1964): 10.

Scarborough College's first phase of construction in the summer of 1964 is outlined, and central academic space is described.

O.T.M.C.L.

412. "Scarborough College, Ontario". The Canadian Architect Yearbook. (December 1966): 64-66.

A discussion of how Scarborough College combined climatic and construction problems with their educational purpose and architectural philosophy. Numerous photographs accompany the text.

413. "Scarborough College - Test Case in Planning Triumphs and Tribulations." School Administration. 1 (November 1964): 28-33.

This article focuses on the planning of Scarborough College. Topics discussed include site preparation and construction; new planning techniques; the difficulties experienced; and novel design features of the College. Diagrams and pictures included.

O.I.S.E.

414. "Senator O'Connor High School: Scarborough, Ontario". School Administration. 2 (May-June 1965): 13-14.

This short article provides a general description of the school's structure, services and major features offered. A plan of the school is included. The text is technical in nature.

O.I.S.E.

415. "Student Village: Stephen Leacock Educational Complex, Scarborough, Ontario". The Canadian Architect. 15 (October 1970): 36-42.

The philosophy behind the organization of this educational complex is discussed. Photographs and floor plans accompany the commentary.

O.T.M.C.L.

416. "Tecumseh Senior Public School: Scarborough, Ontario." Canadian Architect. 14 (August 1969): 43-46.

The merits of the building, the materials used, and the names of those who constructed the school are summarized. Numerous pictures and floor plans are also provided.

O.T.M.C.L.

417. Thom, Ron et al. Exploring Toronto, revised edition. Toronto: Toronto Chapter of Architects in Affiliation with Architecture Canada, 1974.

A picture of Scarborough College and a short history of the building is provided on (pp. 122-123).

418. 'Toronto". Contract Record & Engineering Review 26 (November 1912): 53-59.

This article offers a brief historical sketch of Toronto's growth as exemplified by its architectural achievements. Included is St. Augustine's Seminary located on Kingston Road in Scarborough (p. 56). A sketch of the seminary is provided (p. 56).

O.T.S.P.

419. "Westminster Presbyterian Church Hall." Canadian Architect 6 (March 1961): 59-60.

Using photographs, plans and comments, this article discusses the construction, the costs, and materials of this Church Hall.

O.T.S.P.

420. "Wexford Collegiate: Scarborough, Ontario." School Administration 2 (November-December, 1965): 9-10.

This article provides the plans for Wexford Collegiate. Included are: a general description of structure, services provided, and materials used. There is a short section on the major features offered. A floor plan is supplied.

O.I.S.E.

421. Whiteson, Leon. "Looking at Toronto". Toronto Star.

This Architecture Series includes these Scarborough articles. Two copies are in S.P.C.'s Historical Collection Vertical File:

"Metro's boroughs fight for identities with civic centres" - January 2nd, 1982. (Scarborough Civic Centre mentioned);

"Bits and pieces of history make a mad marvel" - August 15, 1981 - (focuses on Guild Inn);

"Architect re-invents Scarborough" - February 7, 1981 (Raymond Moriyama and the Scarborough Civic Centre);

"Library a bold monument to "Honest A'" - June 5, 1982 (Albert Campbell Library);

"Scarborough's College a pitch for democracy" - June 12, 1982 (Scarborough College, U. of T.);

"Centre for disabled serves special duties with honest grace" - August 1, 1981 - (The Variety Village Sport Training and Fitness Centre.);

"How an architect jumps that elusive Miracle Gap" - August 8, 1981 (Raymond Moriyama. The Scarborough Civic Centre is mentioned.);

"Metro Zoo a theatre that puts us on stage." April 4, 1981.

O.T.M.C.L.-C.H.M. O.T.S.P. - V.F.

Williams, D.C., Andrews, John et al. "University of Toronto Scarborough College." Royal Architectual Institute of Canada. 41 (July 1964): 61-6.

The educational and design philosophy are discussed as well as particular features and problems of the site are presented. Photographs and diagrams are included.

M.C.-F.A.

423. Yapp, Russell. "Feedback, North Bridlewood Revisited". The Canadian Architect. 14 (December 1969): 26-42.

This study examines the open concept used at the North Bridlewood Junior Public School from the point of view of teachers, students and parents. Yapp records the opinions of all three groups. Numerous photographs and diagrams are included.

Economic History

Arthur, E. and Whitney D. The Barn: A Vanishing Landmark in North America. 424. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1972.

This is a photographic essay of barns throughout North America built in the last 3 centuries. On pages 74, 75 and 79, there are photographs of barns at Milliken Corners.

O.T.S.P.

Best, P. "Two Big Shopping Centre Expansions Hit Toronto." Financial Post, 18 425. (August 1979) p. 16.

A discussion of the Eaton Centre and of Trizec Corporation's Scarborough Town Centre, the first Ontario Shopping Centre to house 3 major department stores.

O.T.S.P.

Gillen, Mollie. The Masseys: Founding Family. Toronto: Ryerson Press, 1965. 426.

Pp. 138-141 and 148 describe Dentonia Park, a 240 acre model farm and country estate, part of which is located in Scarborough.

O.T.S.P.

Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review. Population and Employment 427. Forecasts for 1981. Toronto: (Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review) 1973.

This report provides estimates of Population and Employment in Metro Toronto and surrounding areas. Population and employment statistics for Scarborough appear in a number of tables.

O.T.S.P.

Morrish, M. "Genesis and History of the W. J. Morrish General store." Paper 428. presented to the Scarborough Historical Society at the Bendale Library by Murray Morrish, 19 April 1977. 20 p.

A history of the Morrish store in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. This store was located on Kingston Road at the east end of the Village of Highland Creek. Also included is a "brief resume of the history of the Morrish family" during the era of the store. O.T.S.P.

Agricultural

429. Secor, Clark. ""Barn Raisings" - Personal Recollections." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 1 (September 1977): 2-4.

The grandson of Scarborough's first reeve recalls in detail, with 5 illustrations, the construction of barns at the turn of the 20th century.

O.T.S.P.

430. Secor, Clark. "The Rolling Hitch." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 1 (November 1976): 1-2.

Illustrates how boulders were removed from the field or ground without the aid of machinery.

Industrial

431. Bonis, Robert R. Hydro-Electric Power in Scarborough. Scarborough Public Utilities Commission, 1966. 32 p.

Describes the 1st use of electric power in Scarborough, Scarborough's first electric lights, Scarborough's involvement with Ontario Hydro and Scarborough's Hydro System. Includes photographs and maps.

O.T.S.P.

432. Kerr, Donald and Spelt, Jacob. "Manufacturing in Suburban Toronto." Canadian Geographer. 12 (1958): 11-19.

In this description of the expansion of manufacturing in Metropolitan Toronto since 1945, Scarborough is compared to other areas in terms of number of employees and plants and size of firms. Reasons are given why specific companies chose individual suburbs for their locations. Charts and maps are included.

O.T.S.P.

433. Murphy, J. G. "Scarborough's Golden Era." Ontario Hydro News. 42 (July-August, 1955): 2-5, 32.

Scarborough's hydro system is traced from its introduction in 1917 to 1954. Industrial growth is also briefly discussed.

O.T.M.C.L.

434. Ontario. Environmental Assessment Board. In the matter of an Application by Manville Canada Inc. for approval to rehabilitate a portion of their existing waste disposal site located at 5421 Lawrence Avenue East, in the City of Scarborough. Toronto: Queen's Printer, 1984.

This is a report of the public hearing held before the Environmental Assessment Board from November 28/84, to March 9/84, to consider the application of Manville Canada Inc. to move asbestos waste from one area of Manville's property to another. The report provides a summary of the evidence given at the hearing as well as the Board's recommendations and the reasons for their recommendations.

Weller, James. Rouge Industrial District Study. Prepared by James Weller for Metropolitan Toronto Planning Board and Borough of Scarborough Planning Board. (Toronto) 1973. xi, 214 p. Diagrams. Illustrations. Maps.

This report outlines land use and zoning in the Rouge district and recommends a plan of development which is designed not to disturb the Zoo or the Malvern community.

O.T.U.S.A.

Transportation & Communication

Public Transportation

436. Due, John F. The Intercity Electric Railway Industry in Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1966.

This study describes the rise and decline of the electric railway industry in Canada. It includes a general history of the industry, the development of the lines, their financing and control, and a brief account of the individual companies which operated the roads. Scarborough references: p. 16, 84, 85 ... the Scarborough Line.

O.T.S.P.

437. Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review. Existing Transportation: Part B: School Busing. Toronto: (Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review), (1973).

A brief survey of the size and nature of non-TTC school bus services. Scarborough is included in a number of charts and tables on pages 2, 6, 8 & 9. On page 7, it is mentioned that Scarborough has 150 buses and services them.

O.T.S.P.

438. Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review. A Review of Proposed Additions to Toronto's Subway System. Toronto: (Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review), 1974.

This report discusses the proposed changes in Toronto's subway lines. On pages 26-40, the construction of Kennedy Station is examined. Pictures and maps are included.

O.T.S.P.

439. Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review. Strengths and Weaknesses. Part 9 Summers. Toronto: (Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review) 1973.

A summary of the most significant strengths and weaknesses of the Metropolitan Toronto transportation system. Scarborough's transportation system is discussed on pages 9 & 10.

Office of the Toronto General Directory. Every Place in Canada and How to Get to It: Forming a Complete Key to Canada; Her Post Offices, Railway and Steamboat Stations, Stages & Telegraphs; With A Hotel Guide and Other Useful Memoranda For The Traveller. Toronto: Maclear, Thomas & Co., 1857.

This book points out the means of transportation in many places in Canada. On p.123, Scarborough's Station for the Grand Trunk Railway is mentioned.

441. Pursley, Louis H. Street Railways of Toronto, 1861-1921. Los Angeles: Interurban Electric Railway Publications, 1958. (Interurbans Special 25) (Available in microfiche).

This publication explores the history of street cars in Toronto. Scarborough references on pages 21, 24 and 39.

O.T.S.P.

442. Pursley, Louis H. The Toronto Trolley Car Story 1921-1961. (Los Angeles): I. L. Swett, 1961. 164 p.

This volume tells of the establishment of the Toronto Transportation Commission and its subsequent taking over of the city and suburban electric railway companies of the area. The history is told year by year to 1961. Reference to the Scarborough line pp. 23, 24, 28, 29, 30, 33, 34, 39, 74, 80.

O.T.S.P.

443. Toronto Transit Commission. Transit in Toronto. (Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission), 1971. 68 p.

The story of the development of public transportation in Toronto from horse cars to a modern, high speed subway system. Includes a reference to the extension of the subway system into Scarborough.

O.T.R.S.

444. Waddington, Gary. "A Proposal for Short-Term Transit Improvements in Scarborough." B.A. Thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1978.

Waddington's proposals are concerned with improving the transit accessibility of the Scarborough Town Centre and general transit service, particularly in the eastern and north-eastern parts of the Borough. Waddington surveys existing transportation facilities and then looks at factors affecting transportation in Scarborough as well as suggesting a new train system. This new train system is described in terms of routes, costs, ridership potential, etc. Maps and tables are included. Coverage is fairly technical.

Roads

Breithaupt, W.H. "Dundas Street and Other Early Upper Canada Roads." Ontario Historical Society Papers and Records. 21 (1924): 5-10.

Breithaupt includes in his article a brief paragraph (p.7) on the construction of Danforth Rd, so named after Asa Danforth, who accepted the contract to build the road in 1798.

O.T.S.P.

446. Corporation of the Borough of Scarborough: Works Department Traffic Section comp., Street Name Index. (Scarborough, Ontario): Borough of Scarborough, 1972.

A list of streets in the Scarborough Area supplying the lot, the concession number and the community in which each road belongs. Maps are included.

O.T.S.P.

447. Cross, Michael. "The Stormy History of the York Road, 1833-1865." Ontario History 54 (March 1962): 1-24.

Cross discusses the problems of construction of 3 major York roads: Yonge Street, Dundas Street and <u>Kingston Road</u> in the 1830's. Cross examines the difficulties obtaining funds as well as the decision to make Kingston Road into a planked road.

O.T.S.P.

448. Kingsford, William. History, Structure And Statistics of Plank Roads in the U.S. and Canada. Philadelphia: A. Hart, 1852.

Describes the planking of Kingston Road in 1835-36. (p.5). This was the 1st plank road in North America. Kingsford quotes from the Report of the Commission of the Yonge Street Road, 1837 describing the construction of the road.

449. Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review. The Scarborough Expressway: A Planning Review. Toronto: Metropolitan Toronto Transportation Plan Review, (1974).

This report discusses the plan for the proposed Scarborough Expressway, an alternative alignment for the Gardiner Expressway Extension. The volume examines existing conditions, alternatives, impacts, compensation costs for residential and commercial properties, projected future with and without the expressway, and public reaction to the expressway. A number of tables and charts are included.

O.T.S.P.

450. Myrvold, Barbara. The Danforth in Pictures: A Brief history of the Danforth. Toronto: Toronto Public Library, 1979.

A history of Danforth Road, how it was built, changes in the road and people living in this vicinity. A number of pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

451. O'Halloran, B. Joan. "Along the Danforth Road: A History of Scarborough's First Hundred Years." Student Research Project. (typewritten)

The author explores the importance of Danforth Rd. in the settlement and development of Scarborough.

O.T.R.S.

452. Bundy, Robert G. "Highland Creek Bridge." CCRA News, June 1981, p. 13.

The author is Commissioner of Parks and Property for Metropolitan Toronto. He announces the completion of the building and repairs to two bridges and the pedestrian bicycle path by Morningside Park. He also states that there will be a new bridge over Highland Creek into Colonel Danforth Park.

O.T.S.P.

453. Canadian Archaeological Divers Society. The Wreck of the S.S. Alexandria 5p. n.p. 1967 (8) p.

An account of a ship wrecked off the Scarborough Bluffs. Includes photographs and a list of the crew.

454. Charlebois, Peter. Sternwheelers & Sidewheelers: The Romance of Steam-driven Paddleboats in Canada. Toronto: N.C. Press Limited, 1978.

This book explores the history of Sternwheelers and Sidewheelers in Canada. On p. 78, the author mentions the Alexandria, the boat grounded two hundred feet off the Scarborough Bluffs in 1915. He reveals the causes of the accident, the ship's cargo, and the rescue attempts.

O.T.S.P.

455. Guillet, Edwin C. Pioneer Travel in Upper Canada. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1966.

This volume contains Section IV of Guillet's Early Life in Upper Canada "Pioneer Travel and Transportation." Scarborough references on p. 25, 134-5, 146.

O.T.S.P.

456. Hart, Peter R. "A bridge for people." Civic: The Public Works Magazine 24 (February, 1972): 28-30.

Peter R. Hart of M.M. Dillon Ltd., Consulting Engineers and Planners, gives a detailed account of the construction of the bridge built in 1972 on Lawrence Avenue E. which crosses the Highland Creek Valley.

O.T.S.P.

457. Little, Jean C. "Scarborough Independent Telephone Company." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 5 (November 1981): 9.

Brief history of the telephone service started in Malvern in 1905 and running until purchased by the Bell Telephone Company in 1940.

458. Schofield, Richard. "Nineteenth Century Post Offices Serving Scarborough." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 1 (September 1977): 1-2.

A list of the post offices with the date opened and the name of the first postmaster. Also included are 6 post offices not within Township boundaries but serving Scarborough residents.

459. Schofield, Richard. Post Office Buildings Serving Scarborough Township: The First Hundred Years. 1832-1932. 1977 11p.

Schofield provides the names of early postmasters, the locations of post offices and the dates they were established. Other interesting facts are mentioned including the "postal feud" between Highland Creek and West Hill. A very useful account.

O.T.S.P.

460. Schofield, R. "The role of Transportation in the Development of Scarborough During the Nineteenth Century." Highland Creek, 1975. (typewritten).

According to this paper different modes of transportation influenced the development of Scarborough at different times. From 1791-1855 the pattern of roads set up by the surveys of Augustus Jones influenced development. From 1855 onward the railway influenced developments.

Medical and Health Services

461. Cronin, Fergus. End of An Era; *The Story of Scarborough General Hospital*. (Scarborough, Ontario: The Hospital, 1974).

The booklet describes how in 1950 the Sisters of Misericorde financed and planned the completion of Scarborough General Hospital. They converted their 48 bed hospital on Jarvis St. to a 500 bed hospital serving the undeveloped Scarborough Area. The sisters ran the hospital until 1972. Due to lack of sufficient personnel the administration was turned over to the lay direction of its board of governors.

O.T.S.P.

462. Dr. Samuel R. Richardson. Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (February 1980): 16.

A brief biographical sketch of a doctor who practiced in Scarborough from 1876 to 1880.

463. Godfrey, Charles M. Medicine for Ontario: A History. Belleville, Ontario: Mika Publishing Co., 1979.

A history of medicine in Ontario. Scarborough's first resident doctor, R.D. Hamilton, is mentioned as a member of the Upper Canada Medical Board on p. 46. There is also a short biographical note on the doctor on p. 276.

O.T.S.P.

464. Hacker, Carlotta. The Indomitable Lady Doctors. Toronto: Clarke Irwin, 1974.

Includes a biography of Dr. Jennie Trout (1841-1921), who was the first woman licensed to practice medicine in Canada. She lived for a number of years in Scarborough and it was there (in Scarborough) that she retired.

465. Higginson, T.B. "Dr. Duncan McDiarmid "Friend of the Poor" and of J.W. Bengough." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments 3 (November 1979): 8-9.

A poetical eulogy to the Doctor who served in Scarborough from ca. 1870 until his death in 1897; written by J.W. Bengough, "the well-known cartoonist writer and editor of Grie." The poem "Dr. McDiarmid of Scarboro" is reprinted from In Many Keys (Toronto: 1902).

O.T.S.P.L.

466. Higginson, T.B. "Dr. Robert Douglas Hamilton "The Beloved Physician" Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 1 (November 1976): 2-4.

Scarborough's first doctor (1783-1857) who under the <u>nom de plume</u> of Guy Pollock wrote literary works.

467. Higginson, T. B. "Sir George Washington Badgerow; Noted Scarboro-born Surgeon." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (May 1982): 10-11.

A family background and biography of Badgerow (1872-1937), who practised in London, England, is given.

O.T.S.P.

Higginson, T.B., and Nicholson, F. "Dr. Duncan Jas. Pollock and Drs. Peter and Duncan McDiarmid; Some Discrepancies in the Records of their Practice in Scarborough". Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (September 1980): 9.

A note on certain discrepancies "between the published accounts of where and when the Doctors practiced in Scarborough and the records in the Township Assessment Rolls."

469. Hough, Donald. "Home Remedies; Found in the Papers of Mr. Thomas Hough." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (February 1980): 19-20.

Pioneer cures for a variety of ailments including bad breath, asthma, gall stones, and a case of cancer.

470. "A Medical Supermarket" (portrait) Monetary Times. 138 (February 1970): 39-42.

The Scarborough Centenary's Friesan System, so named after the hospital's designer, Gordon Friesen, is analysed. In such a system there is no head nurse per se, and routines are more flexible and patient-centered.

471. Weiss, Gary. "No License May Make Hospital a \$10-Million White Elephant," Financial Post. 13 April 1974, p. E4.

Weiss describes the "Victoria Park Medical Inn" and its problems obtaining a license as a private hospital. The owners, philosophy and financial backing of the hospital are mentioned.

Physical Geography

472. Adams, Ezra Herbert, Ed. Toronto and Adjacent Summer Resorts - Illustrated Souvenir and Guide Book. Toronto: Fredrich Smily, 1894.

This book discusses the summer resorts in Toronto and surrounding areas. The Scarborough Heights are mentioned briefly on pp. 8, 59 & 66. There is a section on Suburban Roads but Scarborough is not referred to specifically.

O.T.M.C.L.

473. Barefoot, Lynn Ann. "The Effects of Urbanization on the Water Quality of the Rouge River." B.A. Thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1981.

Barefoot analyses the quality of the Rouge River in terms of its chemical and pollutant concentrations. She also provides a chapter examining the urban development, population and land use of the Rouge River watershed. Maps and tables are included. Language is fairly technical.

474. Bigsby, John Jeremiah. The Shoe and Canoe; or Pictures of travels in the Canadas illustrative of their scenery and of colonial life; with facts and opinions on immigration, state policy, and other points of public interest. 2 Vols. London: 1850.

Possibly the first geologist to visit Scarborough Bluffs, Bigsby describes his visit here in mid-May 1823.

O.T.M.C.L.

475. Chapman, L.J. The Physiography of Southern Ontario. 2nd ed., Reprinted with Revisions. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1973, c 1966. 386 p.

This is a description of the surface of Southern Ontario. It deals with the major features controlled by the underlying rock structures and in particular describes the local land forms composed of unconsolidated materials. Scarborough references include: Scarborough Bluffs (pp. 13, 74, 113, 329, 330) and a description of drumlins in Scarborough (p. 78).

476. Coleman, Arthur Philemor. The Last Million Years: A History of the Pleistocene In North America. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1941.

Coleman discusses the Scarborough interglacial beds, and the fossils found in these beds which provide information on some of the flora and fauna that existed in these beds.

O.T.U.

477. Coleman, Arthur Philemor. The Pleistocene of The Toronto Region (including the Toronto Interglacial Formation. Forty-First Annual Report of the Ontario Department of Mines Vol. XLI, Part VII, 1932. Toronto: Herbert A. Bull, 1933. 69 p.

Coleman includes many references to the pleistocene Geology of Scarborough including: Scarborough Heights (pp. 16-19, 23, 49, 54-55); East Toronto Gravel Deposits (pp. 41-43); Scarborough Delta (pp. 24, 30, 31, 49, 55); and Scarborough Interglacial beds (pp. 8, 49).

O.T.M.C.L.

478. Didier, Louis M. "The Highland Creek Watershed: A Geographical Appreciation". B.A. Thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1955.

This paper studies all of the effects of glacial deposits on the surface topography. Didier includes information on the climate, vegetation, fauna, land use (agriculture, recreation, industrial) and a history of settlement. Includes maps, photographs, charts and graphs.

479. Faull, J.H., ed. *The Natural History of the Toronto Region*. Toronto: The Royal Canadian Institute, 1913. 409 p.

This account of Toronto's natural history includes information on geology, climate, flora and fauna. Not only are his general remarks relevant to Scarborough, which he includes as being a part of the "Toronto region" but there are specific references to the Scarborough Heights and an illustration of the "Dutch Church" in Scarborough Heights.

480. Freeman, E.B. Toronto's Geological Past: an introduction. (Toronto): Ministry of Natural Resources, 1976.

The pamphlet briefly explores the geological processes in Toronto. There are a number of references to the Scarborough Bluffs, their formation, erosion, and fossil formation. Maps and pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

481. Hainstock, H.N.; Owen, B.B.; and Caley, J.F. Ground-water Resources of Scarborough Township, York County, Ontario. Ottawa: Canada Department of Mines and Resources, 1948. (Geological Survey water supply Paper No. 290).

This report deals with Scarborough's ground-water conditions investigated by the Geological Survey in 1936 and 1937. Included in the report are descriptions of the physical features, geology, water supply and water analysis of Scarborough. Maps are included.

482. Iden, Peter. Toronto Birdfinding Guide. Toronto: A Canada Centennial Project sponsored by the Toronto Field Naturalists' Club, 1967. 52 p.

A guide to the favoured birding places in the Toronto Region. On pp. 19-20, the author briefly describes Scarborough sites: Scarborough Bluffs, Foot of Chine Dr., and Highland Creek. He lists the types of birds that can be found in these areas and suggests the best times for visits. A map is included.

O.T.S.P.

483. Jones, Carolyn. "A study of the Rates of Erosion and Recession on the Scarborough Bluffs." B.A. Thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1977.

Jones looks at the changes the Bluffs are undergoing through erosion and recession. She examines the causes of the erosion and recommends control measures to prevent the loss of property land behind the bluff edge. She includes a study of the geology of the area. Illustrations, photographs and tables accompany her paper. Language is fairly technical.

484. Karrow, P.F. Pleistocene Geology of the Scarborough Area (Geological Report #46)
Toronto: Ontario Department of Mines, 1967. 241 p.

A study of Pleistocene deposits in the Scarborough area. Topics discussed include geomorphology, stratigraphy, historical and economical geography. Report includes tables, photographs, figures, charts, and geological maps. Language is technical.

O.T.S.P.

485. Kwan, Hon. James. "Erosion Control In Metropolitan Toronto Colonel Danforth Park (Morningside Ave. to Kingston Road)." B.A. thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1975.

Kwan looks at the glacial history in the Rouge, Duffin, Highland, Petticoat watershed, the cause of the erosion, methods to control the erosion, and the results and effects on Colonel Danforth Park. Maps, tables, charts and photographs are included. Language is fairly technical.

486. March, Philip. Fabric Analysis of the Sunnybrook Till at Scarborough Bluffs, Ontario. B.A. thesis, Department of Geography, York University, Toronto, 1975.

March studies "glacial flow direction in the Toronto region during the mid-Wisconsin "Sunnybrook till" and attempts to determine "the degree of fabric variation within a single till sheet." The language used in this thesis is quite technical.

487. Ontario Department of Planning and Development. Conservation Branch. Don Valley Conservation Report. Toronto: n.p., 1950.

This report covers land use, forestry, water, wildlife and recreation for the Don Valley watershed which is bounded by the watersheds of the Rouge and Highland Creek. Taylor Creek, a tributary of the Don River, which drains the south west corner of Scarborough, is described. Of particular use is the section which describes the settlement of the area and includes reference to L'Amoreaux (p.198) and Scarborough Roads (Danforth and Kingston Road (p.67). Other useful information about Scarborough's history can be found in this section.

488. Ontario Department of Planning and Development. R.D.H.P. Valley Conservation Report 1956. Toronto: Department of Planning and Development, Conservation Branch, 1956.

The complete Conservation Report for the Rouge River, Duffin, Highland, and Petticoat Creeks. The report covers history, land use, forestry, water, recreation, and wildlife. Maps, charts, tables and illustrations are included.

489. Ostry, R.C. "An analysis of Some Tills in Scarborough Township and Vicinity." M.A. thesis, University of Toronto, 1962.

Examines the stratigraphy of various areas in Scarborough including the Taylor Creek, Guild Inn, Rouge River, Lawrence, and Lee's Road section, etc. He also analyses 5 glacial tills using means other than stratigraphy including mechanical analysis, minerology, and fabric. Maps, diagrams, photographs, charts, and tables included. Language is technical.

490. Palmer, Tim. "How We Saved Our House from Lake Ontario." Maclean's, 14 September 1957: 24, 52-59.

Palmer describes his efforts to build up the Scarborough Bluffs and stop their erosion. This erosion was threatening to topple their house into Lake Ontario.

491. Pascale, Anthony. "Runoff and Soil Erosion in the Scarborough Watershed: A Preliminary Investigation." B.A. thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1970.

The area studied is a small valley of the Highland Creek on the campus of Scarborough College. Pascale includes information on the vegetation, precipitation, topography and soil of the area. Maps, tables, and photographs are included. Language is fairly technical.

492. Pitblado, J. Roger. "Preliminary Investigations of the Soil Moisture Regimen of the Scarborough Watershed." M.A. Programme II Research Paper. Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1968.

Plitbado analyses the soil moisture in terms of causes, trends, and changes. A summary of the methods used is included. The watershed, a small part of Highland Creek, is located on the campus of Scarborough College. Charts and tables are included. Language is fairly technical.

493. Proctor, Redfern, Bousfield and Boeon, comp. Metropolitan Waterfront Plan Scarborough Bluffs Sector Limited Fill Alternative. Toronto: Waterfront Technical Committee, 1967. 711.558 PRO.

This plan proposes the expansion of three locations along the Scarborough Bluffs for parkland. Technical language is used. Maps are included.

494. "Scarboro Springs." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (September 1982) 18-19.

A short description of the "Scarborough Medicinal Springs." These springs thought to have healing effects were sulphuric in nature and have since dried up.

O.T.S.P.

495. Schoffeld, Richard. "Trees in Northern Scarborough, 1833." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 7 (September 1983) 8.

A description of the kinds of trees found in Scarborough taken from the field notes of Deputy Surveyor John Galbraith 1833.

O.T.S.P.

496. Speer, S.R. "An Examination of the Environmental Impact of Proposed Developments on Duffin Creek Marsh." B.A. Thesis, Department of Geography, University of Toronto, 1975.

Speer studies the marsh area at the south of Duffin Creek in Pickering, in terms of its physiography, vegetation, wild life, and pollution. The effect of future development on the stability and quality of the region is also analysed. Maps and tables are included. Language is fairly technical.

497. Van Steen, Marcus. Governor Simcoe and His Lady. Toronto: Hodder and Stoughton Limited, 1968.

The story of the Simcoes and their influence on Upper Canada. On page 96, Elizabeth Simcoe describes the Scarborough Heights (known then as the "high lands of Toronto") and her desire to build a summer residence there.

498. Wells, Richard. Nature and Origin of an Alluvial Fan at Scarborough Bluffs, Ontario. York University. Bachelor's Thesis, Department of Geography.

Wells presents the results of a "morphologic and stratigraphic study of an alluvial fan located at the foot of the Late Pleistocene Lake Iroquois shore bluff". He discusses the local geology, alluvial fans in general, and after describing his method and design, gives an analysis of his findings. The discussion of land formation and bluffs in general at the beginning of this paper is useful for high school students.

Military

499. Boylen, John C. "York County's Regiment". York Pioneer and Historical Society Annual Report. (1949): 23-43.

This historical sketch of the York County's Regiment includes several brief references to Scarborough. The Scarborough company officers are listed (p.25), and Lieut.-Col. George B. Little's inability to take over command due to other pressing obligations (p.40) is noted. Mention is also made of the Ladies' Auxiliaries of Mimico, Aurora, and Agincourt, who donated field kitchens to the battalion, (p.29) and the Regiment's participation in the dedication of the Scarboro War Memorial on Danforth and Kingston Rd. in 1931 (p.40).

500. Guillet, Edwin C. The Lives and Times of the Patriots: An Account of the Rebellion in Upper Canada 1837 and the Patriot Agitation in the United States 1837-1842. (N.P.): Thomas Nelson & Sons Ltd., 1938; reprinted., (Toronto): University of Toronto Press, 1968.

The author unfolds the events of the uprising between 1837-1842. Scarborough references include mention of the Scarborough contingent under MacLean (p. 21), a description of an unrecorded "battle" at Highland Creek (p. 41).

O.T.S.P.

Hunter, Capt. A.T. History of the 12th Regiment, York Rangers, With Some Account of the Different Raisings of Militia in the County of York. Toronto: Murray Printing Co. Ltd., (1912). 90 p.

A military history of the County of York (1812-1912) containing references to the Scarboro Rifles and to the names of various Scarboro men who belonged to that company. References to the Scarboro Rifles on the following pages: (p. 45), Scarboro Rifles went to Port Colborne (1866), (p. 47,49), Scarboro Rifles & Captain Taylor, (p. 50), Officers of the Scarboro Rifles (p. 27), Migration of No. 1 Company, (p. 77).

502. Stacey, Colonel Charles Perry. The Battle of Little York. Revised ed. Toronto: The Toronto Historical Board, 1971. 22 p.

A reference to Scarborough occurs on (p. 1), in which watchers on Scarborough Heights saw the American ships bound for York and warned the town.

Archaeology

503. Coatsworth, E.S. "Notes on York County's Indian Background." York Pioneer. (1956): 1-14.

Coatsworth describes the history of the Iroquois and Ojibway Indians living in York region from the 12th century to the 18th century. He begins with an outline of the archeological investigations of Tabor Hill, Scarborough.

504. Donaldson, William S. "Archaeological Research in the Rouge." Ontario Archeology 6 (January 1962): 15-20.

The author discusses five historic sites in the area, the Elliot site, the Robb site, the Fairty ossuary, the Milroy site, and the Draper site. Analysis of recovered material at these sites is included.

O.T.S.P.

505. Donaldson, William S. "Archaeological Research in the Rouge." Ontario Archaeology publication no. 6 series A no. 5. (January 1962): 15-21.

This is a slightly modified version of a paper presented at the annual meeting of the Eastern States Archaeological Federation in Toronto, October 1966. Donaldson discusses the excavations at 5 of the sites and the materials found there.

Donaldson, W.S. "Iroquoian Development in the Rouge Watershed, Ontario. Part 1: the Elliot site". *Ontario Archaeology* publication no. 8 series B. no. 3 (June 1965): 9-38.

Describes the Iroquoian settlement excavated at the Elliot Site in Scarborough. Discusses the excavation, findings (i.e. bones, tools food remains, pottery. He concludes that hunting and fishing played a major role in providing food for the inhabitants, but they also engaged in cultivation of corn and tobacco. Photographs and charts included.

507. Emerson, J. Norman. "The Village and the Cemetery." Ontario History. 48 (Autumn 1956): 184-185.

The village associated with the ossuaries discovered on Tabor Hill are discussed, especially its location and pre-historic Iroquois development in Ontario. Describes material found at the excavation site.

S.P.L.

508. History of the Tabor Hill Ossuaries in Scarborough and a Proposal for an Authentic Iroquois Indian Village. (Scarborough: n.p., n.d.)

A collection of letters, papers, pictures, maps, and newspaper articles connected with the discovery of the burial grounds at Tabor Hill.

O.T.S.P.

509. Kenyon, Walter A. "A Prehistoric Cemetery." Ontario History. 48 (Autumn 1956): 183-187.

Kenyon discusses the findings from the Iroquois ossuary discovered on August 17, 1956 on Tabor Hill. The ossuary dates back approximately 700 years.

510. Konrad, Victor A. "The Archaeological Resources of the Metropolitan Planning Area: Inventory and Prospect." Discussion Paper No. 10, Department of Geography, York University, Toronto, 1973.

An Archaeological Survey of the Metropolitan Toronto Planning area. Contains Scarborough references and an extensive bibliography that may be useful to anyone interested in Scarborough history.

Historic Sites

511. Historical Walking Tour - Thomson Settlement. n.p.: n.p., n.d.

This pamphlet contains short notes on the Mechanics Institute Library, St. Andrew's Presbyterian Church, Scarborough Centennial Memorial Library, Springfield Farm House, Indian Village Site, the William Thomson House and the Canadian Northern Railway. Also included is a map of the sites visited.

O.T.S.P.

512. Location Maps of Historical Sites in the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough: Planning Department, 1981.

This booklet provides maps of historical sites in Scarborough, many of which are not designated under the Ontario Heritage Act. Architectural descriptions are included.

513. Mika, Nick and Mika, Helma. Historic sites of Ontario. vol. 1: Encyclopedia of Ontario. Belleville, Ontario: Mika Publishing Company, 1974.

The author reproduces the texts of all of the plaques the "Ontario Archaeological and Historic Sites Board" and "The Historic Sites & Monuments Board of Canada" place on historical sites around Ontario. The plaques at The Thomson Settlement and the Scarborough Bluffs are reproduced on pp. 283-284. A picture of the bluffs is included.

O.T.S.P.

514. Scarborough Historical Society. Historical Tour. n.p. n.p., June 1959.

A written tour of historic Scarborough includes notes on Scarborough Village, The Annis family, the Cornell family and homestead, various churches in Scarborough, Scarborough Bluffs, Guild Inn and the Rouge River. Map of sites visited is included.

O.T.S.P.

515. Borough of Scarborough Planning Department. Official Plan Review Division. Historical Preservation Policy. (Scarborough, Ontario): Scarborough Planning Department, 1978.

This report supplies the background of the plan, its policies and objectives, a list of historical sites and their addresses, and a map locating the various sites.

Byers, Mary and McBurney, Margaret. Homesteads: Early Buildings and Families From Kingston to Toronto. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1979.

This book outlines the history connected with the pre-Confederation building standing along Danforth Rd., Kingston Rd., and Highway 2. On p. 4, there is a reference to Kingston Rd., and its construction. On pp. 248 to 254, there is a brief history of Pickering. A number of photos are included.

O.T.S.P.

Byers, Mary et al. Rural Roots: Pre-confederation Buildings of the York Region of Ontario. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1976.

This house by house survey gives detailed architectural information as well as information on the families who built and lived in the houses. Scarborough buildings are covered on pp. 201 to 219, and include: St. Andrews Church, Springfield Farm, "Burese, Burese", Cornell House, McCaran Log Cabin, Thomas Glendinning House, Devenish House, Scott House, Pearse House, Pearse's carriage House, William Milne House, Richardson House, Peter Reesor House.

O.T.S.P.

518. Chuhay, Carol. Heritage: A Guide For The Study and Appreciation of Architecture in the Borough of Scarborough. (Scarborough, Ontario: by the author, 1979).

This book is a guide for the study and appreciation of architecture particularly in the Scarborough area. It includes: a list of pamphlets and slides; sections on secular & ecclesiastical Scarborough sites; maps; and a list of historical sites in Scarborough. Photocopied pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

519. Walsh, Albert R. "Lyburn House." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 8 (May 1984): 19-21.

The author explores the history of the house. He describes the individual owners and families. A lot of the owners and the dates they resided in the house are included.

Cultural History

520. Daling, William Stewart. Sketches of Canadian Life by a Presbyter of the Diocese of Toronto. London: David Bogue, Fleet Street, 1849. 310 p.

A portraiture of Canadian life written in the form of a narrative. Although the story is an accurate picture of Canadian life, specific names, places, periods have been changed. The author lived in Scarborough at one time.

O.T.M.C.

521. Fowke, Edith ed. *Penguin Book of Canadian Folk Songs*. Middlesex, England: Penguin Books Ltd., 1973.

A book containing the words and music to a number of Canadian Folk songs. On p. 77 there is a song called "The Scarborough Settler's Lament" written by Sandy Glendenning who settled in Scarborough in 1840.

O.T.M.C.L.

522. Gordon, James M. and Schofield, Richard. "Scarborough's Centenary Poem and Comment." Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments 8 (September 1984): 21-22.

This short article includes the text of Gordon's poem "Scarborough's Centenary" plus a brief historical comment by Richard Schofield. He mentions the Gordon family and the Thomson family.

O.T.S.P.

523. Higginson, T.B. "Scarborough's Literary History. Scarborough Historical Notes and Comments. 6 (November 1982) 12-14.

The author makes notes on the works of many early Scarborough writers including R.D. Hamilton, Dr. James George, Rev. W. H. Norris, Alexander Glendinning, Rev. S.W. Darling, and Rev. John Hutchinson. The text of Hutchinson's poem, Obituary Reminiscence, and Alexander Muir's poems, Address to Arctic Regions and To Little Mary, are provided.

524. Kurelek, William. O Toronto: Paintings and Notes by William Kurelek. Toronto: New Press, 1973. 43 p.

A collection of William Kurelek's paintings of Toronto. A commentary accompanies each painting.

pp. 10-11 "Early Afternoon on Scarborough Bluffs." pp. 40-41 "Our My Lai, the Massacre of Highland Creek."

O.T.S.P.

525. Scarborough, Ontario. Constitution of the Scarborough Historical Society, 1962. (Typewritten).

The constitution was amended as of 1962 and this is the amended version.

O.T.S.P.

526. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Historical Society. Correspondence 1956. (Typewritten).

This collection of papers includes: a letter from the Board of Education granting the Society's request for meeting space in a Scarborough school; a letter from the Society regretfully denying responsibility for maintenance of Bendale Library as a Museum.

O.T.S.P.

527. Sisler, Rebecca. The Girls. Toronto: Clarke, Irwin & Company Limited, 1972. 117 p.

A biography of Frances Loring and Florence Wyle - two women sculptors who shared a Toronto studio. They had a summer home and studio in Scarborough overlooking the Rouge River.

O.T.S.P.

528. "York Musical Competition" York Pioneer and Historical Society Annual Reports. (1927) 4-5.

Mention is made of Scarboro's Bluffs United Church's participation in the York County musical competition.

Literature

529. Bonis, R.R. Windswept. West Hill, Ont. Highlands Press, 1980. 202 p.

The book is a blend of poetry, history and photography. It contains Bonis' major poem "Windswept - The House on the Heights" which describes rural life on Scarborough Heights 40 years ago. The text is illustrated with photographs of old Scarborough including farm-houses, churches, people, and streets. Note that Richard Schofield has (in his own private collection) Bonis' unpublished notes about the photographs in this book.

O.T.S.P.

530. Glendinning, Alexander. *Rhymes*. London, Ont.: Free Press Printing Company, 1871; reprinted, Toronto: (Wm. Warwick Publisher), 1875. 819.12 647.01 Literature Stacks.

A collection of poetry written by Alexander Glendinning, an early Scarborough settler.

O.T.M.C.L.

531. Higginson, Thomas, Boyd. "Scarborough Fair 1844-1936: A Canadian Version Introducing a Scarborough Anthology. Scarborough, Ont.: Old Rectory Press, 1977.

This is Part I of Higginson's series called Scarborough Fair. This booklet contains the author's own version of the Poem "Scarborough Fair" written in honour of a local Scarborough fair which occurred annually from 1844-1936. Included is Reverend Walter Wright's poem "My Old Canadian Home". Higginson considers Wright to be Scarborough's first native poet.

O.T:S.P.

Higginson, T.B. "Alexander Glendinning - "The Scarborough Settler". Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 2 (November 1978): (1)-4; 3 (February 1979): (1)-3.

Reprints and discusses several poems of Scarborough interest originally published in Rhymes (London: 1871).

O.T.S.P.C.

533. Higginson, T.B. "Edward William Thomson: the Scarborough Connection." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (May 1980): 19-20.

Biography of a direct descendent of Scarborough's Archibald Thomson, E.W. Thomson (1849-1934) "a distinguished figure in Canadian literature". His poem "Sweetest Whistle Ever Blew" is reprinted from Many-Mansioned House and Other Poems (Toronto: 1909)

534. Higginson, T.B. "Rev. Robert Walter Wright; Scarborough's "Nature Poet." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (November 1980): 2-5.

Higginson discusses some of the poems Wright has written and includes excerpts from several of his verses. Biographical detail is also provided.

535. Higginson, T.B. "The Reverend William Stewart Darling; "Of Blessed Memory". Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 3 (May 1979): 10-12.

The writings of Scarborough's second Anglican clergyman (served in Scarborough 1843-1853) are discussed. The poem "Longings for Spring" (1853) is reprinted.

536. Higginson, T.B. "The Reverend doctor James George." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 2 (February 1978): 7-8.

Reverend George was the minister of St. Andrew's Presbyterian church 1835-1853. This article focuses on his work as a writer, educator and philosopher as well as providing biographical details.

O.T.S.P.

537. Hunter, Bernice Thurman. That Scatterbrain Booky. Richmond Hill, Ontario: Scholastic-TAB Publications, 1981. 179 p.

Novel about growing up (in Birchcliff) during the 1930's depression. Nominated for City of Toronto Book Award, 1981.

538. McEvoy, Bernard. "Scarboro Heights" in Away From Newspaperdom and other Poems. Toronto: George N. Morang, 1897.

This poem written July 22, 1895, describes a picnic McEvoy had on Scarboro Heights. He gives his impressions of the Heights. It is illustrated with a sketch by George A. Reed.

O.T.M.C.L.

539. Watson, A.D. "Sunset on Scarboro Heights." in Wing of the Wild Bird. Toronto: William Briggs, 1908.

This is a very lyrical and dramatic description of the Scarborough Heights during sunset.

O.T.U.R.S.

Libraries

540. "A History of Scarborough Public Library." n.p., 1930. (Typewritten)

A history of the library adjacent to St. Andrew's Church. Discusses the Thomson family and the new library building built on the same site on the 100th anniversary of the arrival of the Thompsons.

A note indicates that this was probably written by Arthur Thomson. A list of library members and officers is also included.

O.T.S.P.

541. "A.W. Bowron, director of the Scarborough Public Library in Ontario, Canada, will resign June 30, 1969." *Library Journal* 94 (June 1, 1969): 2191.

This paragraph mentions Bowron's future plans to enter private business as a consultant. Photograph included.

O.T.M.C.L.

542. Agincourt, Ontario. Agincourt Association Library Membership Ledger, 1918-55. (Handwritten)

This ledger lists the members of Agincourt Association Library. Such names as Kennedy, Glendenning and Elliot appear.

O.T.S.P.

543. Agincourt, Ontario. Agincourt Association Library, Minutes of Meetings of the Board Members, 1918-55. (Handwritten)

The last entry discusses the board's decision to become part of the Public Library System. Miss Emily Elliot was appointed to the Public Library Board.

O.T.S.P.

544. Agincourt, Ontario. Scarborough Public Library Agincourt Branch. Annual Reports, 1920-1939 and 1956. (Handwritten).

These reports supply various facts about the growth of Agincourt Library.

Bastedo, N.J.R. and Reddin, D. Analysis and Interpretation Section of the "Information Services Survey Report". Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Public Library Board, 1974.

The authors categorize, tabulate and analyze in depth the results of the Report. Their conclusions and recommendations for improvement follow.

O.T.S.P.

546. Scarborough Public Library Board. A Framework For the Development of Library Service in the Borough of Scarborough. Scarborough, Ontario: Scarborough Public Library Board, 1978.

This study looks at library service over the past 22 years, providing a chronology of expansion and a history of services from 1955-1978. It describes the aims, principles, and objectives of library service in Scarborough. In addition it provides a framework for future development and identifies planning criteria. Numerous charts are included.

O.T.S.P.

547. Forrester, George. "Scarborough Information Network, Canada." Unesco Bulletin for Libraries. 23 (January 1969): 22-24, 45.

Forrester describes the teletype system that was set up to solve the branch interloan problem. He examines the previous system and explains the teletype procedures including its development, cost, and uses.

O.T.M.C.L.

548. Fowler, Freeman Sobel, Willa. "The Lady and The Library: A True Story Part One 1889-1928." CCRA NEWS, January 1983.

This article provides a history of Gladys Kemp Cole and her family in Scarborough. In 1922 she lived in a house that would later become the Highland Creek Library. The author also discusses the Mechanics Institute Libraries.

549. Fowler, Freeman Sobel Willa. "The Lady and The Library: A True Story Part II 1938 - 1983." CCRA News, February 1983, pp. 9-11.

In this, the second part of the article, the author discusses the Highland Creek Library. Elliot Hall, the Cole family, Hurricane Hazel, the opening of the new library and Gladys Cole's contributions to the library system.

O.T.S.P.

550. Casey, Vicki, comp. A Framework for the Development of Public Library Service in the City of Scarborough. 2nd ed. Scarborough: Scarborough Public Library (1984).

This book outlines the future plans of library service for Scarborough. The various aims and objectives of the library system are outlined. Statistics of neighbourhoods and ethnic groups of Scarborough are also included. Some historical background is also given.

551. "Educational TV proposed by the Scarborough Public Library." Feliciter 12 (March 1967): 33.

Similar in content to the article by Wendy Wright (in <u>Can. Library</u> - Jan. 1968), this article examines the uses of Cedarbrae's television and video tape equipment with emphasis on educational TV. Basically same article - but gives a few different details.

O.T.M.C.L.

552. "First Library equipped with Video-tape Recorder". Ontario Library Review 50: (December 1966): 259-60.

Cedarbrae Branch was the first library in Canada to be equipped with a video-tape recorder in recognition that a library must house non-traditional forms of information. Gives technical details of the equipment itself.

O.T.M.C.L.

553. "Helen Peterson will become Director of the Scarborough Public Library in Ontario." Library Journal 94 (June 1, 1969): 2191.

This brief paragraph mentions the promotion of Helen Peterson to director and her previous position as Branch Services Administrator. She became director June 30, 1969.

554. Henschel, Clarice. Community Survey for the Woodside Library. Scarborough: Scarborough Public Library, 1977.

This report was to provide background information for planning and locating a library branch in the Woodside area. Various neighbourhood institutions, agencies, schools, and housing units are described. A map is included of the area.

555. (The History of Scarborough Public Library.) (Scarborough, Ontario); (Typewritten)

A detailed but short history of Scarborough's public library system from 1834 to 1955. Specific emphasis is placed on the first bookmobile.

O.T.S.P.

556. "Ontario Library moves into TV." Library Journal 92 (April 1, 1967): 1406.

Describes SPL's experimentation with television equipment, including the equipment bought and proposed uses of the equipment.

O.T.M.C.C.

557. "Regional Library - Markham Road". Scarborough, Ontario, n.d., (Typewritten).

The first page describes the proposed library. The following pages are hand drawn sketches of the library's floor plans and a cross section drawing of the building.

O.T.S.P.

558. Scarborough, Ontario. Correspondence between Scarborough Public Library and Township of Scarborough Reeve and Council, 1954. (Typewritten)

In these letters the library requests an increase in the annual grant from the Township and the Clerk, C.A. Trip, acknowledges the request.

O.T.S.P.

559. Gilbank, Roberta J. "Library Service in Scarborough". Ontario Library Review 41 (May 1957): 83-4.

Gilbank discusses the history of library service in Scarborough from 1834 to modern times. She looks at the different types of library that have existed in Scarborough, i.e. Subscription, Mechanics Institute, and Association Libraries, as well as libraries in specific communities in Scarborough.

560. Grainger, Bruce; MacMullen, Arlene; and Craven, Suzanne. "A Survey of Subject Specialization Schemes and Special Collections in the Regional Library Systems of Ontario." Ontario Library Review 63 (March 1979): 12-26.

On pp. 15 and 16 the authors identify several special collections held at Scarborough Public Libraries, including art books and prints, business, and comic books.

O.T.M.C.L.

561. Kofsky, Charna. "On-line Reference Service - Scarborough Public Library." Ontario Library Review 64 (December 1980): 293-298.

Describes the problems and advantages of Scarborough's on-line service. Includes the history and philosophy of the service, its operation, and staff training in Scarborough.

O.T.M.C.L.

562. Martin, Janet H. "The Scarborough Public Library." (Scarborough Ontario, 1942). (Typewritten)

A very brief outline of Scarborough Public Library from 1834 when it was called "Scarborough Subscription Library" until 1934, when it celebrated its centennial.

O.T.S.P.

563. Mason, Diane. "Scarborough's SIN Spreads." Ontario Library Review 52 (September 1968). 46-7.

Reprint of our article.

O.T.M.C.L.

564. Mason, Diane. "Scarborough's SIN Spreads," Ontario Library Review 52 (September 1968): 146-7.

Scarborough information network (SIN) uses a teletype system to communicate requests for information from one library branch to another as well as to outside information resources. Mason describes the establishment costs, and working of the system. A chart is included.

McLennan, Rodger W. (Letter in reply to B. Grainger). Ontario Library Review 63 565. (September 1979): 220.

Responds to Grainger's survey of special collections (Ontario Library Review 63, March 1979). McLennan corrects certain errors in fact and identifying another special collection of high interest: low vocabulary materials for adult learners.

O.T.M.C.L.

Mowat, Angus. Operation Scarborough: Inspector of Public Libraries Appraisal of 566. General Situation. (Scarborough, Ontario): 1947. (Typewritten)

This report discusses the inspector's suggestions for a library system in Scarborough Township. Also mentioned are the steps to follow in order to establish a library.

O.T.S.P.

Nicholson, Dr. T.F. and Check, Dorothy, eds. "Scarborough Subscription Library & 567. Mechanics Institute. From Markham Economist, June 1,1882." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 6 (February 1982): 14.

This excerpt reprints a report prepared by the Scarborough Mechanics Institute, submitted to the Ministry of Education, 1882, in request for public funds. The report provides a history of the library from 1834, and includes number of books, and members, circulation figures, and money spent by the library.

O.T.S.P.

Nicholson, Dr. T. F. and Mehdsen, Dorothy, eds. "Libraries in Scarborough from 568. Reports of Local Superintendents of Education." Scarborough Historical Notes & Comments. 4 (November 1980): 10.

A table showing the number of volumes in Scarborough Sunday School libraries and small subscription libraries for years 1850 to 1869. Although the information is organized by school sections, there were no school libraries in this period.

Peterson, Helen. "Scarborough's Four-day Week Experiment." Ontario Library 569. Review 57 (September 1973): 165-6.

After reviewing the advantages and disadvantages of the four-day week, Peterson explains why this experiment was abandoned.

570. Post, Marius. "Computer Checking of Scarborough's Acquisitions." Ontario Library Review. 56 (December 1972): 238-9.

Examines how materials are ordered and acquired using the computer facilities of Book and Periodical Acquisition Ltd. Discusses the financial and technical advantages of using a computer operated system.

O.T.M.C.L.

571. Quinlan, Barbara Davis. "Welcome to Com: Scarborough Public Library converts to a Computer Output Microform Catalogue." Ontario Library Review 64 (September 1980): 186-191.

Examines the decision to switch from a card catalogue to a microfiche catalogue. Compares the advantages and disadvantages of the different types of catalogues in existence. Discusses the problems implementing the Com. Cat. Charts are included.

O.T.M.C.L.

572. Seydelmann, G. "Prerequisites and Methods of Library Work in North America: Scarborough, Toronto, and Queensborough, New York." *Bucherei und bildung* 20 (October 1968): 533-42.

Discusses Scarborough and mentions Cedarbrae Library. Text is in German.

O.T.U.L.S.

573. Shaw, Ralph Robert. Libraries of Metropolitan Toronto; a Study of Library Service Prepared for the Library Trustees' Council of Toronto and District. (Toronto: Library Trustees' Council of Toronto and District), 196. 98 pages.

In this survey of library services Shaw covers such issues as expenditures, circulation statistics, branch outlets, personnel, book collections, technical services, children's services, etc. Scarborough Public Library is compared to other Metropolitan Toronto Libraries. Many charts are included. An excellent survey of services in 1960.

574. Stieda, S. "TV as a library medium." Film Library Quarterly 2 (Spring 1969): 43-4.

Discusses the video and television equipment at Cedarbrae. Stieda includes SPL's philosophy of and the amount of money spent on non-print material.

575. Scarborough, Ontario. Indenture of Bargain and Sale, Kenneth George Hollinger and the Scarborough Public Library Board, 1964.

This is the lease for the Highland Creek Library.

O.T.S.P.

576. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarboro Public Library. Bendale. Minutes of Meetings of the Board Members. 1931-55. (Handwritten.)

The last entry discusses the resolution of the board that their association be transferred to a Public Library Board appointed in the manner provided in Part One of the Public Library Act. There is also a copy of the letter sent to Councillor Stewart. The library's president Reverend R.R. Bonis was named the board's choice for a seat on the Township Library Board. Also included is a list of members in 1955.

O.T.S.P.

577. Scarborough Public Library. Catalogue of Books in the Scarboro Public Library. Toronto: William Briggs, 1872, 1885, 1892, 1898 and 1906.

These catalogues were originally titled <u>Scarboro Subscription Library</u> and <u>Catalogue of the Library of the Scarborough Mechanics Institute</u>. They contain a list of books available to the library.

O.T.S.P.

578. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Public Library Circulation Statistics. 1956-61. (Handwritten)

These statistics record the number of books borrowed each in the years 1956-1961.

O.T.S.P.

579. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Public Library Membership List. 1915-44. (Handwritten)

These membership lists also include the names of the people who contributed to the building of a library in Agincourt Village and the amount they pledged.

580. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Public Library Registers, 1884, 1914-22, 1937-38, 1941-46, 1952-53. (Handwritten)

These ledgers record the members of the library and the books they borrowed. Names such as Thompson, Forfas, Bonis, Loveless and Kennedy appear.

O.T.S.P.

581. "Rules of the Scarboro Public Library." n.p. 1952. (Typewritten)

These items outline the rules of the library as of 1952. There is also a list of library members.

O.T.S.P.

582. Scarborough, Ontario. Scarborough Public Library Statistics Book, 1964-67. (Handwritten)

This book contains statistics on circulation, film changes, new memberships, fine money and reserve books. Also included are lists of employees and reader's club members and their addresses.

O.T.S.P.

583. "Scarborough Opens New District Library" Ontario Library Review. 55 (December 1971): 262.

The features of the Albert Campbell Library, opened on Sept. 29, 1971, are briefly listed. Photograph included.

O.T.M.C.L.

584. "Scarborough (Ont.) P.L. Starts Info Network." Library Journal. 93 (June 15, 1968): 2416.

A brief discussion of the introduction of the teletype network in the SPL branches.

585. Seide, S.D. "Afternoon Library Discussions and Activities by and for Mature Adults."

Ontario Library Review 62 (December 1978): 274-7.

Outlines the establishment of "a club for senior citizens which would provide a forum for library related activities in a friendly informal atmosphere." Describes the meetings, events, membership and problems.

O.T.M.C.C.

586. Walker, Sarah. The History of the Scarborough Mechanics' Institute. Scarborough, n.p., 1985.

This paper was written as an assignment for a course given by the Ontario Museum Association. Using primary sources, the author recounts the history of Mechanics Associations in Scarborough from their beginnings in 1834 to 1954. Statistics and illustrations are included.

O.T.S.P.

587. Sullivan, R. "Tele-education at Scarborough Public Library; the Mountain comes to Mohammed." Canadian Library Journal 32 (April 1975): 117-19.

Reprint of the New Library World Article.

O.T.M.C.L.

588. Sullivan, R. "Mountain comes to Mohammed." New Library World 76 (May 1975): 95-6.

Describes "Arts 100" a multi media credit course administered by the University of Waterloo and hosted by Cedarbrae Library. Through this program a student can work to a B.A. degree while studying at the library.

O.T.M.C.L.

589. Thomson, Alexander C. Letter to Mrs. Evart Oldham Secretary of Circulations Library, Scarborough, Ontario. 26 July 1949. (Handwritten.)

Mr. Thomson writes offering the library his Father's book <u>The Selected Poems of Alexander Thomson</u>. Alexander Thomson lived in the area after arriving from Scotland at nine years of age.

O.T.S.P.

590. Werner, Mary Louise. "Scarborough uses the Media." Ontario Library Review 51 (December 1967): 216-217.

Discusses the resources of the Cedarbrae A-V department, including its video tape recording equipment, record collection, listening equipment, films, and projectors. Photographs included.

591. Wood, C.J. "Visit to the Libraries of Metropolitan Toronto." Library Review 23 (Winter 1972/73): 334-7.

Describes Scarborough's library services, materials administrative staff, bookmobile operation, Albert Campbell District Library, some branch libraries, etc.

O.T.M.C.L.

592. Wright, Wendy. "Educational TV in the Scarborough Public Library". Canadian Library 24 (January 1968): 349-50.

The different use of TV and Scarborough's new video tape equipment in the Cedarbrae Regional Library are reviewed. The impact of this new medium in the library system is also discussed.

Neighbouring Communities

Barkley, Jean. Stouffville 1877-1977. A Pictorical History of a Prosperous Ontario Community. Stouffville Ontario: The Stouffville Historical Committee, 1977.

A pictorial record of the community of Stouffville from 1877 to 1977. There is a very brief reference to Scarborough on page 263. Youngsters from Scarborough went to the same school as those from Stouffville.

O.T.S.P.

594. Bruce, Alex D. and Gohn, Wesley C. Historical Sketch of Markham Township 1793-1950: (Markham, Ontario): Markham Municipal Corporation, (1950).

This history of Markham concentrates on the Berczy Family, Churches in the township; schools and roads; farming; recreation; boundaries and government. A few pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

595. Champion, Isabel, ed. Markham 1793-1900 (Markham, Ontario): Markham Historical Society, 1979.

A detailed and comprehensive history of Markham. There are several brief references to Scarborough throughout. The Reesor family and the Rouge River are mentioned often.

O.T.S.P.

596. Davidson, True. The Golden Years of East York. (Compiled and written by True Davidson et al.) (s.1. s.n.) c 1976.

A history of East York. Brief Scarborough references include pp. 7, 10, and 14, transportation, pioneer families, the Helliwells pp. 15-21, and the Moffats p. 30.

O.T.S.P.

597. Davies, Blodwen. 8th Annual John Madsen Folk Festival Sat. June 23, 1956 Markham Township Historical Exhibit "History at the Grass Roots". n.p.: n.p., (1956)

This short historical note is aimed at increasing Markham's awareness of the value of local history. Brief mention is made of Peter Reesor and William Berczy.

598. Scadding, Henry. Toronto of Old: Collections and Recollections Illustrative of the Early Settlement and Social Life of the Capital of Ontario. (Toronto), 1873.

Toronto of Old. (Edited by F.H. Armstrong). Toronto: Oxford University Press, 1966. 396. p.

A history of Toronto from 1818-1891. Scarborough references on p. 42 and p. 155. Also an entry for William Helliwell (of Highland Creek) in the Biographical Appendix.

O.T.S.P.

599. Toronto Historical Board 1978 Year Book. (Toronto): Toronto Historical Board, 1978.

This booklet discusses the Toronto Historical board, its establishment, organization, function, responsibilities, and exhibits. A number of pictures are included.

O.T.S.P.

600. Dixon, Fred. Fun Was Where We Made It: Mount Joy-Markham, 1900-1915. (n.p.: n.p.) 1971. 90 p.

An account of what it was like to grow up in Mount Joy-Markham during the early 20th century.

O.T.S.P.

601. Fraser, Marguerite J. A Place Called Solina. Solina, Ontario: Solina Community Library, 1975.

The history of Solina, a village in the Darlington Township. On pages 9 and 21 there are brief references to the Annis Family. Also on page 9 the Scarborough Heights are mentioned. Other Scarborough residents such as A.J. Reynolds and Alexander Clarke Secor are discussed on pages 145, 183, and 208.

O.T.S.P.

602. Glazebrook, George Parkin de twenebroker. The Story of Toronto. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1971.

The book tells the story of Toronto from its earliest days to 1971. It describes its character at each stage of growth, how it changed and why. There are no specific references to Scarborough.

603. Hart, Patricia. Pioneering in North York: A History of the Borough. Toronto: General Publishing Company, 1971. 324 p.

A detailed history of North York - its development and growth. It contains many references to Scarborough including the L'Amoreaux Family, Paul Shepard, Spencer Clark and O'Sullivan's Corners.

O.T.S.P.

604. Johnson, Leo A. History of the County of Ontario 1615-1875. Whitby, Ont.: The Corporation of the County of Ontario, 1973. 386 p.

Johnson describes this history of Ontario County from 18th century to the late 1800's. Brief mention of Scarborough's involvement with the Toronto-Nipissing railroad appears on pp. 286, 289, 291, 310, and 316. Brief political facts include p. 36 - date Scarborough township established and its original name; pg. 114, Scarborough made part of the Third Riding of the Home District in an election Act; p. 182, Scarborough becomes part of York County.

O.T.S.P.

Markham Township, Ontario. Historical Committee. Historical Sketch of Markham Township, 1793-1950. Centennial Celebration of Municipal Government 1850-1950. (Markham, Ontario: Economist and Sun, 1950.) 105 p.

Looks at the early settlers, churches, schools, roads, agriculture, industry, sports, etc. Includes information on the 1st Markham council, 1st reeve, 1st by-law, etc. Page 16 gives the population of Scarborough in 1809.

O.T.U.

606. Masters, Donald C. The Rise of Toronto, 1850-1890. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1947, 239 p.

This book traces the rise of Toronto to metropolitan status. There is reference to Scarborough on p. 110. In early 1869, J.G. Worts met with ratepayers in Scarborough to secure local support for the railway.

607. McClennan, Pat. Ladies Please Provide. Cedar Grove Community Club: Centennial Committee. 1967. 87 p.

A history of Cedar Grove located in Markham. Scarborough names, including Peter Reesor, appear throughout.

O.T.R.S.

608. The Pickering Story. (Pickering, Ontario.): Pickering Historical Society, (1961), 237 p.

A written and pictorial record of Pickering Township in Ontario. Scarborough names given in McKay's book include Annis, Elliott, L'Amoreaux. Includes maps, diagrams, and photographs.

O.T.S.P.

609. Reaman, George Elmore. A History of Vaughan Township: Two Centuries of Life in the Township. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1971.

The book traces the history of Vaughan; its government, transportation, agriculture, churches and schools. On page 22 there is a reproduction of David Thompson's oath of allegiance.

O.T.S.P.

Maps

General

610. Blueprint of the Township of Scarborough showing road divisions, school boundaries, electrical boundaries, outlying subdivision lots, concessions, post offices. Toronto: n.p. 1922 - 1 map: col.; 15-1/4" x 13-1/2".

Rail routes and community names are also marked.

O.T.A.R.

611. Borough of Scarborough. Ottawa: Pathfinder Air Surveys Limited, 1975. - 2 maps: 25-1/4" x 38-1/4".

Principal Street, house numbers, schools, churches, parks, playgrounds, etc. General. O.T.M.C.L.

612. Change of Metro Boundaries by the Annexation of the Rouge Hill area to the Borough of Scarborough. n.p.: n.p. 1971. - 1 map: 8'14" x 14".

Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto and environs shown. Area annexed to Scarborough marked in red.

O.T.M.C.L.

613. City of Toronto. Toronto: Graphic Publishers, n.d. - 1 map 2-1/4" x 34-1/4".

Boundaries, transit routes, places of interest, etc. Part of Scarborough shown from Victoria Park to Birchmount Road. Streets labelled.

O.T.M.C.L.

614. County of York. Toronto: Alexander, Clark and Cable Co., m.p. - 1 map: 38 x 44 cm. General.

O.T.A.R.

615. F.P. Lloyd's Greater Toronto. Toronto: Mercury Advertising and District Co., n.d. - 1 map: 22' x 34".

Street index. All townships including Scarborough shown. Shows schools, parks, playgrounds, etc. General. Chart of places of interest. Insets of North York and Etobicoke township.

Peter S. Gibson and Sons. Map of the County of York and parts of the adjoining counties. Toronto: The Leader and Recorder, 1899. - 1 map: 18" x 20-1/8".

General York County in colour. Scarborough community names marked; lots and concessions. Also black and white photographs of Leader and Recorder office managers.

O.T.A.R.

617. Guidal Directory Map of York County in the Province of Ontario. Toronto: Scales Service Ltd., 1924 - 1 map: col.; 17-1/2 x 32-3/4".

All townships including Scarborough shown. City of Toronto and its suburbs (Leaside, Forest Hill, etc.) shown. List of rural residents alphabetically and numerically arranged and a Key to the townships on the reverse.

O.T.M.C.L.

618. Jones, Augustus & Stegmann, Jan. Plan of Scarborough Township. Upper Canada: n.p., 1800. - 1 map.

Plan showing lot and concession numbers, lot owners, and the different versions of the Scarborough township lakeshore line by Jones and Stegman. Negative photostat.

O.T.A.R.

619. MacDonald, C.H. Map of the Township of Scarborough. Toronto: Ontario Directory and Map Co., 1910. - 1 map.

Lots, lot numbers, concessions, names of owners, acreage, post office, churches, schools, school sections, York Radial railway, Grand Trunk and CPR railway, alphabetical list of house-holders with name, lot concession, address, etc. Advertisements.

O.T.A.R.

620. Map of the County of York Corrected to Date. Hamilton: The Canadian Map Company, 1895. - 1 map: col.; 23" x 36".

School, churches, houses, post offices marked. Community names for Scarborough and Toronto shown.

Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Metromap Publications, 1971. - 1 map: col.

Street index. Points of interest index. Subway station index. Schools.

O.T.M.C.L.

622. Map of Metropolitan Toronto showing T.T.C. Railway lines and density of Population. Toronto: n.p., 1932. - 1 map: col.; 21" x 32-1/4".

O.T.A.R.

Map of the Township of Scarborough in the County of York. Toronto. The Ontario Directory and Map Co., n.d. - 1 map: 24-1/2" x 23".

Plan and lot numbers, names of owners, acreage, post offices, schools, etc.

O.T.M.C.L.

624. Map of York County. Toronto: Map Company, 1919. - 1 map: 26-1/2" x 38".

References and statistics.

O.T.M.C.L.

625. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Ltd., 1971. - 1 map: col.; 40" x 71-1/2".

Street map. Subway stations postal zones shown in red. Inset map southern part of Mississauga.

O.T.M.C.L.

626. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Metropolitan Toronto. - Scale 1: Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd., 1954. - 1 map: 45" x 70".

Street index. Places of interest index. Inset of Toronto township.

O.T.M.C.L.

627. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd., 1956. - 1 map: 45" x 70".

Street and places of interest index. Inset of Toronto township.

O.T.M.C.L.

Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd., for Shell Oil Co., 1966. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Points of interest. Location and types of schools. Inset of Scarborough Township. On reverse - District map of Toronto and vicinity. Inset of downtown Toronto.

O.T.M.C.L.

629. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd., 1969. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Points of interest. Location and types of schools. On reverse - street index and map of Toronto and vicinity.

O.T.M.C.L.

630. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph-McNally Limited, 1972. - 1 map: 44-1/2" x 66".

Information on fire departments and equipment highlighted. Also street and points of interest index.

O.T.M.C.L.

631. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph McNally Limited for the Toronto Real Estate Board, 1970. - 1 map: col.; 60 x 95 cm.

Streets, points of interest, transit services, school system, street index and district map of Toronto and vicinity on reverse. On cover: Realtor Map of Metropolitan Toronto.

O.T.A.R.

632. Metropolitan Toronto Visitor's Map and Guide. Toronto: T. Eaton Company, 1969. - 1 map: col.; 52 x 70 cm.

Major streets marked. Advertising on back with points of interest. Inset location of T. Eaton Stores.

O.T.A.R.

633. Might's Clearview Correct City Directory of Greater Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1945. - 1 map: col.; 52 x 74 cm.

Municipalities such as Weston, Swansea. All townships including Scarborough shown. Inset of Scarborough. Major and residential streets.

Might's 1966 Wall Map of Metropolitan Toronto (including southern portion of Toronto Township). Toronto: Might's Directories Ltd., 1966. - 1 map: col.; 40" x 60".

Metro Toronto. General. Also inset of Toronto township.

O.T.M.C.L.

635. Might's 1969 Pocket Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1969. - 1 map: col.; 55 x 129 cm.

General. Insets of southern half of Mississauga and Toronto townships. Major and residential streets for Metro.

O.T.A.R.

636. The new map of Toronto Metropolitan Area including the 12 adjoining municipalities. Toronto: S.A. Renouf Advertising Co., n.d. - 1 map: 24" x 41-1/2".

Street index. City, municipal and ward boundaries, highways, etc. Places of interest. Index mentions several Scarborough places.

O.T.M.C.L.

637. Parke, Thomas. Scarborough Township. Upper Canada: Office of the Surveyor General, 1843. - 1 map.

Not detailed; only lot and concession numbers marked.

O.T.A.R.A.

638. Pioneer Map of York County. Toronto: Jerrine Wells Kinton, n.d. - 1 map: col.

Pictorial with historical notes on map. Several Scarborough references.

O.T.M.C.L.

639. Pioneer Map of York County. Toronto: Jerrine Wells Kinton, 1950. - 1 map: col.; 48 x 32 cm.

Historical pictorial view of York County. Several references to Scarborough.

Rankin, C. Map of the Home and Simcoe Districts. Toronto: Miller's Lithography, 640. 1841. - 1 map: col.; 39" x 46-1/2".

Townships in the two districts shown with lots and concession numbers only. Scarborough shown in green.

O.T.M.C.L.

Sketch Concession A Scarborough. Toronto: Abrey and Tyrrell, 1892. - 1 map: col.; 641. 39" x 46-1/2".

Townships in the two districts shown with lots and concession numbers only. Scarborough shown in green.

O.T.M.C.L.

Sketch Concession A Scarborough. Toronto: Abrey and Tyrrell, 1892. - 1 map: 4-642. 1/2" x 7-1/4".

Map of Toronto and Suburbs east of the Don including East Toronto Village. Shows concession A with a few landowners names and lot numbers.

O.T.M.C.L.

Tarling, Charles F. Map of York County Province of Ontario. Toronto: n.p., 1927. -643. 1 map: col.; 26-1/2" x 38-3/4".

All townships and City of Toronto. Cities, towns, villages, post offices, railroads, boundaries, roads, schools, lot and concession numbers.

O.T.M.C.L.

Toronto and Environs. Scarborough, Ontario: Cartex Inc. For Traveltime Canada, 644. 1973. - 1 map: col; 23" x 35".

On cover - Metropolitan Toronto. General. Subway stations, schools, parks, etc., marked. Street index. On reverse, inset of Scarborough and greater Toronto area map and central city insert. Inset - Exhibition grounds.

O.T.M.C.L.

Toronto Metropolitan Area. Toronto: Frank P. Lloyd, 1951. - 1 map: 41-3/4" x 68-645. 1/2".

City and all townships shown. Street index. Community names in Scarborough marked. Several points of interest in Scarborough marked.

646. Toronto Metropolitan Area. Toronto: F.P. Lloyd, 1955. - 1 map: 106 x 172 cm.

Roads, streetcar lines, bus and coach lines, highways, city and municipal boundaries, ward boundaries, railways, index to places of interest and street index.

O.T.A.R.

647. Tremaine, George C. and Tremaine, George. Tremaine's Map of the County of York, Canada West. Toronto: George C. Tremaine, 1860. - 1 map: 66" x 33".

Detailed; shows landowners' names, buildings, roads, concessions, lots, railroads. Edge of map contains a directory which lists male inhabitants and their occupations. Scarborough and Markham shown.

O.T.A.R.

648. Wall Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Ltd., 1971. -1 map: col.; 96 x 172 cm.

Three Scarborough communities labelled. Postal zone information in red. List of subway stations.

O.T.A.R.

649. York County. Toronto: The Map Specialty Co., 1908. - 4 maps: 26-3/4" x 38".

Schools, churches, post offices. Township statistics (year settled, population, etc.) in chart form (includes Scarborough). Statistics for cities, towns, and villages, as well.

Aerial

650. Aerial Photograph of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto Lockwood Survey Corporation Ltd., 1965. - 1 map: 27-1/2" x 51-1/2".

Compliments of Toronto Real Estate Board. Lithographed by Rolph Clark Stone Ltd.

O.T.M.C.L.

651. Kirkup, Donald Boyce. Boomtown Metropolitan Toronto; a photographic record of two decades of growth. Aerial photographs by Gordon Jarrett. Toronto: D.B. Kirkup, in cooperation with Lockwood Survey Corp. 1969. 80 p.

Includes photographs of these Scarborough areas: Victoria Park at St. Clair Avenue, Eglinton & Danforth, Kingston Road & Eglinton, Birchmount Road & Lawrence Avenue East, and Agincourt.

652. Kirkup, Donald Boyce. Metropolitan Toronto: Past and Present. Aerial Photos from the Collection of G.W. Jarrett. (Toronto, 1974).

Shows photos of areas in 1940's and 1950's and same area in 1970's and 1980's. Sets of aerial photographs reveal how Toronto has changed with the passage of time. Pictures of Scarborough on the following pages:

- 77-78 Eglinton Avenue east from Victoria Park Avenue 1979, 1973.
- 81-82 Bendale (Lawrence & McCowan Road) 1973, 1975.
- 83-89 Scarborough Bluffs 1947, 1973.
- 87-88 Shoppers World Danforth Avenue & Victoria Park Avenue 1946, 1973.
- 89-90 Agincourt 1949, 1973.
- 93-99 Ellesmere west from Markham Road 1956, 1973.
- 95-96 Markham South from Ellesmere 1956, 1973.
- 97-98 Lawrence & Markham 1954, 1973.

653. Metropolitan Toronto Photo Maps. Toronto: Kenting Earth Sciences for the Central Mapping Agency, 1978.

168 sheets cover metro area.

654. Metropolitan Toronto Photo Maps. Toronto: Northway Survey Corporation Limited for the Central Mapping Agency, 1977.

Complete coverage of Scarborough. Access is through index.

O.T.M.C.L.

655. Scarborough Aerial Photographs. Scale indeterminable. - n.p.: Northway Survey Corporation, 1954.

This company has hundreds of photographs of Scarborough. Negatives are available.

"A source of systematic pictures of Scarborough before it was urbanized", says Dave Hawkins of the borough's Resource Centre.

O.T.B.S.

656. Vass, Benjamin. Toronto: A Photo Study of Urban Development. Toronto: McGraw-Hill Ryerson, 1971.

A resource book for urban environmental studies that shows the development of Toronto.

Main feature of the book is the pairing of aerial photographs taken about fifteen years apart, from the early 1950's to 1970. Photographs that show the development of Scarborough include (residential areas); pp. 32, 33, 34, 35 (shopping plazas); pp. 42, 43, 46, 47, and (urban problems) 66, 67, 70, 71, 74, and 75.

Economic

657. Cable Television Systems Licensed by the C.R.T.C. in the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto and Environs. Unionville: Cartographic Services Ltd. for Keeble Cable Television Ltd., 1972. - 1 map: col.; 52 x 86 cm.

15 cable companies noted. At least 4 companies served or were available for use by the residents of Scarborough.

O.T.A.R.

658. Cable Television System Licensed by the C.R.T.C. in the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto and Environs. Unionville: Cartographic Services Ltd. for Keeble Cable Television Ltd., 1972. - 1 map: col.; 21-3/4" x 35-1/2".

15 cable companies noted. At least 4 cable companies served or were available for use by Scarborough residents.

O.T.M.C.L.

659. Churchill, E.B. Map of Census Tracts in Metropolitan Toronto Illustrating Disposition of Average Wage and Salary Income Per Family. Toronto: Toronto Real Estate Board, 1964. - 1 map: col.; 23 x 32 cm.

Salaries range from \$6,000 and under to \$10,000 and over. Major roads shown.

O.T.A.R.

660. Churchill, E.B. Map of Census Tracts in Metropolitan Toronto Illustrating median value of owner-occupied dwellings. Toronto: Toronto Real Estate Board, 1964. - 1 map: col; 23 x 32 cm.

Home values range from \$14,000 and under to \$35,000 and over. Major roads marked.

661. Insurance Plan of the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Underwriter's Survey Bureau Limited, n.d.

Detailed description of buildings and construction materials. Key to plan signs.

Toronto - Vol. II, Dec. 1959 - Township of Scarborough: Village of Agincourt,

Victoria Park to McCowan Road, Finch to Eglinton.

Vol. XXI, Feb. 1969 - McCowan Road to Pickering Township, Sheppard Avenue to Lake Ontario.

Vol. IX, Jan, 1956 - Woodbine to McCowan Road, Eglinton to Lake Ontario - sheets:

- 1. 900 947-3
- 2. 948 1-978
- 3. 980 999-4

Education

662. Detailed Map of Scarborough Township showing School Sections. Toronto: n.p., 1910. - 1 map.

School Sections. Advertising and a directory.

O.T.A.R.

663. Metropolitan Toronto School System. Toronto: Rolph-McNally, 1981. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

General, streets, boundaries, churches, libraries, etc. Also schools (types) marked.

O.T.M.C.L.

664. School sections of the Township of Scarborough. Toronto: n.p., 1910 - 1 map.

School sections of the Township of Scarborough, Toronto, 1910. 1 sheet. Black and white.

O.T.M.C.L.

665. Toronto Real Estate Board. Metropolitan Toronto School System. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone, 1964. - 1 map: col.; 60 x 95 cm.

Types of schools and location. On cover: Realtor Map of Metropolitan Toronto.

Landowners

666. Gilbert, F.A. Ownership Map, Township of Scarborough. Toronto: Frank Barber and Associates, 1932. - 1 map: 38" x 34".

Landowners' names, concession and lot numbers, sewer, water, hydro and high school areas shown. Area communities (e.g. Agincourt, Bendale) are also labelled.

O.T.A.R.

667. Greater Toronto, including Weston and parts of York and Ontario. Toronto: The Ontario Directory and Map Co., 1913.

Names of landowners outside of Toronto. Small part of Scarborough with landowners' names shown.

O.T.M.C.L.

668. MacDonald, C.H. Map of the Present Metropolitan Area Showing Names of Landholders in the Suburban Areas. Toronto: n.p., 1910. - 1 map: 34" x 69-1/4".

School sections also shown.

O.T.A.R.

669. MacDonald, C.H. Maps of the Townships - York, Scarborough and Etobicoke. Toronto: The Ontario Directory and Map Co., n.d. - 1 map.

Landowners' names, acreage, lot and concession numbers, community names marked for Scarborough.

O.T.A.R.

670. Map of the Township of Scarborough in the County of York. Toronto: Ontario Directory and Map Co., n.d. - 2 maps: col.; 42" x 50-1/2".

Shows plan and lot numbers, landowners' names, acreage, post offices, etc.

671. Plan of Farming Lands for Sale: Three excellent Farms composed of the South half of five and the division lot no. 6, 3rd Con. of Scarborough, County of York, Wedsworth and Unwin. Toronto: Chewett and Co., Lithographers, 1869. - 1 map: 63 x 46 cm.

Land for sale was situated near Highland Creek. Brief "Promotional" description of the land. Woodland, meadow, rivers, pasture land and buildings marked.

O.T.A.R.

672. Wheelock, C.J. Detailed Map of Scarborough Township showing Names of Landholders. Toronto: n.p., 1850. - 1 map: 27" x 24".

O.T.A.R.

673. Wheelock, C.J. Map of the Township of Scarborough in the County of York and Province of Canada. Toronto: n.p., 1850. - 1 map: 39 x 32 cm.

Landowners' names and lot numbers are shown.

Population

674. Location of Recent Immigrants to Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: n.p., 1971-1976. - 1 map: 11" x 8'14".

2 maps on one sheet. Shows outline of Metropolitan Toronto. One dot represents 500 persons who resided outside the country 5 years previously.

O.T.M.C.L.

675. Toronto Metropolitan Area Showing Transit Services and Distribution of 1968 Population. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1968. 1 map: 22" x 38".

Transit services available. 1968 population. Each circle represents 100 persons living nearby. Chart with 1968 population figures for City of Toronto, Metropolitan Toronto and total. Major streets marked. Also 1938, 1964. Similar format. also 1955.

O.T.M.C.L.

676. Toronto Transportation Commission Traffic Study Department. White print of a part of Scarborough Township from Victoria Park to the Pickering town line along Kingston Road, showing distribution of population. Toronto: Toronto Transportation Commission, 1929. - 1 map: col., 11-1/4" x 61".

Major and residential streets. Estimate of area population. Local points of interest marked.

O.T.A.R.

677. The Guild Inn - Proposed Master Plan. Toronto: Metropolitan Parks Department, 1980. - 1 map: 11" x 17".

Plan for area. Numbers on map correspond to legend plan numbers for artistic and recreational facilities etc.

O.T.M.C.L.

678. Land Use Concept of Scarborough Bluffs Sector, Metropolitan Waterfront Plan. Toronto: Procter, Redfern, Blousfied and Becon Consulting Engineers and Town Planners, 1966. - 1 map.

Development plans for waterfront area. Uses of the land. Present facilities (schools parks.) Areas for improvement marked.

679. Metro Toronto Zoo Map. Toronto: Metro Zoo, 1975. - 1 map: col.; 18-1/2" x 23-1/8".

Shows route to the zoo and location of each pavilion. List of exhibits. "Floor plan" of each pavilion with exhibits marked on.

O.T.M.C.L.

680. Scarborough Land Use. Toronto: Procter, Redfern, Blousfield and Bacon Consulting Engineers and Town Planners, 1966. - 1 map.

Land use concept. Scarborough Bluffs (east and west half) Property acquisition - east half Scarborough Bluffs. Park plan Scarborough waterfront.

Religion

681. Map of the Diocese of Toronto showing the missions and parishes outside the City of Toronto. Toronto: E.H. Harcourt Co. Ltd., 1911. - 1 map: col.; 12-3/4" x 16-1/2".

Missions and parishes in Ontario counties. Scarborough missions and mission stations - St. Margaret's Church, Wexford (St. Jude's) and Christ Church, Scarborough Junction.

Street Index

682. Correct Map of the City of Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Ltd., 1923. - 1 map: 41-1/4" x 55".

Street index. Small inset of Scarborough. Advertisements.

O.T.A.R.

683. Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Graphic Publishers Ltd., 1952. - 1 map: 100 x 141 cm.

Street index. Index to places of interest. Chart of route and mileages from Toronto to outlying areas. Community names for Scarborough. Interesting to see development contrast in the borough. Inset of Port Credit area.

O.T.A.R.

684. Map of Toronto and Suburbs. Toronto: Croydon Publishing Co., n.d. - 1 map: 28" x 33-1/2".

Toronto and suburbs (Leaside, Forest Hill, etc.). Parts of Etobicoke, East York, North York. Small inset of Scarborough from Victoria Park to Birchmount Road. On cover - Croydon Tourist Map and Street Guide of Toronto Ontario.

O.T.M.C.L.

685. Metropolitan Map of City of Toronto and Suburbs. Toronto: C. Tarling and co., 1940. - 1 map: col.; 98 x 135 cm.

Street index for Toronto. Separate index for Toronto environs and suburbs. Scarborough shown from Victoria Park to Birchmount. Streets and community names marked. Insets include Scarboro Junction, Metropolitan Toronto.

O.T.A.R.

686. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Perly's Variprint Limited, 1975. - 1 map: col.; 90 x 181 cm.

Wall size map. Street index, points of interest. Pickering, Mississauga also shown.

687 Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Perly's Variprint Limited, 1979. - 1 map: col.; 107 x 181 cm.

Wall size map. Points of interest and street index. Pickering and Mississauga also shown.

O.T.A.R.

688. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd. 1955. - 1 map: col.; 23-1/2" x 39".

Street index. Index to points of interest (historic sites, churches, clubs, etc.) Inset of south-east Scarborough.

O.T.M.C.L.

689. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd., 1972. - 1 map: col.; 23" x 38".

Inset of downtown. Street index. Toronto vicinity map (1" to 2.6 mi).

O.T.M.C.L.

690. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd. For British American Gas Co Ltd., 1961. - 1 map: col.; 59 x 96 cm.

Street and points of interest index. Inset of township of Scarborough (19 x 22 cm). On reverse insets of Ottawa, Hamilton with Street index.

O.T.A.R.

691. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Ltd. For Shell Oil Co. Ltd., 1962. - 1 map: col.; 44 x 59 cm.

Street index. District map of Toronto and vicinity on reverse.

O.T.A.R.

692. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph-McNally Limited, 1970. - 1 map.

Includes points of interest index.

693. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph-McNally Limited, 1977. - 1 map: col.

Street index. Reverse - The Golden Horseshoe. General.

O.T.M.C.L.

694. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph-McNally Limited, 1981. - 1 map: col.; 60 x 95 cm.

Street and points of interest index. Inset of downtown Toronto. On reverse, insets of Scarborough and the Golden Horseshoe, including regional municipalities and Metropolitan eastern region.

O.T.A.R.

695. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Tough Publicity and Publishing Co., 1954. - 1 map: 23" x 39".

Street index. Points of interest index. Inset of southeast Scarborough (17.5 x 17 cm.)

O.T.M.C.L.

696. Metropolitan Toronto Street Map. Brampton: Mapart, 1981. - 1 map: col.; 24-1/2" x 38".

Street index. Insets of downtown Toronto and Scarborough. On reverse, Central Ontario holiday map.

O.T.A.R.

697. Might's Clearview Correct City Directory. Map of Greater Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1945. - 1 map: 40-1/4" x 52-1/2".

Street index. Small inset of Scarborough Township. Has street names. Communities of Scarboro Junction and Birchcliff marked.

Might's Clearview Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories 698. Limited for the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, n.d. - 1 map: col.; 27" x 45".

Street index of all boroughs. Inset of Scarborough township. Office and public buildings in Toronto listed with addresses. Red squares indicate branch locations of the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce. Street index. Special Visitor's guide.

O.T.M.C.L.

Might's Clearview Map of Metropolitan Toronto. - Toronto: Might's Directories 699. Limited for the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 1961. - 1 map: col.; 27" x 45".

Street Index. All boroughs shown. Inset of Scarborough township. Office and public buildings in Toronto listed with addresses. Red squares indicate branch locations of the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce. Street index. Special visitor's guide.

O.T.M.C.L.

Might's Clearview Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories 700. Limited for the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 1969. - 1 map: col.; 27" x 45".

Street index. All boroughs shown. Inset of Scarborough township. Office and public buildings in Toronto listed with addresses. Special visitor's guide. Red squares indicate branch locations of the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce.

O.T.M.C.L.

Might's 1969 Pocket Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories 701. Ltd., 1969.

Street index.

O.T.M.C.L.

Street Map of Toronto. Toronto: The H.M. Gousha Co., 1956. - 1 map: col.; 34" 702. x 18".

Map and street index of Toronto and vicinity. Inset of Etobicoke. On reverse: Inset of Scarborough township. On cover: Shell Street Guide and Map of Toronto and vicinity. O.T.M.C.L.

703. Street Map of Toronto. Toronto: The H.M. Gousha Company for Shell Oil Ltd., 1969. - 1 map: col.; 23" x 36".

Street index. Points of interest. Pictures of points of interest (e.g. Exhibition, City Hall). Insets - southeast portion of Scarborough, Toronto and vicinity.

O.T.M.C.L.

704. Street Map of Toronto. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1948. - 1 map: col.; 18-1/2" x 32".

Street index for Toronto and suburbs. On reverse: transit routes; city and suburban services. Inset of Central Toronto. On cover: Toronto Visitor's Guide.

O.T.M.C.L.

705. Toronto Might's Directories. Toronto: n.p., 1927-1928. - 1 map.

Small area of Scarborough (Victoria Park to Kennedy Road) with street names.

Surveys

706. Galbraith, J. Survey of the Township of Scarborough. n.p.: n.p., 1825.

O.T.U.

707. Jones, Augustus. Plan of Edinburg Township. n.p.: n.p., 1793.

O.T.B.S.

708. Passmore, F.F. Passmore Survey. n.p.: n.p., 1864.

O.T.B.S.

Tourism

709. Map of the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Convention & Tourist Bureau of Metropolitan Toronto, 1970. - 1 map: col.; 43 x 70 cm.

Tourist map - points of interest, list of accommodations, entertainment, and recreational facilities, etc. Travel tips on reverse. Inset of Central Metro area on reverse. On cover: Metropolitan Toronto Official Guide.

O.T.A.R.

710. Map of the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Metropolitan Convention and Visitor's Association, 1970. - 1 map: col.; 44 x 70 cm.

Tourist oriented - points of interest, list of accommodations, recreational, and entertainment facilities, etc.

O.T.A.R.

711. Metropolitan Toronto. Brampton: Mapart Ltd., 1978. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

General tourist map. Inset of downtown Toronto. On reverse: Central Ontario holiday map. Inset of Scarborough.

O.T.M.C.L.

712. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Creative Sales Corporation for Texaco, 1973. - 1 map: col.; 26-1/2 x 38".

General tourist map. Street index. Insets of downtown Toronto, Ontario Place, Scarborough, Toronto, and vicinity (on reverse). Also on reverse: Hamilton.

O.T.M.C.L.

713. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: The H.M. Gousha Company for British American Gas, 1965. - 1 map: col.

Points of interest index.

714. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited for Esso, 1958. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Tourist map, points of interest index. Inset of Township of Scarborough. On reverse: street index, Ottawa, Hamilton.

O.T.M.C.L.

715. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited for Esso, 1959. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Points of interest index. Inset of Township of Scarborough. On reverse: street index, Ottawa, Hamilton.

O.T.M.C.L.

716. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited for Esso, 1960. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Points of interest index. Inset of Township of Scarborough. On reverse: street index, Ottawa, Hamilton.

O.T.M.C.L.

717. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited for Esso, 1961. - 1 map: col.: 24" x 38".

Points of interest index. Inset of Township of Scarborough. On reverse: street index. Ottawa, Hamilton.

T.M.C.L.

718. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited for Esso, 1961. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38".

Points of interest index. Inset of Township of Scarborough. On reverse: street index, Ottawa, Hamilton.

719. Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Rolph Clark Stone Limited, 1973. - 1 map: col.; 24" x 38"/

General tourist map. Inset of downtown Toronto, Toronto vicinity map, and Visitors' street index.

O.T.M.C.L.

720. Metropolitan Toronto and Central Ontario Holiday Map. Brampton: Mapart 1972. - 1 map: col.; 24-1/2" x 38".

General tourist map. Shows highways, schools, parks, shopping centres, liquor stores, etc. Street index. Inset of Scarborough. On reverse - Central Ontario Holiday map.

O.T.M.C.L.

721. Might's new "Metro Square" map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1961. - 1 map: col.; 21-1/2" x 28".

Special guide for visitors. Points of interest in Metro with map locations indicated. Street index. Office and public buildings in Toronto listed with addresses.

O.T.M.C.L.

722. Might's new "Metro Square" map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1965. 1 map: col.; 22-1/2" x 28".

Special guide for visitors. Points of interest in Metro with map locations indicated. Street index. Office and public buildings in Toronto with addresses listed.

O.T.M.C.L.

723. Might's new "Metro Square" map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1969. - 1 map: col.; 22-1/2" x 28".

Special guide for visitors included. Points of interest in Metro with map locations indicated. Street index. Office and public buildings in Toronto listed with addresses.

O.T.M.C.L.

724. Scarborough Map and Information Guide. Brampton: Mapart, 1982. - 1 map: col.; 21" x 27-1/4".

Colourful pictures. Information about points of interest. Scarborough map. Two smaller maps. T.T.C. system, Metropolitan Toronto.

O.T.S.P.

725. Supertest Street Map of Toronto. Toronto: H.M. Gousha Company, 1961. - 1 map: col.; 18" x 38".

General tourist map. Inset of Central Toronto. Street and places of interest index. On reverse: inset of Scarborough.

Transportation

726. Algate's Automobile Motorist and Pedestrian Map of Toronto. Toronto: The Map Specialty Company, 1911. - 1 map: col.; 28 x 49 cm.

Toronto environs and Scarborough, York and Etobicoke townships shown. Railways and stations, electric railways, roads, post offices, schools, churches, concessions. Charts of distances from Toronto to outlying areas.

O.T.A.R.

727. Canadian National Railways - Toronto Area. Toronto: CN, Manager of Industrial Development Great Lakes Region, 1961. - 1 map: 20-1/2" x 42".

Major streets marked. Rail lines in counties of Halton, Peel, Ontario, York shown. Also railways under construction; projected highways; township and municipal limits; railway interchange points, C.N.R. area limits shown.

O.T.M.C.L.

728. Cyclist's Road map for the County of York, including portions of Ontario, Peel, and Simcoe Counties. Toronto: J.G. Foster and Co., 1896. - 1 map: col.; 19" x 23".

On reverse: Run between Toronto and Montreal.

O.T.M.C.L.

729. Gould, K.G. County of York. Toronto: Department of Highways Ontario, 1950. - 1 map: col.; 53" x 41-1/2".

All townships, City of Toronto. More detail than 1938 edition. King's highways, metropolitan roads, county roads, lot and concession numbers, and community names in Scarborough labelled.

O.T.M.C.L.

730. Map of the City of Toronto. Toronto: Ontario Motor League, 1925. - 1 map: col.

Scarborough shown from Victoria Park to Kennedy. Extracts from traffic regulations. List of O.M.L. services.

731. Maps of Metropolitan Toronto and Surrounding Environs. Toronto: Might's Directories Limited, 1967. - 1 map.

Includes Clarkson, Streetsville, Cooksville. Street index on reverse.

O.T.M.C.L.

732. Metro Toronto Rush Hour and Alternate Routes. Toronto: Royal Bank, (1972) -1 map: col.; 18" x 16".

Concentrates on downtown Toronto. On reverse smaller map of Metro showing part of Scarborough. Small insets of Hamilton, Gravenhurst, Oshawa. Blue represents main arteries, red secondary arteries.

O.T.M.C.L.

733. Plan of a Road from York Town, York Township through Scarborough Township. Upper Canada: Office of the Surveyor General, 1798. - 1 map: col.; 51 x 210 cm.

Lot and concession numbers shown. Road's course shown in yellow. One lot was marked for the use of Governor John Graves Simcoe.

O.T.A.R.

734. Plan showing deviation from government road allowances between lots 1 and concession 3, Township of Scarborough, Ontario. Toronto: Robert Dixon, 1873. - 1 map: col.; 23.5 x 36 cm.

Roads and their deviation from official road plans.

O.T.A.R.

735. Ride Guide. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1974. - 1 map: col.; 17-3/4" x 24".

T.T.C. services - subway and surface routes. Go-Transit, airport express bus. Subway station index. Index to bus routes where pocket timetables are available. Advertisements. On reverse: Metro area fares, advertisements, inset of downtown Toronto, places of interest index. Interesting "fast fact" chart - e.g. number of routes, vehicles owned, daily passenger statistics, miles operated. Also 1974 (Oct.), 1976, 1977 (May), 1977 (Oct.), 1978 (Jan.), 1978 (May), 1978 (Aug.), 1979 (March), 1980 (July), 1980 (Nov.), 1981 (May), 1981 (Aug.), 1982.

736. Road Map of the County of York. Toronto: Department of Highways, 1938. - 1 map: col.; 9-3/4" x 17".

King's highways, county roads shown. All townships shown. Lot and concession numbers. Community names in Scarborough marked.

O.T.M.C.L.

737. Road Map of the County of York. Toronto: Department of Public Highways, 1918. 1 map: 9" x 16-3/8".

King's highways, county roads. Lot and concession numbers.

O.T.M.C.L.

738. Route Map - Metro Transit System. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1962. - 1 map: 12" x 17".

On cover: Route map - Metropolitan Toronto Public Transportation Services. Shaded zone areas. Major streets. On reverse: hours of service, fares for Metro area. Beyond Metro - multi-zone fares. Also 1966, 1972, 1973, and 1975.

O.T.M.C.L.

739. Route Map Toronto. Toronto: Toronto Transportation Commission, 1946. - 1 map: 12-1/2" x 17".

Street car and bus services in Toronto and adjoining municipalities. Bus routes for Scarborough noted on map, although borough itself not shown. Fare-rates. Section called "Here and There in Toronto - Where to Go and How to Get there by Streetcar." Information on Toronto historic sites. On reverse: Inset of downtown Toronto. Also 1948 (Dec.), 1954 (July), 1955, 1956, 1957, 1959, 1961 (Oct.), 1966 (June), 1968 (Dec. 8), 1971, 1972, 1973 (Feb.), 1973 (March).

Title and contents vary but basic information and format remain the same.

740. Scarborough Town Centre - Light Rail Transit. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission Engineering Department, 1980. - 6 maps: col.

6 sheets - (1) Highland Creek to Brimley. Location plan and vertical alignment. (2) Town Centre Station - Location plan and vertical alignment. (3) McCowan Station - Location and vertical alignment. (4) Perspective - Typical elevated structure. (5) Town Centre Station - LRT, pedestrian walkway and bus platform plan. (6) McCowan Station - plan and section.

O.T.M.C.L.

741. Stegmann, John. Plan of the New Road (Dundas Street) through the township of Scarborough corrected agreeable to a second survey August 2nd 1800. Upper Canada: Office of the Surveyor General, 1800. 1 map: col.: 47 x 135 cm.

Revised plan. Lot and concession numbers shown.

O.T.A.R.

742. Street Map of Metropolitan Toronto. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1918.
- 1 map: col.; 44 x 58 cm.

On cover: Toronto Visitors' Guide. Tourist places and transportation services are highlighted. Insets of Scarborough, Etobicoke, and North York. Reverse side shows four plans of transportation services.

O.T.A.R.

Subway Route Map. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1978. - 1 map: col.; 6" x 8-3/4".

Bloor - Danforth line; Yonge - University - Spadina line; subway transfer stations. On reverse: hours of service for subway system.

O.T.M.C.L.

744. Toronto Metropolitan Area Showing Transit Services and Distribution of 1968 Population. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission Planning Department, n.d. - 1 map: col.; 21-1/4" x 38".

Major streets marked Transit services. 1968 population shown in chart form and on map - one circle represents 100 persons living nearby.

745. Toronto Metropolitan Area Showing Transit Services and Distribution of 1964 Population. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1961. - 1 map: col.; 51 x 94 cm.

Railways (C.N.R. and C.P.R.), wards and municipal boundaries shown. Each circle represents 100 persons living nearby.

O.T.A.R.

746. Toronto Metropolitan Area showing transportation Services and Distribution of 1938 population. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission, 1939. - 1 map: col.; 54 x 84 cm.

O.T.A.R.

747. Toronto Transit Commission Research Department. Toronto Metropolitan Area showing transportation Services and Distribution of 1950 Population. Toronto: Toronto Transit Commission. - 1 map: col.; 51 x 92 cm.

Transit services for area, including townships. Scarborough community names marked. Major streets shown. Each circle represents 100 persons living nearby.

O.T.A.R.

748. White Print of a portion of Scarborough Township along Kingston Road from Victoria Park to West Hill Drive. Toronto: Toronto Transportation Commission, 1929. - 1 map: col.; 11-1/4" x 45".

A shaded ribbon diagram of passenger traffic along Kingston Road from Victoria Park to West Hill Drive on a normal day 6:30 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. Major residential streets and traffic flow shown.

Indexes and Bibliographies

749. Aitken, Barbara B. Local Histories of Ontario Municipalities 1951-1977: A Bibliography. Toronto, Ontario: Ontario Library Association, 1978.

This bibliography contains only five books on the history of Scarborough. It would be useful when concentrating on the history of more than one township.

O.T.S.P.

750. Bartolotta, Kay and O'Reilly, M. Historic Metropolitan Toronto. (Scarborough, Ontario) Scarborough Public Library, 1977.

A short list of books on the history of Metropolitan Toronto. Emphasis is on the City of Toronto.

O.T.S.P.

751. Bishop, Olga Bernice. Bibliography of Ontario History, 1867-1967: Cultural, Economic, Political, Social. 2 vol. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1980.

This is an enlarged and updated edition of the author's earlier bibliography Ontario since 1867. This bibliography covers "all aspects of the history" of Ontario. There are many references to Scarborough materials. Access is through the index.

O.T.S.P.

752. Bonis R.R. "Bibliography". A History of Scarborough Enlarged edition, 1968. Scarborough Public Library, 1965.

This list is found in the back of Bonis' A History of Scarborough. It includes manuscripts, published documents and collections, travel narratives and early works, secondary works, maps and additional works.

O.T.S.P.

753. McFall, Jean. "Pioneers of the Fourth Estate; a survey of the weekly newspapers of York County in the 19th century." York Pioneer (1956): 19-24.

This article discusses the history of newspapers in Aurora, Markham, Newmarket, Richmond Hill, Schomberg, Stouffville, Sutton, Unionville, Weston and Woodbridge.